REGULATION IN FORCE FROM FEBRUARY 11, 2013 TO MAY 13, 2013

Last amendment in force on February 11, 2013
This document has official status

chapter V-1.1,r. 24

REGULATION 51-102 RESPECTING CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS

N

Securities Act Q
(chapter V-1.1, s. 331.1) (1,

N
PART 1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION ~\

1.1. Definitions and Interpretation @v
(1) In this Regulation: &O
"acquisition date" has the same meaning as in %&ssuer's GAAP;
"AlIF" means a completed Form 51-102E2 Q{nual Information Form or, in the

case of an SEC issuer, a completed Form 5 t2 or an annual report or transition
report under the 1934 Act on Form 10-K or&rm 20-F;

"approved rating organization” s each of DBRS Limited, Fitch Ratings Ltd.,
Moody's Investors Service, Standardh\&)Poor's and any of their successors;

"asset-backed security, @ns a security that is primarily serviced by the cash
flows of a discrete pool ofg%\'gages, receivables or other financial assets, fixed or
revolving, that by their t convert into cash within a finite period and any rights or
other assets designe@gsure the servicing or the timely distribution of proceeds to
securityholders;

board ?ectors means, for a person that does not have a board of directors,
an indmdua@%foup that acts in a capacity similar to a board of directors;

'&ess acquisition report” means a completed Form 51-102F4 Business
Acqu@ N Report;

\ "class" includes a series of a class;

"common share" means an equity security to which are attached voting rights
exercisable in all circumstances, irrespective of the number or percentage of securities
owned, that are not less, per security, than the voting rights attached to any other
outstanding securities of the reporting issuer;
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"corporate law" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 54-101
respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer
(chapter V-1.1, r. 29);

"date of transition to IFRS" means the date of transition to IFRSs as that term is
defined in Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises;

"electronic format" has the same meaning as in Regulation 13-101 respfgﬂbg
System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (SEDAR) (chapter V-1 1Q

"equity investee” means a business that the issuer has mvaaj'd in and
accounted for using the equity method;

"exchange-traded security” means a security that is lis n a recognized
exchange or is quoted on a recognized quotation and trade repofRQd system or is listed
on an exchange or quoted on a quotation and trade reportin tem that is recognized
for the purposes of Regulation 21-101 respectin& arketplace Operation
(chapter V-1.1,r.5) and Regulation  23-101 |©50ecting Trading Rules
(chapter V-1.1, r. 6); Q

"executive officer" means, for a reporting l'%ufep an individual who is

(@ achair, vice-chair or preS|de

(b)  a vice-president in cha’$§~ principal business unit, division or function

including sales, finance or producti
(© performing a po@aklng function in respect of the issuer;

gns forward-looking information about prospective financial
tion or cash flows that is based on assumptions about future
courses of action and that is not presented in the format of a
of financial position, statement of comprehensive income or

historical statemq
statement of c@ ows;

"financial outlook™
performance, financia
economic condition

ngal statements"” includes interim financial reports;

Qb St IFRS financial statements" has the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP
le to publicly accountable enterprises;

"FOFI", or "future-oriented financial information”, means forward-looking
information about prospective financial performance, financial position or cash flows,
based on assumptions about future economic conditions and courses of action, and
presented in the format of a historical statement of financial position, statement of
comprehensive income or statement of cash flows;
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"form of proxy" means a document containing the information required under
section 9.4 that, on completion and execution by or on behalf of a securityholder,
becomes a proxy;

"forward-looking information" means disclosure regarding possible events,
conditions or financial performance that is based on assumptions about future economic
conditions and courses of action and includes future-oriented financial information Wlth
respect to prospective financial performance, financial position or cash flows tK S
presented either as a forecast or a projection;

"information circular" means a completed Form 51-102F5 Informatior%:ircular;
"informed person" means A
(@) adirector or executive officer of a reporting issuer; @

(b)  a director or executive officer of a person tha&qgelf an informed person
or subsidiary of a reporting issuer;

(© any person who beneficially owns, (tk ontrols or directs, directly or
indirectly, voting securities of a reporting |ssuer&j ombination of both carrying more
than 10% of the voting rights attached to K|l dutstanding voting securities of the
reporting issuer other than voting securitiahed by the person as underwriter in the
course of a distribution; and Q.

(d) a reporting issuer th @1 purchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired
any of its securities, for so long %ﬁolds any of its securities;

"inter-dealer bond béﬂ means a person that is approved by the Investment
Industry Regulatory Orgquiation of Canada under its Rule 36 Inter-Dealer Bond

Brokerage Systems, ended, and is subject to its Rule 36 and its Rule 2100 Inter-
Dealer Bond Brokey, ystems, as amended,

"interim %d means,

Q the case of a year other than a non-standard year or a transition year, a
period ﬁ:encmg on the first day of the financial year and ending 9, 6 or 3 months
befoth end of the financial year;

\% (a.1) in the case of a non-standard year, a period commencing on the first day
of the financial year and ending within 22 days of the date that is 9, 6 or 3 months
before the end of the financial year; or

(b) in the case of a transition year, a period commencing on the first day of
the transition year and ending
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0] 3, 6, 9 or 12 months, if applicable, after the end of the old financial
year; or

(i) 12, 9, 6 or 3 months, if applicable, before the end of the transition
year;

"issuer's GAAP" has the same meaning as in Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, r. 25); N

"MD&A" means a completed Form 51-102F1 Management's Discﬁ&on &
Analysis or, in the case of an SEC issuer, a completed Form <102F1 or
management's discussion and analysis prepared in accordance wjtdN®m 303 of
Regulation S-K under the 1934 Act;

"marketplace" means &
(@ anexchange; &O

(b)  aquotation and trade reporting system; Q\

(c) any other person that N fl/

0] constitutes, maintains{ provides a market or facility for bringing
together buyers and sellers of securities;Q.

(i) brings togethe\{") orders for securities of multiple buyers and
sellers; and

(i)  uses ﬁ%ﬂshed, non-discretionary methods under which the
orders interact with each §th¥®r, and the buyers and sellers entering the orders agree to
the terms of a trade; OO

d a d%‘(hat executes a trade of an exchange-traded security outside of a
marketplace, % es not include an inter-dealer bond broker;

mq?gé change" means

<§ a change in the business, operations or capital of the reporting issuer that
v@ easonably be expected to have a significant effect on the market price or value
oNMy of the securities of the reporting issuer; or

(b)  adecision to implement a change referred to in paragraph (a) made by the
board of directors or other persons acting in a similar capacity or by senior management
of the reporting issuer who believe that confirmation of the decision by the board of
directors or any other persons acting in a similar capacity is probable;
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"material contract” means any contract that an issuer or any of its subsidiaries is
a party to, that is material to the issuer;

"mineral project" has the same meaning as in Regulation 43-101 respecting
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (chapter V-1.1, r. 15);

"new financial year" means the financial year of a reporting issuer that immediately
follows a transition year; ,\

"non-standard year" means a financial year, other than a transition ﬁ,ﬁl that
does not have 365 days, or 366 days if it includes February 29; '\(b.,

"non-voting security” means a restricted security that does nod;arry the right to
vote generally, except for a right to vote that is mandated, in spec@trcumstances, by
law;

"notice-and-access” has the same meaning &Q in section 1.1 of
Regulation 54-101 respecting Communication with Beneﬁgal Owners of Securities of a
Reporting Issuer; Q

"old financial year" means the finan 'alflfear of a reporting issuer that
immediately precedes a transition year; N

"operating income" means gross rQﬁn\Je minus royalty expenses and production

costs; ov

"preference share"™ mean Qsecurity to which is attached a preference or right
over the securities of any cla quity securities of the reporting issuer, but does not
include an equity security; Q

ans, for an asset-backed security, a person that is obligated
uaranteed payments, or has provided alternative credit support
ncial assets that represent one-third or more of the aggregate
| of the financial assets servicing the asset-backed security;

"principal oblig
to make payments,
for payments, o
amount owing

"pr'@&’enterprise" has the same meaning as in Part 3 of Regulation 52-107
respect@ cceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards;

profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent” has the same meaning as in
adian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises;

"profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to owners of the parent” has
the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises;
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"proxy" means a completed and executed form of proxy by which a
securityholder has appointed a person as the securityholder's nominee to attend and act
for the securityholder and on the securityholder's behalf at a meeting of securityholders;

"proxy-related materials” means securityholder material relating to a meeting of
securityholders that a person that solicits proxies is required under corporate law or
securities legislation to send to the registered holders or beneficial owners of the
securities; N

"publicly accountable enterprise” has the same meaning as in 3 of
Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles anS.,Auditing
Standards; \\

"recognized exchange" means ?~

(@) in Ontario, an exchange recognized by the sec@es regulatory authority
to carry on business as a stock exchange;

(a.1) in Québec, a person authorized by thﬁé‘c?rities regulatory authority to
carry on business as an exchange; and (1/

(b) in every other jurisdiction, an 'Ehé‘mge recognized by the securities
regulatory authority as an exchange, sei%egulatory organization or self-regulatory
body, or a legal person, a partnership other entity authorized by the securities
regulatory authority to carry on s @iieps trading in accordance with securities
legislation; 6

"recognized quotation @ade reporting system" means

(a) in every jurigdidtion other than British Columbia, a quotation and trade
reporting system rec@d by the securities regulatory authority under securities
legislation to carry Q’ iness as a quotation and trade reporting system; and

(b) %ish Columbia, a quotation and trade reporting system recognized by
the securiti ulatory authority under securities legislation as a quotation and trade
reporting m or as an exchange;

Stricted security” means an equity security of a reporting issuer, if any of the

f{@%g apply:

(@) there is another class of securities of the reporting issuer that, to a
reasonable person, appears to carry a greater number of votes per security relative to
the equity security;

(b)  the conditions attached to the class of equity securities, the conditions
attached to another class of securities of the reporting issuer, or the reporting issuer’s
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constating documents have provisions that nullify or, to a reasonable person, appear to
significantly restrict the voting rights of the equity securities; or

(© the reporting issuer has issued another class of equity securities that, to a
reasonable person, appears to entitle the owners of securities of that other class to
participate in the earnings or assets of the reporting issuer to a greater extent, on a per
security basis, than the owners of the first class of equity securities; (b

"restricted security term" means each of the terms "non-voting s@ ty",
"subordinate voting security" and "restricted voting security";

M)
"restricted voting security" means a restricted security that carri s'{pght to vote
subject to a restriction on the number or percentage of securities th ay be voted by

one or more persons, unless the restriction is §?~

(@) permitted or prescribed by statute; and O

(b) is applicable only to persons that are not didgens or residents of Canada
or that are otherwise considered as a result of any la icable to the reporting issuer
to be non-Canadians; (1/

"restructuring transaction” means N °

(a) areverse takeover, Q.‘
(b) an amalgamation, me[se Earrangement or reorganization;

(c) a transaction %ﬁ ries of transactions involving a reporting issuer
acquiring assets and issuin rities that results in

0] n curityholders owning or controlling more than 50% of the
reporting issuer’s o ding voting securities; and

vendors of t

r Q a new person, a new combination of persons acting together, the
Sets, or new management

Qz (A) being able to materially affect the control of the reporting
issuer

\s (B) holding more than 20% of the outstanding voting securities
of the reporting issuer, unless there is evidence showing that the holding of those
securities does not materially affect the control of the reporting issuer; and

(d)  any other transaction similar to the transactions listed in paragraphs (a) to
(c), but does not include a subdivision, consolidation, or other transaction that does not
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alter a securityholder’s proportionate interest in the issuer and the issuer’s proportionate
interest in its assets;

"retrospective” has the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP applicable to
publicly accountable enterprises;

“retrospectively” has the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP applicable to
publicly accountable enterprises; N

"reverse takeover" means (19

M)
(@) a reverse acquisition, which has the same meaning as in C&q‘gian GAAP
applicable to publicly accountable enterprises; or

(b) a transaction where an issuer acquires a r@on by which the
securityholders of the acquired person, at the time of the trangaytion, obtain "control" of
the issuer, where, for purposes of this paragraph, control e same meaning as in
Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enter%es;

"reverse takeover acquiree" means the legal c@nt in a reverse takeover;
1] H " \\ . e .
reverse takeover acquirer" means the qua subsidiary in a reverse takeover;

Xy

(@) has a class of securit] gistered under section 12 of the 1934 Act or is
required to file reports under secj 5(d) of the 1934 Act; and

"SEC issuer" means an issuer th

(b) iS not register, required to be registered as an investment company
under the Investment C@n any Act of 1940 of the United States of America, as

amended;
O

"solicit", in&ction with a proxy, includes

@) q%ﬁesting a proxy whether or not the request is accompanied by or
included i rm of proxy;

requesting a securityholder to execute or not to execute a form of proxy or

to@g@ a proxy;
N\

(c) sending a form of proxy or other communication to a securityholder under
circumstances that to a reasonable person will likely result in the giving, withholding or
revocation of a proxy; or

(d)  sending a form of proxy to a securityholder by management of a reporting
issuer;
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but does not include

(e) sending a form of proxy to a securityholder in response to a unsolicited
request made by or on behalf of the securityholder;

() performing ministerial acts or professional services on behalf of a person
soliciting a proxy; ,\

(9) sending, by an intermediary as defined in Regulation 54-101 r@b%cting
Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Is'sjer, of the
documents referred to in that regulation; N

(h)  soliciting by a person in respect of securities of whi We person is the
beneficial owner; é

0] publicly announcing, by a securityholder, how&@ecurityholder intends to
vote and the reasons for that decision, if that public anno%ement is made by

0] a speech in a public forum; or (19

(i) a press release, an OpiNO a statement or an advertisement
provided through a broadcast medium_br by a telephonic, electronic or other
communication facility, or appearing in Qle spaper, a magazine or other publication
generally available to the public; v

() communicating for, @-purposes of obtaining the number of securities
required for a securityholder p, al under the laws under which the reporting issuer is
incorporated, organized OQ@rﬁnued or under the reporting issuer’s constating or
establishing documents&

(k) coan@ting, other than a solicitation by or on behalf of the
management of t@ porting issuer, to securityholders in the following circumstances:

by one or more securityholders concerning the business and affairs
g issuer, including its management or proposals contained in a
t information circular, and no form of proxy is sent to those securityholders

mana
by tr% curityholder or securityholders making the communication or by a person
a@g n their behalf, unless the communication is made by

(A)  a securityholder who is an officer or director of the reporting
issuer if the communication is financed directly or indirectly by the reporting issuer;

(B) a securityholder who is a nominee or who proposes a
nominee for election as a director, if the communication relates to the election of
directors;
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(C)  a securityholder whose communication is in opposition to an
amalgamation, arrangement, consolidation or other transaction recommended or
approved by the board of directors of the reporting issuer and who is proposing or
intends to propose an alternative transaction to which the securityholder or an affiliate or
associate of the securityholder is a party;

(D) a securityholder who, because of a material interest | (be
subject-matter to be voted on at a securityholder’s meeting, is likely to receive ng efit
from its approval or non-approval, which benefit would not be shared pro rﬁb y all
other holders of the same class of securities, unless the benefit arisaj.,from the
securityholder’'s employment with the reporting issuer; or N

(E) any person acting on behalf of a secur; der described in
any of clauses (A) to (D);

(i) by one or more securityholders and co&g%s the organization of a
dissident’s proxy solicitation, and no form of proxy is to those securityholders by
the securityholder or securityholders making the cor@cncation or by a person acting
on their behalf; (1/

(i)  as clients, by a person th'\gi?/es financial, corporate governance
or proxy voting advice in the ordinary cou&e of business and concerns proxy voting

advice if Q~

(A) the per @E;closes to the securityholder any significant
relationship with the reporting is nd any of its affiliates or with a securityholder who
has submitted a matter to the ting issuer that the securityholder intends to raise at
the meeting of securityhold d any material interests the person has in relation to a
matter on which advice @ n,

the person receives any special commission or remuneration
voting advice only from the securityholder or securityholders
; and

for giving the p
receiving the adgl

C) (C) the proxy voting advice is not given on behalf of any person
soliciti xies or on behalf of a nominee for election as a director; or

(iv) by a person who does not seek directly or indirectly the power to
anes a proxyholder for a securityholder;

"special meeting" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 54-101
respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer;

"special resolution” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 54-101
respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer;

10
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"stratification” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 54-101
respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer;

"subordinate voting security” means a restricted security that carries a right to
vote, if there are securities of another class outstanding that carry a greater right to vote
on a per security basis; (b

“transition year" means the financial year of a reporting issuer or bus'«@s in
which the issuer or business changes its financial year-end;

M)
"U.S. AICPA GAAS" has the same meaning as in Regulation 52-N(7")respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards;

"U.S. GAAP" has the same meaning as in Regulati 2;-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards; O

"U.S. laws" means the 1933 Act, the 1934 Act, all©5actments made under those
Acts and all SEC releases adopting the enactments, zﬁﬁmended;

"U.S. marketplace” means an exchang;'\\rle Istered as a "national securities

exchange" under section 6 of the 1934 Act, or ﬂ\e ?Jlsdaq Stock Market; and

Acceptable Accounting Principles and fting Standards;

"venture issuer' means a ting issuer that, as at the applicable time, did not
have any of its securities liste uoted on any of the Toronto Stock Exchange, a U.S.
marketplace, or a marketp utside of Canada and the United States of America
other than the Alternativ§l estment Market of the London Stock Exchange or the

"U.S. PCAOB GAAS" has the s@aning as in Regulation 52-107 respecting

PLUS markets opera y PLUS Markets Group plc where the "applicable time" in

respect of Q’

(@) Pejtsv4 and 5 of this Regulation and Form 51-102F1, is the end of the
applicable fi@?(al period;

2 Parts 6 and 9 of this Regulation and Form 51-102F6, is the end of the
mostQ ntly completed financial year;

\% (© Part 8 of this Regulation and Form 51-102F4, is the acquisition date; and

(d) section 11.3 of this Regulation, is the date of the meeting of the
securityholders.

(2) In this Regulation, an issuer is an affiliate of another issuer if

11
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(@) one of them is the subsidiary of the other, or
(b)  each of them is controlled by the same person.

(3) For the purposes of subsection (2), a person (first person) is considered to
control another person (second person) if

(@) the first person beneficially owns, or controls or directs, direcg{b)r
indirectly, securities of the second person carrying votes which, if exercise uld
entitle the first person to elect a majority of the directors of the second perscﬂ,unless
that first person holds the voting securities only to secure an obligation, '\(b.,

(b)  the second person is a partnership, other than a Iimited.hartnership, and
the first person holds more than 50% of the interests of the partner I@ror

(c) the second person is a limited partnership and @ general partner of the
limited partnership is the first person.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 1.1; M.O. 2005-25, s. 1; M.O. 2 &‘C')?, s. 1, M.O. 2007-08, s. 1;
M.O. 2008-06, s. 1 and 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 1; M. 0-17, s. 1; M.O. 2013-01, s. 1.
“

PART 2 APPLICATION N

2.1. Application é
This Regulation does not apé@ an investment fund.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 2.1. Qﬁb

PART 3 LANGUAGER\OM DOCUMENTS

3.1. French or E@@‘r

(1) A pers st file a document required to be filed under this Regulation in
French or inG%Wsh.

(2) @ ite subsection (1), if a person files a document only in French or only in
Engli t delivers to securityholders a version of the document in the other language,
t@e son must file that other version not later than when it is first delivered to
s&Qurityholders.

3) In Québec, a reporting issuer must comply with linguistic obligations and rights
prescribed by Québec law.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 3.1; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11.

12
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3.2. Filings Translated into French or English

If a person files a document under this Regulation that is a translation of a
document prepared in a language other than French or English, the person must

(@) attach a certificate as to the accuracy of the translation to the filed
document; and

(b) make a copy of the document in the original language availat%'\) a
registered holder or beneficial owner of its securities, on request.

“
M.O. 2006-04, s. 2; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11. '\(b

4

PART 4 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS §?~
4.1. Comparative Annual Financial Statements and Audo
(1)  Areporting issuer must file annual financial state'\nﬁjts that include

(a) a statement of comprehensive income‘l/gstatement of changes in equity,
and a statement of cash flows for N

0] the most recently commﬁed financial year; and

(i) the financial y a§;mediately preceding the most recently
completed financial year, if any;

(b) a statement of &r&cial position as at the end of each of the periods
referred to in paragraph (a);

(c) in the follRMg circumstances, a statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the fj al year immediately preceding the most recently completed
financial year: Q

| the reporting issuer discloses in its annual financial statements an
unreserv ement of compliance with IFRS; and

QO

\s (A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its annual
financial statements;

(i) the reporting issuer

(B) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its annual
financial statements; or

(C) reclassifies items in its annual financial statements;

13
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(d) in the case of the reporting issuer's first IFRS financial statements, the
opening IFRS statement of financial position at the date of transition to IFRS; and

(e) notes to the annual financial statements;
(2)  Annual financial statements filed under subsection (1) must be audited. (b
3) If a reporting issuer presents the components of profit or loss in a@%ate

income statement, the separate income statement must be displayed im lately
before the statement of comprehensive income filed under subsection (1). (b.,

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 3; M.O. 2010-17, s. 2. A
4.2. Filing Deadline for Audited Annual Financial Statemen&

The audited annual financial statements required t&@filed under section 4.1

must be filed
N

(@) in the case of a reporting issuer othem& a venture issuer, on or before
the earlier of N

0] the 90" day after the g{d of its most recently completed financial

year; and Q.
(i) the date of gr&@?\ln a foreign jurisdiction, annual financial

statements for its most recently eted financial year; or
(b) in the case on%ﬂure issuer, on or before the earlier of

() the 1@()@ after the end of its most recently completed financial

year; and Q’

r the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, annual financial
statements most recently completed financial year.

M.O. 2@§-%3, s. 4.2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 4.

4\% nterim Financial Report

(1)  Subject to sections 4.7 and 4.10, a reporting issuer must file an interim financial
report for each interim period ended after it became a reporting issuer.

(2)  The interim financial report required to be filed under subsection (1) must include

14
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(@) a statement of financial position as at the end of the interim period and a
statement of financial position as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year,
if any;

(b)  a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity
and a statement of cash flows, all for the year-to-date interim period, and comparative
financial information for the corresponding interim period in the immediately preceding
financial year, if any; N

(c) for interim periods other than the first interim period in a reportinﬁlj%,uer's
financial year, a statement of comprehensive income for the 3 month periggl nding on
the last day of the interim period and comparative financial inforrtion for the
corresponding period in the immediately preceding financial year, if a

(d) in the following circumstances, a statement of fina position as at the
beginning of the immediately preceding financial year: O
(1) the reporting issuer discloses in 34interim financial report an
unreserved statement of compliance with Internation%'kccounting Standard 34 Interim
Financial Reporting; and (1/
(i) the reporting issuer N °

(A) applies an a@ﬂing policy retrospectively in its interim

0?‘

(B) make etrospective restatement of items in its interim

financial report;

financial report; or Q/
©) glassifies items in its interim financial report;

(e) in the of the reporting issuer's first interim financial report required to
be filed in the ye adopting IFRS, the opening IFRS statement of financial position at
the date of trapsjtion to IFRS; and

) ngtes to the interim financial report.

(2.1) Q reporting issuer presents the components of profit or loss in a separate

i € statement, the separate income statement must be displayed immediately
b&®dre the statement of comprehensive income filed under subsection (2).

(3)  An auditor review of an interim financial report must be disclosed as follows:

€) If an auditor has not performed a review of an interim financial report
required to be filed under subsection (1), the interim financial report must be

15
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accompanied by a notice indicating that the interim financial report has not been
reviewed by an auditor.

(b) If a reporting issuer engaged an auditor to perform a review of an interim
financial report required to be filed under subsection (1) and the auditor was unable to
complete the review, the interim financial report must be accompanied by a notice
indicating that the auditor was unable to complete a review of the interim financial report
and the reasons why the auditor was unable to complete the review. 83

N
(© If an auditor has performed a review of the interim financial repo %uired
to be filed under subsection (1) and the auditor has expressed a reservatigr Qf opinion
in the auditor's interim review report, the interim financial report must bé\a%companied
by a written review report from the auditor.

4) If an SEC issuer that is a reporting issuer &

@) has filed an interim financial report prepared i&@ordance with Canadian
GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises f ne or more interim periods
since its most recently completed financial year for annual financial statements
have been filed; and (1/

(b) prepares its annual financial sta fﬁeﬁts or an interim financial report for
the period immediately following the perim&referred to in paragraph (a) in accordance

with U.S. GAAP, Q.
the SEC issuer must ov
(c) restate the int financial report for the periods referred to in
paragraph (a) in accordanc U.S. GAAP; and
(d) filether d interim financial report referred to in paragraph (c) by the
filing deadline for th ncial statements referred to in paragraph (b).
Ve

M.O. 2005-O3<s</ »3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 3.
4.4, Fil@geadline for an Interim Financial Report
Q@nterim financial report must be filed

\s (@) in the case of a reporting issuer other than a venture issuer, on or before
the earlier of

0] the 45th day after the end of the interim period; and

(i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, an interim financial report
for a period ending on the last day of the interim period; or

16
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(b) in the case of a venture issuer, on or before the earlier of
(1) the 60th day after the end of the interim period; and

(i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, an interim financial report
for a period ending on the last day of the interim period.
N

P

4.5. Approval of Financial Statements N
N

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4.

(1) The annual financial statements a reporting issuer is re u-uskd to file under
section 4.1 must be approved by the board of directors before the&?&ments are filed.

(2)  The interim financial report a reporting issuer is requirqo ile under section 4.3
must be approved by the board of directors before the reporfNg Tlled.
3) In fulfilling the requirement in subsection (2), tIQ'b‘:'grd of directors may delegate
the approval of the interim financial report to thé‘l/ dit committee of the board of
directors.

N

)

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4. 4

4.6. Delivery of Financial Statem r?g

(1) A reporting issuer must nnually a request form to the registered holders
and beneficial owners of its s les, other than debt instruments, that the registered
holders and beneficial own% y use to request any of the following:

@ a paper@ of the reporting issuer’s annual financial statements and
MD&A for the annu ncial statements;

(b) %%g/ of the reporting issuer’s interim financial reports and MD&A for the
interim finanget ports.

(2) @ ite paragraph (1), the reporting issuer must, in accordance with the
proc s set out in Regulation 54-101 respecting Communication with Beneficial
(ﬁ@r of Securities of a Reporting Issuer (chapter V-1.1, r. 29) send the form referred
t paragraph (1) to the beneficial owners of its securities who are identified under that
Regulation as having chosen to receive all securityholder materials sent to beneficial
owners of securities.

3) If a registered holder or beneficial owner of securities, other than debt
instruments, of a reporting issuer requests the issuer's annual financial statements or

17
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interim financial reports, the reporting issuer must send a copy of the requested
financial statements to the person that made the request, without charge, by the later of,

(@) in the case of a reporting issuer other than a venture issuer, 10 calendar
days after the filing deadline in subparagraph 4.2(a)(i) or 4.4(a)(i), section 4.7, or
subsection 4.10(2), as applicable, for the financial statements requested;

(b) in the case of a venture issuer, 10 calendar days after the filing deadb@n
paragraph 4.2(b)(i) or 4.4(b)(i), section 4.7, or subsection 4.10(2), as applicable@ the
financial statements requested; and Vv

N

(4)  Areporting issuer is not required to send copies of annual fig ial statements or

(© 10 calendar days after the issuer receives the request.

interim financial reports under subsection (3) that were filed mo n one year before
the issuer receives the request. O

(5) Subsection (1) and the requirement to send ann@g financial statements under
subsection (3) do not apply to a reporting issue sends its annual financial
statements to its securityholders, other than hold f debt instruments, within 140
days of the issuer's financial year-end and iQ acfordance with Regulation 54-101
respecting Communication with Beneficial Owne\r of Securities of a Reporting Issuer.

(6) If a reporting issuer sends financ@tements under this section, the reporting
issuer must also send, at the same ti?ﬂ. the annual or interim MD&A relating to the
financial statements.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.6; M.O. 20@1, s. 6; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4; M.O.
2013-01, s. 2. Q

4.7. Filing of Finan@tatements After Becoming a Reporting Issuer

(1) Despite a ovisions of this Part other than subsections (2), (3) and (4) of this
section, the fir ual financial statements and interim financial reports that a reporting
issuer must f der sections 4.1 and 4.3 are the financial statements for the financial
INt€rim periods immediately following the periods for which financial
ere included in a document filed of the issuer

% a) thatresulted in the issuer becoming a reporting issuer; or

(b) in respect of a transaction that resulted in the issuer becoming a reporting
issuer.

(2) If a reporting issuer is required to file annual financial statements for a financial

year that ended before the issuer became a reporting issuer, those annual financial
statements must be filed on or before the later of

18
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(@) the 20th day after the issuer became a reporting issuer; and

(b) the filing deadline in section 4.2.
3) If a reporting issuer is required to file an interim financial report for an interim
period that ended before the issuer became a reporting issuer, that interim financial
report must be filed on or before the later of N

(@) the 10th day after the issuer became a reporting issuer; and (19

N

(4) A reporting issuer is not required to provide comparag’ interim financial

(b) the filing deadline in section 4.4.

information for periods that ended before the issuer became a re g issuer if

(@) to a reasonable person it is impracticabﬁ\Q) present prior-period
information on a basis consistent with subsection 4.3(2)"\03

(b) the prior-period information that is avaq}% is presented; and
(c) the notes to the interim financial\'r@pﬁort disclose the fact that the prior-

period information has not been prepared_4n a basis consistent with the most recent
interim financial information. Q.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.7; M.0. 2006-03!\9 ' M.O. 2010-17, s. 4.

4.8. Changein Year-End Qg)

(1) An SEC issuer satig{ie’s this section if

(@) it com@@mith the requirements of U.S. laws relating to a change of fiscal

year; and Q

(b) '%rés a copy of all materials required by U.S. laws relating to a change of
fiscal ye e same time as, or as soon as practicable after, they are filed with or
furnish the SEC and, in the case of financial statements, no later than the filing
deadfges prescribed under sections 4.2 and 4.4.

(25;s If a reporting issuer decides to change its financial year-end by more than
14 days, it must file a notice as soon as practicable, and, in any event, not later than the
earlier of

(@) the filing deadline, based on the reporting issuer's old financial year-end,

for the next financial statements required to be filed, either annual or interim, whichever
comes first; and
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(b)  the filing deadline, based on the reporting issuer's new financial year-end,
for the next financial statements required to be filed, either annual or interim, whichever
comes first.

(3)  The notice referred to in subsection (2) must state

(@) thatthe reporting issuer has decided to change its year-end; ,\(b

(b) the reason for the change,; (19

(bﬂ

(© the reporting issuer's old financial year-end; \\'\
(d)  the reporting issuer's new financial year-end; ?~
(e) the length and ending date of the periods, i@émg the comparative

cral

periods, of each interim financial report and the annual finé\ statements to be filed
for the reporting issuer's transition year and its new finan(@ year; and

) the filing deadlines, prescribed under ons 4.2 and 4.4, for the annual
financial statements and interim financial repo;% \f r the reporting issuer's transition
year. N

(4) For the purposes of this section, é
(@) a transition year must n@?x?:eed 15 months; and

(b) the first interim@:d after an old financial year must not exceed 4

months. Q

(5) Despite subsech .3(1)(b), a reporting issuer is not required to file an interim
financial report for riod in its transition year that ends not more than 1 month

(@) @ghe last day of its old financial year; or

(b clJefore the first day of its new financial year.
(6) ggspite subsection 4.1(1), if a transition year is less than 9 months in length, the
re,%ti g issuer must include as comparative financial information to its annual financial
s\Yements for its new financial year

(@) a statement of financial position, a statement of comprehensive income, a

statement of changes in equity, a statement of cash flows, and notes to the financial
statements for its transition year;
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(b)  a statement of financial position, a statement of comprehensive income, a
statement of changes in equity, a statement of cash flows and notes to the financial
statements for its old financial year;

(c) in the following circumstances, a statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the old financial year:

(1) the reporting issuer discloses in its annual financial statemel'}ébn
unreserved statement of compliance with IFRS; and (19

(i) the reporting issuer '\(b«

(A) applies an accounting policy retrospecti»db/ in its annual
financial statements;

(B) makes a retrospective restateme@oé items in its annual
financial statements; or

(C) reclassifies items in its anrg{%ancial statements; and

(d) in the case of the reporting issue('s ‘l:il/st IFRS financial statements, the
opening IFRS statement of financial position aw date of transition to IFRS.

(7 Despite subsection 4.3(2), if integperiods for the reporting issuer's transition
year end 3, 6, 9 or 12 months after t of its old financial year, the reporting issuer
must include

(@) as comparative j @:lal information in each interim financial report during
its transition year, the com??me financial information required by subsection 4.3(2),
except if an interim peri ring the transition year is 12 months in length and the
reporting issuer's tra@ year is longer than 13 months, the comparative financial
information must b statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive
income, stateme Q‘Changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the 12 month
period that conesjiti¥es its old financial year;

(b Qs comparative financial information in each interim financial report during
its new cial year

& 0] a statement of financial position as at the end of its transition year;
a

(i) the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows for the periods in its transition year or old financial
year, for the same calendar months as, or as close as possible to, the calendar months
in the interim period in the new financial year;
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(c) in the following circumstances, a statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period:

(1) the reporting issuer discloses in its interim financial report an
unreserved statement of compliance with International Accounting Standard 34 Interim
Financial Reporting; and

(i) the reporting issuer ,\(b

(A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in i(sl%terim
financial report; (b.,
N

(B) makes a retrospective restatement of itec‘;s in its interim
financial report; or

(C) reclassifies items in its interim final@l report; and

(d) in the case of the reporting issuer's first int€Mn financial report required to
be filed in the year of adopting IFRS, the opening IF Btement of financial position at
the date of transition to IFRS. (1/

(8) Despite subsection 4.3(2), if interim peri '§f?)r a reporting issuer's transition year
end 12, 9, 6 or 3 months before the end oLtke transition year, the reporting issuer must

include Q.

(@) as comparative finangigl yormation in each interim financial report during
its transition year

0] a state@’of financial position as at the end of its old financial

year; and ;

(i) Q;Qtatement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and stateq of cash flows for periods in its old financial year, for the same
calendar mon S, or as close as possible to, the calendar months in the interim
period in theq?ﬁtion year;

@2 as comparative financial information in each interim financial report during
its neQ ancial year

\s 0] a statement of financial position as at the end of its transition year;
and

(i) the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows in its transition year or old financial year, or both, as
appropriate, for the same calendar months as, or as close as possible to, the calendar
months in the interim period in the new financial year;
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(© in the following circumstances, a statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period:

0] the reporting issuer discloses in its interim financial report an
unreserved statement of compliance with International Accounting Standard 34 Interim
Financial Reporting; and (b

(i) the reporting issuer Q'\
(A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively 'u'bit,s interim

financial report;

(B) makes a retrospective restatement o S in its interim
financial report; or

(C) reclassifies items in its interim firﬂQQﬂ report; and
(d) in the case of the reporting issuer's first&nm financial report required to

be filed in the year of adopting IFRS, the opening IFﬂ/ tatement of financial position at
the date of transition to IFRS. N

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.8; M.O. 2006-04, s. 8; M_Q 2010-17, s. 4.
4.9. Change in Corporate Structu Qg

If an issuer is party to a t@a&tion that resulted in,

(@ theissuer betq%g a reporting issuer other than by filing a prospectus; or
(b) if the iss@s already a reporting issuer, in
0] e issuer ceasing to be a reporting issuer,
cﬁ/ a change in the reporting issuer’s financial year end, or
QO (i)  achange in the name of the reporting issuer;
d@ the issuer must, as soon as practicable, and in any event not later than the
line for the first filing required under this Regulation following the transaction, file a
notice stating

(c) the names of the parties to the transaction;

(d)  adescription of the transaction;
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(e) the effective date of the transaction;

() the name of each party, if any, that ceased to be a reporting issuer after
the transaction and of each continuing entity;

(9) the date of the reporting issuers first financial year-end after the
transaction if paragraph (a) or subparagraph (b)(ii) applies; (b

(h)  the periods, including the comparative periods, if any, of the(terim
financial reports and the annual financial statements required to be filed for the* rgporting
issuer’s first financial year after the transaction, if paragraph (a) or subparegraph (b)(ii)

applies; and N

transaction and where those documents can be found in electrogg\ormat, if paragraph

0] what documents were filed under this Regulatiorg t described the
(a) or subparagraph (b)(ii) applies. O

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.9; M.O. 2006-04, s. 9; M.O. 2010-17’\65.
4.10. Reverse Takeovers (19

(2) If a reporting issuer must comply with e%{i?)n 4.9 because it was a party to a
reverse takeover, the reporting issuer must&mply with section 4.8 unless

(@) the reporting issuer h same year-end as the reverse takeover
acquirer before the transaction; or

(b) the reporting is@;anges its year-end to be the same as that of the
reverse takeover acquirer. Q

(2) If a reporting is@ompletes a reverse takeover, it must

(@ file &Ilowing financial statements for the reverse takeover acquirer,
unless the fingpgiad statements have already been filed:

Qﬁ financial statements for all annual and interim periods ending
before ate of the reverse takeover and after the date of the financial statements
inclu%@n an information circular or similar document, or under Item 5.2 of the
F{@ 1-102F3 Material Change Report, prepared in connection with the transaction; or

(i) if the reporting issuer did not file a document referred to in
subparagraph (i), or the document does not include the financial statements for the
reverse takeover acquirer that would be required to be included in a prospectus, the
financial statements prescribed under securities legislation and described in the form of

prospectus that the reverse takeover acquirer was eligible to use prior to the reverse
takeover for a distribution of securities in the jurisdiction;
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(b) file the annual financial statements required by paragraph (a) on or before
the later of

0] the 20th day after the date of the reverse takeover;
(i) the 90th date after the end of the financial year; and

(i)  the 120th day after the end of the financial year if the r@ting
issuer is a venture issuer; and

M)
(c) file each interim financial report required by paragraph (a) oth before the
later of

0] the 10th day after the date of the reverse tak@ZT
(i) the 45th day after the end of the interimﬁg‘%d;

(i)  the 60th day after the end of f'?erim period if the reporting
issuer is a venture issuer; and (1/

(iv)  the filing deadline in paragrq'p\’(b).
(3) A reporting issuer is not req@o provide comparative interim financial

information for the reverse takeover ac r for periods that ended before the date of a
reverse takeover if

(@) to a reasonab %rson it is impracticable to present prior-period
information on a basis consj with subsection 4.3(2);

(b) the prior@ﬂj information that is available is presented; and

(c) the not? the interim financial report disclose the fact that the prior-period
information hgg not been prepared on a basis consistent with the most recent interim
financial inf@on.

M.O. 2@§-%3, S. 4.10; M.O. 2006-04, s. 10; M.O. 2007-08, s. 2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 6.

4 hange of Auditor
S

(1) In this section
"appointment” means, in relation to a reporting issuer, the earlier of

(@) the appointment as its auditor of a person; and
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(b)  the decision by the board of directors of the reporting issuer to propose to
holders of qualified securities to appoint such person as its auditor to replace its
predecessor auditor;

"consultation” means advice provided by a successor auditor, whether or not in
writing, to a reporting issuer during the relevant period, which the successor auditor
concluded was an important factor considered by the reporting issuer in reaching a
decision concerning ,\‘%

(@) the application of accounting principles or policies to a tr:ﬂ%ction,
whether or not the transaction is completed,; '\(b.,

(b) a report provided by an auditor on the reportin suer's financial
statements; %

(c) scope or procedure of an audit or review engage@ %

(d) financial statement disclosure; '\03

"disagreement” means a difference of op|n| tween personnel of a reporting
issuer responsible for finalizing the reportlng r's financial statements and the
personnel of a predecessor auditor responsi or authorlzmg the issuance of audit

reports on the reporting issuer's financial gt tements or authorizing the communication
of the results of the auditor's review of QJ porting issuer's interim financial report, if
the difference of opinion ?~

(@) resulted in a modifj inion in the predecessor auditor's audit report on
the reporting issuer's financial ments for any period during the relevant period,

audit report on the r ing issuer's financial statements for any period during the
relevant period if t%?' erence of opinion had not been resolved to the predecessor
auditor's satisfa not including a difference of opinion based on incomplete or
preliminary(i%% ion that was resolved to the satisfaction of the predecessor auditor

(b)  would haveggulted in a modified opinion in the predecessor auditor's

upon the re f further information;

resulted in a qualified or adverse communication or denial of assurance in
resp the predecessor auditor's review of the reporting issuer's interim financial
or any interim period during the relevant period; or

(d) would have resulted in a qualified or adverse communication or denial of
assurance in respect of the predecessor auditor's review of the reporting issuer's interim
financial report for any interim period during the relevant period if the difference of
opinion had not been resolved to the predecessor auditor's satisfaction, not including a
difference of opinion based on incomplete or preliminary information that was resolved
to the satisfaction of the predecessor auditor upon the receipt of further information;
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"predecessor auditor" means the auditor of a reporting issuer that is the subject
of the most recent termination or resignation;

"qualified securities” means securities of a reporting issuer that carry the right to
participate in voting on the appointment or removal of the reporting issuer's auditor;

"relevant information circular" means ,\0,')

(@) if a reporting issuer's constating documents or applicable la quire
holders of qualified securities to take action to remove the reporting issuer Itor or to
appoint a successor auditor N

(1) the information circular required to accompan %rm part of every
notice of meeting at which that action is proposed to be taken; oré

(i) the disclosure document accompany%ﬂqC%e text of the written
resolution provided to holders of qualified securities; or 03

(b) if paragraph (a) does not apply, t Qﬁormation circular required to
accompany or form part of the first notice of m etihrafto be sent to holders of qualified
securities following the preparation of a repor e;g\po‘ackage concerning a termination or
resignation;

"relevant period" means the pe |v~a

(@ commencing at th Qeginning of the reporting issuer's 2 most recently
completed financial years and&wg on the date of termination or resignation; or

the predecessor audi as not the reporting issuer's auditor throughout the period

(b) during whic th% predecessor auditor was the reporting issuer's auditor, if
described in parag@@j);

"reporta@%vent" means a disagreement, a consultation, or an unresolved
issue;

'@%rting package" means
% a) the documents referred to in subparagraphs (5)(a)(i) and (6)(a)(i);
(b)  the letter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B), if received by the reporting
issuer, unless an updated letter referred to in clause (6)(a)(iii)(B) has been received by

the reporting issuer;

(c) the letter referred to in clause (6)(a)(ii)(B), if received by the reporting
issuer; and
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(d) any updated letter referred to in clause (6)(a)(iii)(B) received by the
reporting issuer;

“resignation” means notification from an auditor to a reporting issuer of the
auditor's decision to resign or decline to stand for reappointment;

"successor auditor" means the person ,\(b

(a)  appointed, (19
4
(b) that the board of directors have proposed to holders of quamga securities
be appointed; or

(c) that the board of directors have decided to propos&lders of qualified
securities be appointed,

as the reporting issuer's auditor after the term‘%ation or resignation of the
reporting issuer's predecessor auditor; Q

"termination” means, in relation to a repor}'Qq‘:iL(suer, the earlier of

(@ the removal of its auditor p&fore the expiry of the auditor's term of
appointment, the expiry of its auditor's of appointment without reappointment, or
the appointment of a different perso &auditor upon expiry of its auditor's term of
appointment; and

(b) the decision by @)ard of directors of the reporting issuer to propose to
holders of its qualified sem?j that its auditor be removed before, or that a different
person be appointed as@t itor upon, the expiry of its auditor's term of appointment;

"unresolved @ means any matter that, in the predecessor auditor's opinion,
has, or could hay, material impact on the financial statements, or reports provided by
the auditor r % to the financial statements, for any financial period during the
relevant pe@&nd about which the predecessor auditor has advised the reporting

issuer if Q_

{{ the predecessor auditor was unable to reach a conclusion as to the
n{@r implications before the date of termination or resignation;

(b)  the matter was not resolved to the predecessor auditor's satisfaction
before the date of termination or resignation; or

(© the predecessor auditor is no longer willing to be associated with any of
the financial statements;
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(2) For the purposes of this section, the term "material® has a meaning consistent
with the discussion of the term "materiality” in the issuer's GAAP.

(3)  This section does not apply if
(@) the following 3 conditions are met:

(1) a termination, or resignation, and appointment occur in connf\ n
with an amalgamation, arrangement, takeover or similar transaction invol\@ the
reporting issuer or a reorganization of the reporting issuer;

M)

(i) the termination, or resignation, and appointmerft{?ave been
disclosed in a news release that has been filed or in a disclosure ument that has
been delivered to holders of qualified securities and filed; and §?~

(i)  no reportable event has occurred; O

(b) the change of auditor is required by thé)jegislation under which the
reporting issuer exists or carries on its activities; or Q

(c) the change of auditor arises froR%amalgamation, merger or other
reorganization of the auditor. r\

(4)  An SEC issuer satisfies this secti@

(@) complies with the r q&r;ents of U.S. laws relating to a change of
auditor; @

(b) files a copy o?%aterials required by U.S. laws relating to a change of
auditor at the same timena®, or as soon as practicable after, they are filed with or
furnished to the SEC;O

(c) issu% nd files a news release describing the information disclosed in the
materials refe@ in paragraph (b), if there are any reportable events; and

(d ticludes the materials referred to in paragraph (b) with each relevant
inform circular.

(\5% pon a termination or resignation of its auditor, a reporting issuer must
(@)  within 10 days after the date of termination or resignation

0] prepare a change of auditor notice in accordance with subsection
(7) and deliver a copy of it to the predecessor auditor; and

(i) request the predecessor auditor to
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(A) review the reporting issuer's change of auditor notice;

(B) prepare a letter, addressed to the securities regulatory
authority, stating, for each statement in the change of auditor notice, whether the auditor
agrees, disagrees and the reasons why, or has no basis to agree or disagree; and

(C) deliver the letter to the reporting issuer within 20 days,\glbar
the date of termination or resignation; (19

(b)  within 30 days after the date of termination or resignation '\(b.,
0] have the audit committee of its board of directe&kor its board of
directors review the letter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B) if re@by the reporting

issuer, and approve the change of auditor notice;

(i) file a copy of the reporting package V&Qe securities regulatory

N

(i)  deliver a copy of the reporting pa&ge to the predecessor auditor;

authority;

(iv) if there are any reportabl&'e\é‘nts, issue and file a news release
describing the information in the reporting @kage; and

(c) include with each releva @Tmation circular

0] a copy of th@Qp@rting package as an appendix; and

(i) a sumr@ﬁf the contents of the reporting package with a cross-
reference to the appendix§

(6) Upon an apr'@ent of a successor auditor, a reporting issuer must

(@) \@% 10 days after the date of appointment

Qﬁ prepare a change of auditor notice in accordance with subsection
(7 and@§/~er it to the successor auditor and to the predecessor auditor;
\% (i) request the successor auditor to

(A) review the reporting issuer's change of auditor notice;

(B) prepare a letter addressed to the securities regulatory

authority, stating, for each statement in the change of auditor notice, whether the auditor
agrees, disagrees and the reasons why, or has no basis to agree or disagree; and
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(C)  deliver that letter to the reporting issuer within 20 days after
the date of appointment; and

(i)  request the predecessor auditor to, within 20 days after the date of
appointment,

(A)  confirm that the letter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B) does

not have to be updated; or N
(B) prepare and deliver to the reporting issuer an updﬁ&letter
to replace the letter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B); '\(b.,
(b)  within 30 days after the date of appointment, A

0] have the audit committee of its board of d%ors or its board of
directors review the letters referred to in clauses (6)(a)(ii)(B) (6)(a)(ii)(B) if received
by the reporting issuer, and approve the change of auditor /T,

(i) file a copy of the reporting pacl@é?’v)vith the securities regulatory

authority; (1/

(i)  deliver a copy of the repp@hé‘ package to the successor auditor
and to the predecessor auditor; and

able events, issue and file a news release
ccessor auditor and either describing the
or referring to the news release required under

(iv) if there are any
disclosing the appointment of t
information in the reporting pa

subparagraph (5)(b)(iv). Q/
(7)  Achange of audit@q ice must state
(@) the d@@terminaﬁon or resignation;
(b) \@ger the predecessor auditor

Qﬁ resigned on the predecessor auditor's own initiative or at the
reporti uer's request;

$ (i) was removed or is proposed to holders of qualified securities to be
r ved during the predecessor auditor's term of appointment; or

(i)  was not reappointed or has not been proposed for reappointment;

(c) whether the termination or resignation of the predecessor auditor and any
appointment of the successor auditor were considered or approved by the audit
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committee of the reporting issuer's board of directors or the reporting issuer's board of
directors;

(d)  whether the predecessor auditor's report on any of the reporting issuer's
financial statements relating to the relevant period expressed a modified opinion and, if
S0, a description of each modification;

(e) if there is a reportable event, the following information: ,\(b

0] for a disagreement, (19
NeX

(B)  whether the audit committee of the wg issuer's board

(A)  adescription of the disagreement;

of directors or the reporting issuer's board of directors discusse disagreement with
the predecessor auditor; and O

(C) whether the reporting issuefuthorized the predecessor
auditor to respond fully to inquiries by any sntséssor auditor concerning the
disagreement and, if not, a description of and reason'{/ r any limitation;

(i) for a consultation, N °

A) a description@%{he issue that was the subject of the

(B) asu %-y of the successor auditor's oral advice, if any,
provided to the reporting issu&ceming the issue;

consultation;

(C) wa\copy of the successor auditor's written advice, if any,
received by the report@uer concerning the issue; and

g whether the reporting issuer consulted with the predecessor
ingdthe issue and, if so, a summary of the predecessor auditor's advice

auditor concer%%
concerning ue; and
QOE (i)  for an unresolved issue,

(A) adescription of the issue;
S

(B)  whether the audit committee of the reporting issuer's board
of directors or the reporting issuer's board of directors discussed the issue with the
predecessor auditor; and
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(C)  whether the reporting issuer authorized the predecessor
auditor to respond fully to inquiries by any successor auditor concerning the issue and,
if not, a description of and reasons for any limitation; and

() if there are no reportable events, a statement to that effect.

(8) If the successor auditor becomes aware that the change of auditor natice
required by this section has not been prepared and filed by the reporting issu (be
auditor must, within 7 days, advise the reporting issuer in writing and deliver aé?(p\/ of
the letter to the securities regulatory authority. (1,

a
M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.11; M.O. 2006-04, s. 11; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M. .'&8-10, s. 1;
M.O. 2010-17, s. 7.

PART4A  FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION &
M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. &O
4A.1. Application Q\‘b

This Part applies to forward-looking infor&afil’n that is disclosed by a reporting
issuer other than forward-looking information cht ined in oral statements.

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. é

4A.2. Reasonable Basis ov
A reporting issuer mus@sclose forward-looking information unless the issuer
has a reasonable basis for % ward-looking information.

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. O®
4A.3. Disclosur Q

A repoiNAg issuer that discloses material forward-looking information must
include di re that

QQ identifies forward-looking information as such;
\s (b)  cautions users of forward-looking information that actual results may vary
from the forward-looking information and identifies material risk factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking information;

(© states the material factors or assumptions used to develop forward-looking
information; and
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(d)  describes the reporting issuer's policy for updating forward-looking
information if it includes procedures in addition to those described in subsection 5.8(2).

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.

PART 4B FOFI AND FINANCIAL OUTLOOKS

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. ,\‘b

4B.1. Application (19

M)
(1) This Part applies to FOFI or a financial outlook that is disclosed a reporting

issuer.
(2)  This Part does not apply to disclosure that is &

(@)  subject to requirements in Regulation 51-1@&Qspecting Standards of
Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (chapter V-1.1, My 23), or Regulation 43-101
respecting Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projec@ apter V-1.1, r. 15); or

(b) made to comply with the con wlf)](s of any exemption from the
requirements referred to in paragraph (a) t a reporting issuer received from a
securities regulatory authority unless the urltles regulatory authority orders that this
Part applies to disclosure made under th mption; or

(© contained in an oral sia&;nt

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.

4B.2. Assumptions ;Q

(1) A reporting i@g@must not disclose FOFI or a financial outlook unless the FOFI
or financial outlo% ased on assumptions that are reasonable in the circumstances.

(2) FOFI Q/financial outlook that is based on assumptions that are reasonable in
the circurq?graces must, without limitation,

% be limited to a period for which the information in the FOFI or financial
ou@p can be reasonably estimated, and

(b) use the accounting policies the reporting issuer expects to use to prepare
its historical financial statements for the period covered by the FOFI or the financial
outlook.

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.
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4B.3. Disclosure

In addition to the disclosure required by section 4A.3, if a reporting issuer
discloses FOFI or a financial outlook, the issuer must include disclosure that

(@) states the date management approved the FOFI or financial outlook, if the
document containing the FOFI or financial outlook is undated; and (b

(b)  explains the purpose of the FOFI or financial outlook and cautions @’a}!ers
that the information may not be appropriate for other purposes.

Y
M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. '\(b
PART 5 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS §?~
5.1. Filing of MD&A O

(1) A reporting issuer must file MD&A relating to its aﬂjual financial statements and
each interim financial report. Q

(1.1) Despite subsection (1), a reporting issuer, do:;l(not have to file MD&A relating to
the annual financial statements and interim finaic\al reports required under sections 4.7
and 4.10 for financial years and interim peﬂ@s hat ended before the issuer became a

reporting issuer. Q.

(2)  The MD&A required to be fil @ st be filed on or before the earlier of

(@) the filing deadli @)r the annual financial statements and each interim
financial report set out in SQ& 4.2 and 4.4, as applicable; and

(b) the datb reporting issuer files the financial statements under
subsections 4.1(1) Q’ (1), as applicable.

M.O. 2005-03 M; M.O. 2006-04, s. 12; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.
5.2. Fil@g MD&A for SEC Issuers

{ggspite subsection 5.1(2), if an SEC issuer that is a reporting issuer is filing its
ar@a or interim MD&A prepared in accordance with Iltem 303 of Regulation S-K under
tAM.934 Act, the SEC issuer must file that document on or before the earlier of

(@) the date the SEC issuer would be required to file that document under
section 5.1; and
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(b)  the date the SEC issuer files that document with the SEC.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 13; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.
5.3. Additional Disclosure for Venture Issuers Without Significant Revenue
(1) A venture issuer that has not had significant revenue from operations in either of

its last 2 financial years, must disclose in its MD&A, for each period referred,t\QJn
subsection (2), a breakdown of material components of (19

(@) exploration and evaluation assets or expenditures; '\(b.,
(b)  expensed research and development costs; A
(c) intangible assets arising from development; &

(d)  general and administration expenses; and &O

(e) any material costs, whether expense@'& recognized as assets, not
referred to in paragraphs (a) through (d); (1/

and if the venture issuer's business "\aﬁly involves mining exploration and
development, the analysis of exploration an&evaluation assets or expenditures must be
presented on a property-by-property basi
(2)  The disclosure in subsection &Jst be provided for the following periods:

(@) in the case of a& MD&A, for the 2 most recently completed financial
years; and Q

(b) in the CQV f interim MD&A, for the most recent year-to-date interim
period and the com@ e year-to-date period presented in the interim financial report.

has been di d in the financial statements to which the MD&A relates.

M.O. 2@§-%3, S. 5.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 14; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.

5% isclosure of Outstanding Share Data
N\

3) Subsec?’ &1) does not apply if the information required under that subsection

(1) A reporting issuer must disclose in its MD&A the designation and number or
principal amount of

(@) each class and series of voting or equity securities of the reporting issuer
for which there are securities outstanding;
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(b)  each class and series of securities of the reporting issuer for which there
are securities outstanding if the securities are convertible into, or exercisable or
exchangeable for, voting or equity securities of the reporting issuer; and

(c) each class and series of voting or equity securities of the reporting issuer
that are issuable on the conversion, exercise or exchange of outstanding securities of

the reporting issuer. (b

(2) For the application of paragraph (1)(c), if the exact number or principal a t of
voting or equity securities of the reporting issuer that are issuable on the c&sion,
exercise or exchange of outstanding securities of the reporting ig34&r is not
determinable, the reporting issuer must disclose the maximum numb® or principal
amount of each class and series of voting or equity securities that issuable on the
conversion, exercise or exchange of outstanding securities of the r ing issuer and, if
that maximum number or principal amount is not determinabl e reporting issuer
must describe the exchange or conversion features and manner in which the
number or principal amount of voting or equity securities wi¥ge determined.

(3)  The disclosure under subsections (1) and (2) Qﬁsrpbe prepared as of the latest
practicable date. (1/

)

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9. N

5.5. Approval of MD&A é

(2) The annual MD&A that a repuiytg issuer is required to file under this Part must
be approved by the board of dir% efore being filed.

(2)  The interim MD&A t Q/reporting issuer is required to file under this Part must
be approved by the boardeQf Mirectors before being filed.

3) In fulfilling th irement in subsection (2), the board of directors may delegate
the approval of Interim MD&A required to be filed under this Part to the audit
committee of t@b ard of directors.

M.O. 200 7s. 5.5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.

5.6. {é';ivery of MD&A

(I&% If a registered holder or beneficial owner of securities, other than debt
instruments, of a reporting issuer requests the reporting issuer's annual or interim
MD&A, the reporting issuer must send a copy of the requested MD&A to the person that
made the request, without charge, by the delivery deadline set out in subsection 4.6(3)
for the annual financial statements or interim financial report to which the MD&A relates.
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(2) A reporting issuer is not required to send copies of any MD&A that was filed
more than 2 years before the issuer receives the request.

(3)  The requirement to send annual MD&A under subsection (1) does not apply to a
reporting issuer that sends its annual MD&A and any related MD&A supplement to its
securityholders, other than holders of debt instruments, within 140 days of the issuer's
financial year-end and in accordance with Regulation 54-101 respecting Communication
with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer (chapter V-1.1, r. 29). N

(4) If a reporting issuer sends MD&A under this section, the reporting is must
also send, at the same time, the annual financial statements or interim flnamjal report to
which the MD&A relates.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.6; M.O. 2006-04, s. 15; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M 10-17, s. 9.

5.7. Additional Disclosure for Reporting Issuers v@ Significant Equity
Investees

(1) A reporting issuer that has a significant eq\&\investee must disclose in its
MD&A for each period referred to in subsection (2), (1/

(a) summarized financial mformatlo 'bf the equity investee, including the
aggregated amounts of assets, liabilities, r%nue and profit or loss; and

(b)  the reporting issuer's pr @nate interest in the equity investee and any
contingent issuance of securities b quity investee that might significantly affect the
reporting issuer's share of profit@ss

(2)  The disclosure in su@on (1) must be provided for the following periods:

@) in the c@annual MD&A, for the 2 most recently completed financial

years; and Q’

(b) thd case of interim MD&A, for the most recent year-to-date interim
period and t mparative year-to-date period presented in the interim financial report.

@a ction (1) does not apply if

a) the information required under that subsection has been disclosed in the
fincial statements to which the MD&A relates; or

(b) the issuer files separate financial statements of the equity investee for the
periods referred to in subsection (2).

M.O. 2006-04, s. 16; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.
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5.8. Disclosure Relating to Previously Disclosed Material Forward-Looking
Information

(1)  This section applies to material forward-looking information that is disclosed by a
reporting issuer other than

(@) forward-looking information contained in an oral statement, or

&
N
P

0] subject to the requirements in Regulation 51-10%¢specting
Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (chapter V-1.1, r. 23\r“Regulation

43-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (chaptedV-1.1, r. 15), or

(b)  disclosure that is

(i) made to comply with the conditions of ar@xemption from the
requirements referred to in subparagraph (i) that a reporting yssuer received from a
securities regulatory authority unless the securities regulat uthority orders that this
Part applies to disclosure made under the exemption. 03
(2)  Areporting issuer must discuss in its MD&A,(I/Q

(&) events and circumstances that '&r”red during the period to which the
MDG&A relates that are reasonably likely to&guse actual results to differ materially from
material forward-looking information fo eriod that is not yet complete that the
reporting issuer previously disclosed tp public; and

(b)  the expected differ referred to in paragraph (a).

(3)  Subsection (2) does Q%@ply if the reporting issuer

€)) includes&nformaﬁon required by subsection (2) in a news release
issued and filed b reporting issuer before the filing of the MD&A referred to in
subsection (2); aQ

(b) T des disclosure in the MD&A referred to in subsection (2) that

QOE 0] identifies the news release referred to in paragraph (a);

(i) states the date of the news release; and

S

(i)  states that the news release is available at www.sedar.com.

(4) A reporting issuer must disclose and discuss in its MD&A, material differences
between
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(@) actual results for the annual or interim period to which the MD&A relates,
and

(b)  any FOFI or financial outlook for the period referred to in paragraph (a)
that the reporting issuer previously disclosed.

(5) If during the period to which its MD&A relates, a reporting issuer decides to
withdraw previously disclosed material forward-looking information, N

(@) the reporting issuer must disclose in its MD&A the decision anﬁ]?scuss
the events and circumstances that led the reporting issuer to that decisiognjncluding a
discussion of the assumptions underlying the forward-looking informati®x Yhat are no
longer valid, and

(b)  subsection (4) does not apply to the reporting iSS@Nith respect to the
MD&A

(1) if the reporting issuer complies with p'ajagraph (a); and

(i) the MD&A is filed before theq/@ of the period covered by the
forward-looking information.

)
(6) Paragraph 5(a) does not apply if the&p'c}ting issuer
(@) includes the informatio ired by paragraph (5)(a) in a news release
issued and filed by the reporting J before the filing of the MD&A referred to in
subsection (5); and
(b) includes discl(&’in the MD&A referred to in subsection (5) that
0] id@s the news release referred to in paragraph (a);
(i) Qtates the date of the news release; and
@/ states that the news release is available at www.sedar.com.
M.O. 2@-%8, s. 4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 10.
P@ ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM
N\

6.1. Requirement to File an AIF

A reporting issuer that is not a venture issuer must file an AlF.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 6.1.
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6.2. Filing Deadline for an AIF
An AIF must be filed,

(@ on or before the 90th day after the end of the reporting issuer's most
recently completed financial year; or

(b) in the case of a reporting issuer that is an SEC issuer filing its A,(bn
Form 10-K or Form 20-F, on or before the earlier of Q

(i) the 90th day after the end of the reporting issuer's m?)st, recently
completed financial year; and N

(i) the date the reporting issuer files its Form 10@' Form 20-F with

the SEC.

M.O. 2005-03, 5. 6.2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 11. &O
6.3. (Revoked). Q’\o‘)
M.0. 200503, 5.6.3; M.O. 2006:04,5.17. |

N

PART 7 MATERIAL CHANGE REPORYS
7.1. Publication of Material Chan Qg

(1) If a material change occu&g'me affairs of a reporting issuer, the reporting issuer

must Q/

(@) immediatelygnsSue and file a news release authorized by an executive
officer disclosing the @and substance of the change; and

(b) as Qg'as practicable, and in any event within 10 days of the date on
which the chapge ®ccurs, file a Form 51-102F3 Material Change Report with respect to
the material(r%(ge.

2 @aection (1) does not apply if,

a) in the opinion of the reporting issuer, and if that opinion is arrived at in a
r&dsonable manner, the disclosure required by subsection (1) would be unduly
detrimental to the interests of the reporting issuer; or

(b)  the material change consists of a decision to implement a change made
by senior management of the reporting issuer who believe that confirmation of the
decision by the board of directors is probable, and senior management of the reporting
issuer has no reason to believe that persons with knowledge of the material change
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have made use of that knowledge in purchasing or selling securities of the reporting
issuer,

and the reporting issuer immediately files the report required under paragraph
(2)(b) marked so as to indicate that it is confidential, together with written reasons for
non-disclosure.

3) (paragraph revoked). ,\(b
(4) (paragraph revoked). (19

M)
(5) If a report has been filed under subsection (2), the reporting issu&\(?ust advise
the securities regulatory authority in writing if it believes the report uld continue to
remain confidential, within 10 days of the date of filing of the initi rt and every 10
days thereafter until the material change is generally disclosed i manner referred to
in paragraph (1)(a), or, if the material change consists of a d jon of the type referred
to in paragraph (2)(b), until that decision has been rejecte@@we board of directors of

the reporting issuer. '\03

(6) In Ontario, the reporting issuer must advise tln‘i%curities regulatory authority.

(7 If a report has been filed under subsectin'\(‘i), the reporting issuer must promptly
generally disclose the material change in thé manner referred to in subsection (1) upon
the reporting issuer becoming aware, ing reasonable grounds to believe, that
persons are purchasing or selling sec@bsaof the reporting issuer with knowledge of
the material change that has not be nerally disclosed.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 7.1; M.O. 20@, s.18; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 2.
PART 8 BUSINESS@&QUISITION REPORT

8.1. Interpretati%@j Application

Q) In this F@

ion" includes an acquisition of an interest in a business that is
consoli for accounting purposes or accounted for by another method, such as the
equit hod;

\s "acquisition of related businesses" means the acquisition of 2 or more
businesses if

(@) the businesses were under common control or management before the
acquisitions were completed;
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(b)  each acquisition was conditional upon the completion of each other
acquisition; or

(c) the acquisitions were contingent upon a single common event;
"business” includes an interest in an oil and gas property to which reserves, as
defined in Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas

Activities (chapter V-1.1, r. 23), have been specifically attributed; and N

"specified profit or loss" means profit or loss from continuing d@ltions
attributable to the owners of the parent, adjusted to exclude income taxes. (b.,

(2)  This Part does not apply to a transaction that is a reverse takeoukr.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 19; M.O. 2007-08, s. 5; M* 010-17, s. 12.
8.2. Obligation to File a Business Acquisition Report af\Qiling Deadline

(1) If a reporting issuer completes a significant iSition, it must file a business
acquisition report within 75 days after the acquisitio e

(2) Despite subsection (1), if the most ra{e\nﬂy completed financial year of the

acquired business ended 45 days or less tﬂore the acquisition date, a reporting issuer
must file a business acquisition report Q.

(@) within 90 days after quisition date, in the case of an issuer other
than a venture issuer, or

(b)  within 120 dayégér the acquisition date, in the case of a venture issuer.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.2; 6&006-04, s. 20; M.O. 2010-17, s. 13.

8.3. Determin@'of Significance

(1) An az@ﬂion of a business or related businesses is a significant acquisition,

@2 for a reporting issuer that is not a venture issuer, if the acquisition satisfies
any <{< 3 significance tests set out in subsection (2); and

N\ (b)  for a venture issuer, if the acquisition satisfies either of the significance
tests set out in paragraphs (2)(a) or (b) if "20%" is read as "40%".
(2) For the purposes of subsection (1), the significance tests are:

(@) The asset test: The reporting issuer's proportionate share of the
consolidated assets of the business or related businesses exceeds 20% of the
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consolidated assets of the reporting issuer calculated using the audited annual financial
statements of each of the reporting issuer and the business or the related businesses
for the most recently completed financial year of each that ended before the acquisition
date.

(b) The investment test: The reporting issuer's consolidated investments in
and advances to the business or related businesses as at the acquisition date
exceeds 20% of the consolidated assets of the reporting issuer as at the last day ﬂbe
most recently completed financial year of the reporting issuer ended bef the
acquisition date, excluding any investments in or advances to the business ﬁlated
businesses as at that date. '\(b.,

(c) The profit or loss test: The reporting issuer's proportionkte share of the
consolidated specified profit or loss of the business or related busi s exceeds 20%
of the consolidated specified profit or loss of the reporting issu Iculated using the
audited annual financial statements of each of the reporting i@er and the business or
related businesses for the most recently completed financi r of each ended before
the acquisition date.

3) Despite subsection (1), if an acquisition of a‘l/ iness or related businesses is
significant based on the significance tests in sub&c&i n (2),

(@) a reporting issuer that is ndt a venture issuer may re-calculate the
significance using the optional significan@lg ts in subsection (4); and

(b) a venture issuer m ?galculate the significance using the optional
significance tests in paragraphs or (b) if "20%" is read as "40%".

(4)  The optional signific %(ests are:

(@ The as&st: The reporting issuer's proportionate share of the
consolidated asse the business or related businesses exceeds 20% of the
consolidated ass%?the reporting issuer, calculated using the financial statements of
each of the reppring issuer and the business or the related businesses for the most
recently cor&d interim period or financial year of each, without giving effect to the

acquisitioQ_

% The investment test: The reporting issuer's consolidated investments in
ard\advances to the business or related businesses as at the acquisition date
expeeds 20% of the consolidated assets of the reporting issuer as at the last day of the
most recently completed interim period or financial year of the reporting issuer,
excluding any investments in or advances to the business or related businesses as at
that date.
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(c) The profit or loss test: The specified profit or loss calculated under the
following subparagraph (i) exceeds 20% of the specified profit or loss calculated under
the following subparagraph (ii):

0] the reporting issuer's proportionate share of the consolidated
specified profit or loss of the business or related businesses for the later of

(A)  the most recently completed financial year of the busing{?@r
related businesses; or Q

(B) the 12 months ended on the last day of the rrBs.t recently
completed interim period of the business or related businesses; N

(i) the reporting issuer's consolidated specified #t or loss for the
later of é

(A) the most recently completed fifﬁfgal year, without giving
effect to the acquisition; or

N
(B) the 12 months ended o(gﬁ% last day of the most recently
completed interim period of the reporting issuer, yithdut giving effect to the acquisition.

(4.1) For the purposes of subsections and (4), the reporting issuer must not
remeasure its previously held equity inte@u the business or related businesses.

(4.2) For the purposes of par s (2)(b) and (4)(b), the reporting issuer's
investments in and advances to siness or related businesses must include

(@ the considera@ansferred for the acquisition, measured in accordance
with the issuer's GAAP, ;

(b) paymgg‘@nade in connection with the acquisition which do not constitute
consideration tra? red but which would not have been paid unless the acquisition

had occurred,@

(©) ontingent consideration for the acquisition measured in accordance with
the iss GAAP.

('% f an acquisition does not meet any of the significance tests under paragraph (4),
IR cquisition is not a significant acquisition.

(6) Despite subsection (3), the significance of an acquisition of a business or related
businesses may be re-calculated using financial statements for periods that ended after
the acquisition date only if, after the acquisition date, the business or related businesses
remained substantially intact and were not significantly reorganized, and no significant
assets or liabilities were transferred to other entities.
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(7) For the purposes of paragraphs (2)(c) and (4)(c), if any of the reporting issuer,
the business or the related businesses has incurred a loss, the significance test must be
applied using the absolute value of the loss from continuing operations attributable to
owners of the parent, adjusted to exclude income taxes.

(8) For the purposes of paragraph (2)(c) and clause (4)(c)(ii)(A), if the reporting
issuer's consolidated specified profit or loss for the most recently completed fin ﬁbal
year was lower by 20% or more than its average consolidated specified profit or@ for
the 3 most recently completed financial years, the issuer may, subject to sﬁbsection
(10), substitute the average consolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 rrBﬁ recently
completed financial years in determining whether the significance tds{~set out in
paragraph (2)(c) or (4)(c) is satisfied.

(9) For the purpose of clause (4)(c)(i)(B) if the reporting@uer's consolidated
specified profit or loss for the most recently completed 12- h period was lower by
20% or more than its average consolidated specified pr®{or loss for the 3 most
recently completed 12-month periods, the issuer mayfpsubject to subsection (10),
substitute the average consolidated specified profiﬁ?\ oss for the 3 most recently
completed 12-month periods in determining wheth“/ he significance test set out in
paragraph (4)(c) is satisfied.

N+

N

(10) If the reporting issuer's consolidate%pecified profit or loss for either of the 2
earlier financial periods referred to in tions (8) and (9) is a loss, the reporting
issuer's specified profit or loss for th tﬁ is considered to be zero for the purposes
of calculating the average consolid pecified profit or loss for the 3 financial periods.

(11) If a reporting issuer h %de multiple investments in the same business, then
for the purposes of applying&ections (2) and (4),

@) if the in@vestment and one or more incremental investments were
made during the s% nancial year, the investments must be aggregated and tested
on a combined b '

(b)

subsequ

e or more incremental investments were made in a financial year
the financial year in which an initial or incremental investment was made
ftial or previous incremental investments are reflected in audited annual
finan% tatements of the reporting issuer previously filed, the reporting issuer must
a the significance tests set out in subsections (2) and (4) on a combined basis to
tANncremental investments not reflected in audited financial statements of the reporting
issuer previously filed; and

(c) if one or more incremental investments were made in a financial year

subsequent to the financial year in which the initial investment was made and the initial
investment is not reflected in audited annual financial statements of the reporting issuer
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previously filed, the reporting issuer must apply the significance tests set out in
subsections (2) and (4) to the initial and incremental investments on a combined basis.

(11.1) For the purposes of calculating the optional profit or loss test under
clause (4)(c)(ii)(A), a reporting issuer may use pro forma consolidated specified profit or
loss for its most recently completed financial year that was included in a previously filed
document if (b

(@) the reporting issuer has made a significant acquisition of a busine% ter
its most recently completed financial year; and
Neh

(b) the previously filed document included \\
(1) audited annual financial statements of that& wed business for

the periods required by this Part; and
(i) the pro forma financial information re&% by subsection 8.4(5)

N

(12) In determining whether an acquisition of (a{@ed businesses is a significant
acquisition, related businesses acquired after th&leg Ing date of the most recently filed
audited annual financial statements of the reRQ iNg issuer must be considered on a
combined basis.

or (6).

the amounts used for the business ted businesses must

(13) For the purposes of calculatin Zsignificance tests in subsections (2) and (4),
gﬁ'ry
(@) be based on the r's GAAP, and

(b) be translat %to the same presentation currency as that used in the
reporting issuer's fina atements.

(13.1) Paragrath@TB)(a) does not apply to a venture issuer if

@) inancial statements for the business or related businesses referred to
in subsecy .3(2) and (4)

QO 0] are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP applicable to
pdyje enterprises, and

(i) are prepared in a manner that consolidates any subsidiaries and
accounts for significantly influenced investees and joint ventures using the equity
method;

and
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(b) none of the accounting principles described in paragraphs 3.11(1)(a)
through (e) of Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and
Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, r. 25) were used to prepare financial statements for
the business or related businesses referred to in subsections 8.3(2) and (4).

(14) Despite subsections (2) and (4), the significance of an acquisition of a business
or related businesses may be calculated using unaudited financial statements of the
business or related businesses that comply with section 3.11 of Regulation 5Q>
respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards if the cial
statements of the business or related businesses for the most recently qlleted
financial year have not been audited. '\(b.,

(15) Despite subsections (2) and (4), the significance of an acquisi-ﬁ&n of a business
or related businesses may be calculated using the audited financy atements for the

financial year immediately preceding the reporting issuer's m ecently completed
financial year if the reporting issuer has not been required Yfile, and has not filed,
audited financial statements for its most recently completed cial year.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 21; M.O. 20106?\,053. 14.
8.4. Financial Statement Disclosure for Sigwiglﬁt Acquisitions
(1) If a reporting issuer is required to fil business acquisition report under section

8.2, the business acquisition report muQ.j,n lude the following for each business or
related businesses: ?~

(@) a statement of co ensive income, a statement of changes in equity
and a statement of cash flows e following periods:

(1) if th@gness has completed one financial year,

the most recently completed financial year ended on or
before the acquisy ate; and

Q/ (B) the financial year immediately preceding the most recently
completnga%

QO (i) if the business has not completed one financial year, the financial
commencing on the date of formation and ending on a date not more than 45
before the acquisition date;

cial year, if any; or

(b) a statement of financial position as at the end of each of the periods
specified in paragraph (a); and

(c) notes to the financial statements.
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(2)  The most recently completed financial period referred to in subsection (1) must
be audited.

3) If a reporting issuer is required to include financial statements in a business
acquisition report under subsection (1), the business acquisition report must include
financial statements for

(@) the most recently completed interim period or other period that startq@e
day after the date of the statement of financial position specified in paragraph ﬁ/ nd
ended,

M)
(1) in the case of an interim period, before the acquisitiorf\g?e; or

(i) in the case of a period other than an interim p » after the interim
period referred to in subparagraph (i) and on or before the acquisfgQ date; and

(b)  acomparable period in the preceding financia&gof the business.

financial report in a business acquisition report e financial statements for the
business or related businesses acquired are prepafed in accordance with Canadian
GAAP applicable to private enterprises, a\ ermitted under Regulation 52-107
respecting  Acceptable  Accounting ~i;inciples and Auditing  Standards
(chapter V-1.1, r. 25), the interim financi rt must include

(3.1) If a reporting issuer is required under sub;@ (3) to include an interim

(@) a balance sheet as at th@?;d of the interim period and a balance sheet as
at the end of the immediately pr#hg financial year, if any;

(b) an income st %ént, a statement of retained earnings and a cash flow
statement, all for the yeantodate interim period, and comparative financial information
for the corresponding JRANM period in the immediately preceding financial year, if any;
and

(© rQﬁgto the financial statements.

4) D subsection (3), the business acquisition report may include financial
statem for a period ending not more than one interim period before the period
refer in subparagraph (3)(a)(i) if

\s (@) the business does not, or related businesses do not, constitute a material
departure from the business or operations of the reporting issuer immediately before the
acquisition; and

(b) (paragraph revoked).

(© either
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(1) the acquisition date is, and the reporting issuer files the business
acquisition report, within the following time after the business's or related businesses'
most recently completed interim period:

(A) 45 days, if the reporting issuer is not a venture issuer; or
(B) 60 days, if the reporting issuer is a venture issuer; or ,\(b

(i) the reporting issuer filed a document before the acquisitph date
that included financial statements for the business or related business Rat would
have been required if the document were a prospectus, and those finand¥gstatements
are for a period ending not more than one interim period before interim period
referred to in subparagraph (3)(a)(i).

(5) If a reporting issuer is required to include financial ements in a business
acquisition report under subsection (1) or (3), the busin@§s acquisition report must

include '\03

(a) a pro forma statement of financial pos'ﬂébof the reporting issuer,

(1) as at the date of the rep, 'ﬁhé’ issuer's most recent statement of
financial position filed, that gives effect, as_f they had taken place as at the date of the
pro forma statement of financial positiq..t significant acquisitions that have been

completed, but are not reflected in t eporting issuer's most recent statement of
financial position for an annual or iKYyt period; or

(i) if the rep Issuer has not filed a statement of financial position
for any annual or interim pfj0&/ as at the date of the acquired business's most recent
statement of financial post{oM, that gives effect, as if they had taken place as at the date
of the pro forma sta@ of financial position, to significant acquisitions that have

been completed,; Q’

(b) rosforma income statement of the reporting issuer that gives effect to
significant a&tions completed since the beginning of the financial year referred to in
clause (i) (iN(A), as applicable, as if they had taken place at the beginning of that

financi r, for each of the following financial periods:

Q 0] the reporting issuer's
S

(A)  most recently completed financial year for which it has filed
financial statements; and

(B) interim period for which it has filed an interim financial report

that started after the period in clause (A) and ended immediately before the acquisition
date or, in the reporting issuer's discretion, after the acquisition date; or
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(i) if the reporting issuer has not filed a statement of comprehensive
income for any annual or interim period, for the business's or related businesses'

(A)  most recently completed financial year that ended before the
acquisition date; and

(B) period for which financial statements are included i&(be
business acquisition report under paragraph (3)(a); and Q

(c) pro forma earnings per share based on the pro forma financiagtatements
referred to in paragraph (b). \\'\
(6) Despite paragraph (5)(a) and clauses (5)(b)(i))(B) and (5)(b) '@), if the reporting
issuer relies on subsection (4), the business acquisition report m lude

(@ a pro forma statement of financial position as’s&?e date of the statement
of financial position filed immediately before the re(psrting issuer's most recent
statement of financial position filed; and Q

interim period before the interim period referr %in clause (B5)(b)(1)(B) or (5)(b)(ii)(B),
as applicable. 4

(7 If a reporting issuer is requir o?azinclude pro forma financial statements in a
business acquisition report under syiRsyetion (5),

(b) a pro forma income statement for[ thgﬁeriod ending not more than one

(@) the reporting is @’nust identify in the pro forma financial statements
each significant acquisition%\| e pro forma financial statements give effect to more
than one significant acq@ ;

(b) the reQ@g issuer must include in the pro forma financial statements
Qadjustments attributable to each significant acquisition for which
there are fir mitments and for which the complete financial effects are objectively

determin

go (i) adjustments to conform amounts for the business or related
b{@e ses to the issuer's accounting policies, and

(i)  a description of the underlying assumptions on which the pro forma
financial statements are prepared, cross-referenced to each related pro forma
adjustment;

(c) if the financial year-end of the business differs from the reporting issuer's
year-end by more than 93 days, for the purpose of preparing the pro forma income
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statement for the reporting issuer's most recently completed financial year, the reporting
issuer must construct an income statement of the business for a period of 12
consecutive months ending no more than 93 days before or after the reporting issuer's
year-end, by adding the results for a subsequent interim period to a completed financial
year of the business and deducting the comparable interim results for the immediately
preceding year;

(d) if a constructed income statement is required under paragraph (c), tl-’%bo
forma financial statements must disclose the period covered by the constructed me
statement on the face of the pro forma financial statements and must inclu&note
stating that the financial statements of the business used to prepare tiRro forma
financial statements were prepared for the purpose of the pro f financial
statements and do not conform with the financial statements for the &{siness included
elsewhere in the business acquisition report;

(e) if a reporting issuer is required to prepare a pr@rma income statement
for an interim period required by paragraph (5)(b), and the orma income statement
for the most recently completed financial year includes re@ats of the business which are
also included in the pro forma income statement fo Interim period, the reporting
issuer must disclose in a note to the pro form ncial statements the revenue,
expenses and profit or loss from continuing q&e[‘a lons included in each pro forma
income statement for the overlapping period; aﬁQ

)] a constructed period refer@o in paragraph (c) does not have to be

audited. v

(8) If a reporting issuer is \%'ulred under subsection (1) to include financial
statements for more than on@ness because the significant acquisition involves an
acquisition of related busin " the financial statements required under subsection (1)
must be presented sepa ?‘:{/ for each business, except for the periods during which

the businesses have under common control or management, in which case the
reporting issuer m ent the financial statements of the businesses on a combined
basis. Q

s
M.O. 2005-Q8, 4; M.O. 2006-04, s. 22; M.O. 2008-06, s. 2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 15.

8.5. %ked).
)

N\IQZ 05-03, s. 8.5; M.O. 2006-04, s. 23.

8.6. Exemption for Significant Acquisitions Accounted for Using the Equity
Method

A reporting issuer is exempt from the requirements in section 8.4 if

(@) the acquisition is, or will be, of an equity investee;
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(b) the business acquisition report includes disclosure for the periods for
which financial statements are otherwise required under subsection 8.4(1) that

0] summarizes financial information of the equity investee, including
the aggregated amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and profit or loss; and

(i) describes the reporting issuer's proportionate interest in the y
investee and any contingent issuance of securities by the equity investee th@ght
significantly affect the reporting issuer's share of profit or loss;

M)
(c) the financial information provided under paragraph ()'{?the most
recently completed financial year

0] has been derived from audited financial st@hents of the equity

investee; or
&O

(i) has been audited; and '\03
(d)  the business acquisition report (19

(1) identifies the financial statpq'}er?ts referred to in subparagraph (c)(i)
from which the disclosure provided under p@@graph (b) has been derived; or

(i) discloses that th @Hcial information provided under paragraph
(b), if not derived from audited finaa @h3tatements, has been audited; and

(i)  discloses the auditor expressed an unmodified opinion with
respect to the financial s nts referred to in subparagraph (i) or the financial
information referred to ir@kb aragraph (ii).

M.O. 2005-03, s. SQ‘Q). 2006-04, s. 24; M.O. 2010-17, s. 16.

8.7. (Revok@.Q

M.O. 200 7s. 8.7; M.O. 2006-04, s. 25.
QO
N\
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8.8. Exemption for Significant Acquisitions if Financial Year End Changed

If under section 8.4 a reporting issuer is required to provide financial statements
for a business acquired and the business changed its financial year end during either of
the financial years required to be included, the reporting issuer may include financial
statements for the transition year in satisfaction of the financial statements for one of the
years, provided that the transition year is at least 9 months. (b

N

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.8; M.O. 2006-04, s. 26. Q

8.9. Exemption from Comparatives if Financial Statements Norgr,eviously
Prepared N

A reporting issuer is not required to provide comparativ, ormation for an
interim financial report required under subsection 8.4(3) for a busés acquired if

(@) to a reasonable person it is impracticabﬁ\Q) present prior-period
information on a basis consistent with the most recently %npleted interim period of the
acquired business; Q

(b)  the prior-period information that is Naj‘l le is presented; and
(c) the notes to the interim fina,&ﬂ\al report disclose the fact that the prior-

period information has not been preparQ_p a basis consistent with the most recent
interim financial information. ?~

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.9; M.O. 2006,=s. 27; M.O. 2010-17, s. 17.

8.10. Acquisition of an In@{t in an Oil and Gas Property

(1) Despite subse 8.3(1), 8.3(2), 8.3(3) and 8.3(4), the asset tests in
paragraphs 8.3(2)( 8.3(4)(a) do not apply to an acquisition

€) (&;Q)usiness that is an interest in an oil and gas property or related
businesses re interests in oil and gas properties; and

@2 that is not of securities of another issuer.
( espite subsections 8.3(1), 8.3(2), 8.3(3), 8.3(4), 8.3(8), 8.3(9), 8.3(10)
aN»8.3(11.1), a reporting issuer must substitute "operating income" for "specified profit
or loss" for the purposes of the profit or loss test in paragraphs 8.3(2)(c) and 8.3(4)(c) if
the acquisition is one described in subsection (1).

3) Exemption from Financial Statement Disclosure - A reporting issuer is exempt
from the requirements in section 8.4 if
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(@) the significant acquisition is an acquisition described in subsection (1);

(b)  the reporting issuer is unable to provide the financial statements in respect
of the significant acquisition otherwise required under this Part because those financial
statements do not exist or because the reporting issuer does not have access to those
financial statements;

(c) the acquisition does not constitute a reverse takeover, '\(b
(d)  (paragraph revoked); (19

4
(e) in respect of the business or related businesses, for each O{:Re financial
periods for which financial statements would, but for this section, required under
section 8.4, the business acquisition report includes

(1) an operating statement for the businegSYor related businesses
prepared in accordance with subsection 3.11(5) of Reﬁq lon 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards(Bhapter V-1.1,r. 25);

(i) a pro forma operating statem the reporting issuer that gives
effect to significant acquisitions completed sinc eginning of the reporting issuer’s
most recently completed financial year for WII»\1 flnanC|aI statements are required to
have been filed, as if they had taken plac%\lt e beginning of that financial year, for
each of the financial periods referred to i graph 8.4(5)(b);

(i)  a description g @%operty or properties and the interest acquired
by the reporting issuer; and

(iv) discloséﬂ the annual oil and gas production volumes from the
business or related busi@s S;

) the o@g statement for the most recently completed financial period
referred to in sub on 8.4(1) is audited; and

(9) usiness acquisition report discloses

Q~(i) the estimated reserves and related future net revenue attributable
to th(%) iness or related businesses, the material assumptions used in preparing the
es and the identity and relationship to the reporting issuer or to the vendor of the

on who prepared the estimates; and

(i) the estimated oil and gas production volumes from the business or

related businesses for the first year reflected in the estimates disclosed under
subparagraph (i).
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(4) A reporting issuer is exempt from the requirements of subparagraphs (3)(e)(i), (i)
and (iv), if

(@) production, gross revenue, royalty expenses, production costs and
operating income were nil for the business or related businesses for each financial
period; and

(b) the business acquisition report discloses this fact. ,\(b

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.10; M.O. 2006-04, s. 28; M.O. 2008-06, s. 3; M.O. 2010-17,(&8.

N

Despite section 8.4, a reporting issuer is exempt from th irements to file
financial statements for an acquired business, other than t ro forma financial
statements required by subsection 8.4(5), in a businessquisition report if the
reporting issuer has made multiple investments in the sa ISiness and the acquired
business has been consolidated in the reporting issuer@jnost recent annual financial
statements that have been filed. Q

8.11. Exemption for Multiple Investments in the Same Business

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.11; M.O. 2006-04, s. 29; M.O'\ZO -17, s. 19.
A
PART 9 PROXY SOLICITATION ANIL‘QII':BRMATION CIRCULARS

9.1. Sending of Proxies and Infor n Circulars

(1) If management of a repq Issuer gives notice of a meeting to its registered
holders of voting securities, ement must, at the same time as or before giving
that notice, send to each r ed holder of voting securities who is entitled to notice
of the meeting a form of@x for use at the meeting.

(2) A person th @icits proxies from registered holders of voting securities of a
reporting issuer

(@) i\fhe case of a solicitation by or on behalf of management of a reporting
issuer, s n information circular with the notice of meeting to each registered
securit er whose proxy is solicited; or

b) in the case of any other solicitation, concurrently with or before the
st\eitation, send an information circular to each registered securityholder whose proxy
is solicited.

(3) (paragraph revoked).

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.1; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 3.
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9.1.1. Notice-and-Access

(1) A person soliciting proxies may use notice-and-access to send proxy-related
materials to a registered holder of voting securities of a reporting issuer if all of the
following apply:

(@) the registered holder of voting securities is sent a notice that contains_the

following information and no other information: ,\

0] the date, time and location of the reporting issuer’s m@y g for
which the proxy-related materials are being sent; '\(b.,

(i) a description of each matter or group of related mahers identified in
the form of proxy to be voted on, unless that information is alreadyy ded in a form of
proxy that is being sent to the registered holder of voting securiti der paragraph (b);

(i)  the website addresses for SEDAR arﬁk@e non-SEDAR website
where the proxy-related materials are posted, '\03

(iv)  areminder to review the informd'(l% circular before voting;

(v) an explanation of how to 'b\a?ln a paper copy of the information
circular and, if applicable, the documents in_@ragraph (2)(b) from the person,;

(vi)y  a plain-language e@aﬁon of notice-and-access that includes the
following information: 0

(A) if erson is using stratification, a list of the types of

registered holders or benef wners who will receive paper copies of the information
circular and, if applicable@ ocuments in paragraph (2)(b);
é) the estimated date and time by which a request for a paper
copy of the inforr? n circular and, if applicable, the documents in paragraph (2)(b), is
to be received/n drder for the requester to receive the paper copy in advance of any
deadline foréghbmission of the proxy and the date of the meeting;

92 (C) an explanation of how the registered holder is to return the
pron uding any deadline for return of the proxy;

N\ (D) the sections of the information circular where disclosure
regarding each matter or group of related matters identified in the notice can be found;

(E) atoll-free telephone number the registered holder can call to
get information about notice-and-access;
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(b)  the registered holder of voting securities is sent, by prepaid mail, courier
or the equivalent, the notice required by paragraph (a) and a form of proxy for use at the
meeting and, in the case of a solicitation by or on behalf of management of the reporting
issuer, the notice and form of proxy are sent at least 30 days before the date of the
meeting;

(c) in the case of a solicitation by or on behalf of management of the reportlng
issuer, the reporting issuer files on SEDAR the notification of meeting and record&[

in the manner and within the time specified by Regulation 54-101 reQ? ing
Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reportl ssuer
(chapter V-1.1, r. 29); '\(b.,

(d) public electronic access to the information circular, form-hf proxy and the
notice in paragraph (a) is provided on or before the date that erson soliciting
proxies sends the notice in paragraph (a) to registered holders in ollowing manner:

0] the documents are filed on SEDAR as réqg‘?ed by section 9.3;

(i) the documents are posted until ate that is one year from the
date that the documents are posted, on a website 0 han the website for SEDAR,;

(e) a toll-free telephone number is p \%lé‘d for use by the registered holder of
voting securities to request a paper copy gl the information circular and, if applicable,
the documents in paragraph (2)(b), at a e from the date that the person soliciting
proxies sends the notice in paragrap, to the registered holder up to and including
the date of the meeting, including journment;

() if a request for er copy of the information circular and, if applicable,
the documents in paragr )(b), is received at the toll-free telephone number
provided under paragra ) or by any other means, a paper copy of any such
document requested '@nt free of charge by the person soliciting proxies to the
requester at the ad@specified in the request in the following manner:

' Q in the case of a request received prior to the date of the meeting,
within 3 bu& days after receiving the request, by first class mail, courier or the
equivale
Qg (i) in the case of a request received on or after the date of the
and within one year of the information circular being filed, within 10 calendar
after receiving the request, by prepaid mail, courier or the equivalent.

(2) Unless an information circular is included with the proxy-related materials, a
reporting issuer that sends proxy-related materials to a registered holder of voting
securities using notice-and-access must not include with the proxy-related materials any
information or document that relates to the particulars of any matter to be submitted to
the meeting, except for the following:
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(@) the information required to be included in the notice under
paragraph (1)(a);

(b)  financial statements of the reporting issuer to be approved at the meeting
and MD&A related to those financial statements, which may be part of an annual report.

(3) A notice under paragraph (1)(a) and the form of proxy may be comblneg\ﬁi)a
single document. (1/

M.O. 2013-01, s. 5. N
N

9.1.2. Posting materials on non-SEDAR website ~\

(1) A person that posts proxy-related materials in the r@wr referred to in
subparagraph 9.1.1(1)(d)(ii) must also post on the website the@owing documents:

(@) any disclosure material regarding the meetmg that the person has sent to
registered holders or beneficial owners of voting secu

(b) any written communications the ‘l{)n soliciting proxies has made

available to the public regarding each matter ONJ up of matters to be voted upon at the
meeting, whether or not they were sent tqeglstered holders or beneficial owners of

voting securities. Q.

(2) Proxy-related materials that &@Ygsted under subparagraph 9.1.1(1)(d)(ii)) must
be posted in a manner and be j rmat that permit an individual with a reasonable
level of computer skill and kn e to do all of the following easily:

(@) access, re é& search the documents on the website;

(b) doan~ nd print the documents.

M.O. 2013- Ol,<s</
9.1.3. CoQQt to other delivery methods

Qggreater certainty, section 9.1.1 does not

N\ (@) prevent a registered holder of voting securities from consenting to a
person’s use of other delivery methods to send proxy-related materials;

(b)  terminate or modify a consent that a registered holder of voting securities

previously gave to a person regarding the use of other delivery methods to send proxy-
related materials; or
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(c) prevent a person from sending proxy-related materials using a delivery
method to which a registered holder has consented prior to February 11, 2013.

M.O. 2013-01, s. 5.
9.1.4. Instructions to receive paper copies

(2) Despite section 9.1.1, a reporting issuer may obtain standing instructions f;@a
registered holder of voting securities that a paper copy of the information circul if
applicable, the documents in paragraph 9.1.1(2)(b), be sent to the reglstered der in
all cases when the reporting issuer uses notice-and-access. '\(b.,

(2) If a reporting issuer has obtained standing instructions from &kgistered holder
under subsection (1), the reporting issuer must do both of the follo i@?
;(a) any paper copies

(a) include with the notice required by paragraph 9,
of information circulars and, if applicable, the documen®®\JIT paragraph 9.1.1(2)(b),
required to comply with standing instructions obtained und}j subsection (1);

(b) include with the notice under paragr qﬁb(a) a description, or otherwise
inform the registered holder of, the means by h¥the registered holder may revoke
the registered holder’s standing instructions.

M.O. 201301, s. 5. é
9.1.5. Compliance with SEC Notig-9dnd-Access Rules

A reporting issuer tha Q)n SEC issuer can send proxy-related materials to
registered holders under s% 9.1 using a delivery method permitted under U.S.
federal securities law, if b @ f the following apply:

(@) the S@@suer is subject to, and complies with Rule 14a-16 under the
1934 Act; Q

fdents of Canada do not own, directly or indirectly, outstanding voting
ing more than 50% of the votes for the election of directors, and none of

apply:

0] the majority of the executive officers or directors of the issuer are
rdents of Canada;

(i) more than 50% of the consolidated assets of the issuer are located
in Canada;
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(i) the business of the issuer is administered principally in Canada.

M.O. 2013-01, s. 5.
9.2. Exemptions from Sending Information Circular

(1)  Subsection 9.1(2) does not apply to a solicitation by a person in respect of
securities of which the person is the beneficial owner. N

(2) Paragraph 9.1(2)(b) does not apply to a solicitation if the total nﬁ'r&er of
securityholders whose proxies are solicited is not more than 15. '\(b.,

(3) For the purposes of subsection (2), 2 or more persons who a&é\joint registered
owners of one or more securities are considered to be one security§§der.

(4) Despite paragraph 9.1(2)(b), a person, other than manag nt of a reporting issuer
or a person acting on behalf of management, may sok®{ proxies from registered
securityholders of a reporting issuer without sending an irf@mation circular, if

(@) the solicitation is made to the public bfébadcast, speech or publication;

(b) soliciting proxies by broadcast, w\'éc’h or publication is permitted by the
laws under which the reporting issuer is in%rporated, organized or continued and the
person making the solicitation complieg®yh the requirements, if any, of those laws
relating to the broadcast, speech or pyifpsation;

(c) the person has file ollowing information:

0] the na@and address of the reporting issuer to which the

solicitation relates, ;

(i) formation required under item 2, sections 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4 and
paragraphs (b) aQ of item 5 of Form 51-102F5,

any information required to be disclosed in respect of the
broadcasg)»eech or publication by the laws under which the reporting issuer is
incorp d, organized or continued, and

Q (iv)  acopy of any communication intended to be published; and
S

(d)  the broadcast, speech or publication contains the information referred to in
paragraphs (c)(i) to (iii).

(5) Subsection (4) does not apply to a person that is proposing, at the time of the
solicitation, a significant acquisition or restructuring transaction involving the reporting
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issuer and the person, under which securities of the person, or securities of an affiliate
of the person, are to be changed, exchanged, issued or distributed, unless

(@) the person has filed an information circular or other document containing
the information required by section 14.4 of Form 51-102F5; and

(b)  the solicitation refers to that information circular or other document and
discloses that the circular or other document is on SEDAR. N
(6) Subsection (4) does not apply to a person that is nominating or proﬁb%ng to
nominate, at the time of the solicitation, an individual, including himself mguerself, for
election as a director of the reporting issuer, unless N

(@) the person has filed an information circular or other ment containing
the information required by Form 51-102F5 in respect of the pro nominee; and

(b)  the solicitation refers to that information circ&Q)r other document and
discloses that the circular or other document is on SEDAIRb

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.2; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 20@1%), s. 4.
9.3. Filing of Information Circulars and Pmé}-f&elated Material

A person that is required under th *gulation to send an information circular or
form of proxy to registered security s of a reporting issuer must promptly file a
copy of the information circular, for roxy and all other material required to be sent
by the person in connection with eeting to which the information circular or form of

proxy relates. Q/

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.3; M. 2%08-06, s. 11.

9.3.1. Content of @ation Circular

(1)  Subjec m 8 of Form 51-102F5, if a reporting issuer sends an information
circular to a ityholder under paragraph 9.1(2)(a), the issuer must,

@Q‘disclose all compensation paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or
other%g provided, directly or indirectly, by the issuer, or a subsidiary of the issuer, to
e@ EO and director, in any capacity, including, for greater certainty, all plan and
nd™plan compensation, direct or indirect pay, remuneration, economic or financial
award, reward, benefit, gift or perquisite paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or
otherwise provided to the NEO or director for services provided, directly or indirectly, to
the issuer or a subsidiary of the issuer, and
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(b) include detail and discussion of the compensation, and the decision-
making process relating to compensation, presented in such a way that it provides a
reasonable person, applying reasonable effort, an understanding of

0] how decisions about NEO and director compensation are made,

(i) the compensation paid, made payable, awarded, granted, given or
otherwise provided to each NEO and director, and N

(i) how specific NEO and director compensation relates to tﬁ&verall
stewardship and governance of the reporting issuer. '\(b.,

(2)  The disclosure required under subsection (1) must be prowde{for the periods
set out in, in accordance with, and subject to any exemptions %ut in, Form 51-
102F6, which came into force on December 31, 2008. é

(3) For the purposes of this section, "NEO" and "plan” h&C%e meaning ascribed to
those terms in Form 51-102F6, which came into force on Ojcember 31, 2008.

(4)  This section does not apply to an issuer w(‘vgpect of a financial year ending
before December 31, 2008.
'\

M.O. 2008-18, s. 2; M.O. 2011-05, s. 1. 4

9.4. Content of Form of Proxy

proxies must indicate in bold type whether or not the proxy is solicited by or on
behalf of the managemem?-n e reporting issuer, provide a specifically designated
blank space for dating th of proxy and specify the meeting in respect of which the

proxy is solicited. O

(1) A form of proxy sent to seg \?olders of a reporting issuer by a person soliciting

(2) An inform@?ircular sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer or the form of
proxy to which@ ¥nformation circular relates must

(a dicate in bold-face type that the securityholder has the right to appoint a
person@ epresent the securityholder at the meeting other than the person if any,
desi d in the form of proxy; and

\% (b) contain instructions as to the manner in which the securityholder may
exercise the right referred to in paragraph (a).

(3) If a form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer contains a
designation of a named person as nominee, it must provide an option for the
securityholder to designate in the form of proxy some other person as the
securityholder's nominee.
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(4) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer must provide an
option for the securityholder to specify that the securities registered in the
securityholder's name will be voted for or against each matter or group of related
matters identified in the form of proxy, in the notice of meeting or in an information
circular, other than the appointment of an auditor and the election of directors.

(5) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer may 9@)”
as t

discretionary authority with respect to each matter referred to in subsection 0
which a choice is not specified if the form of proxy or the information circula es in
bold-face type how the securities represented by the proxy will be votedci'buespect of
each matter or group of related matters. N

option for the securityholder to specify that the securities regist In the name of the
securityholder must be voted or withheld from voting in respe@t e appointment of an
auditor or the election of directors.

(6) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting is§ ust provide an

(7)  An information circular sent to securityholders 'ésreporting issuer or the form of
proxy to which the information circular relates must that

(@) the securities represented by t %r?)xy will be voted or withheld from
voting in accordance with the instructions oj_tle securityholder on any ballot that may be

called for; and Q.

(b) if the securityholder e%s a choice under subsection (4) or (6) with
respect to any matter to be acte , the securities will be voted accordingly.

(8 A form of proxy S@f) securityholders of a reporting issuer may confer
discretionary authority wit\respect to

(@) amen@‘@ls or variations to matters identified in the notice of meeting;

and Q

(b) r matters which may properly come before the meeting,
‘OE

ﬁ C) the person by whom or on whose behalf the solicitation is made is not
aware within a reasonable time before the time the solicitation is made that any of those
amendments, variations or other matters are to be presented for action at the meeting;
and

(d) a specific statement is made in the information circular or in the form of
proxy that the proxy is conferring such discretionary authority.
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(9) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer must not confer
authority to vote

(@) for the election of any person as a director of a reporting issuer unless a
bona fide proposed nominee for that election is named in the information circular or, in
the case of a solicitation under subsection 9.2(4), the document required under

paragraph 9.2(6)(a); or (b

(b)  at any meeting other than the meeting specified in the notice of me@n or
any adjournment of that meeting.

4
M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.4; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2010-17, s. 20. \\'\(b
9.5. Exemption ?~
Sections 9.1 to 9.4 do not apply to a reporting issue a person that solicits

proxies from registered holders of voting securities of a rep@NY issuer, if

(@) the reporting issuer or other person cor%{:,&s with the requirements of the
laws relating to the solicitation of proxies und’ﬂ/ hich the reporting issuer is
incorporated, organized or continued; .

(b)  the requirements referred to j s'm)section (a) are substantially similar to
the requirements of this Part; and Q.

(© the reporting issuer oLQtHer person files a copy of any information circular
and form of proxy, or other do Qents that contain substantially similar information,
promptly after the reporting | or other person sends the circular, form or other
document in connection wit eeting.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.5; 6&006-04, s. 30; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 5.

PART 10 REQQETED SECURITY DISCLOSURE

10.1. Restr@ﬁd Security Disclosure

(1) I eporting issuer has outstanding restricted securities, or securities that are
dire r indirectly convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for restricted
s&it es or securities that will, when issued, result in an existing class of outstanding
s&Qurities being considered restricted securities, each document referred to in
subsection (2) must

(@) refer to restricted securities using a term that includes the appropriate
restricted security term;
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(b) not refer to securities by a term that includes "common”, or "preference" or
"preferred", unless the securities are common shares or preference shares,
respectively;

(c) describe any restrictions on the voting rights of restricted securities;

(d)  describe the rights to participate, if any, of holders of restricted securities if
a takeover bid is made for securities of the reporting issuer with voting rights supe 'Gbo
those attached to the restricted securities; Q

(e) state the percentage of the aggregate voting rights attaged to the
reporting issuer's securities that are represented by the class of restridd’ securities;
and

() if holders of restricted securities have no right to @lpate if a takeover
bid is made for securities of the reporting issuer with votin@g ts superior to those
attached to the restricted securities, contain a statement to ffect in bold-face type.

(2)  Subsection (1) applies to the following docume&\

X

(@ aninformation circular; N

(b)  a document required by this &ggulation to be delivered upon request by a
reporting issuer to any of its securityholng nd

(© an AlF prepared by a m\g issuer.

3) Despite subsection (2 ual financial statements, an interim financial report
and MD&A or other acc ying discussion by management of those financial
statements are not req@ include the details referred to in paragraphs (1)(c), (d),

(e) and (f). O

4) Each ref%@ to restricted securities in any document not referred to in
subsection (2 a reporting issuer sends to its securityholders must include the
appropriate fCted security term.

(5) Qg orting issuer must not refer, in any of the documents described in

subs (4), to securities by a term that includes "common" or "preference" or

gr ed", unless the securities are common shares or preference shares,
ctlvely.

(6) Despite paragraph (1)(b) and subsection (5), a reporting issuer may, in one place
only in a document referred to in subsection (2) or (4), describe the restricted securities
by the term used in the constating documents of the reporting issuer, to the extent that
term differs from the appropriate restricted security term, if the description is not on the
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front page of the document and is in the same type face and type size as that used
generally in the document.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 10.1; Erratum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727; M.O. 2008-06, s. 4; M.O. 2010-17,
s. 21.

10.2. Dissemination of Disclosure Documents to Holder of Restricted Securities

(1) If a reporting issuer sends a document to all holders of any class of it '}uity
securities the document must also be sent by the reporting issuer at the sa me to
the holders of its restricted securities. '\(b.,

(2) A reporting issuer that is required by this Regulation to arran e.‘gr, or voluntarily
makes arrangements for, delivery of the documents referred to in %section (1) to the
beneficial owners of any securities of a class of equity securities®g§istered in the name
of a registrant, must make similar arrangements for deliver the documents to the
beneficial owners of securities of a class of restricted secu@ registered in the name
of the registrant. '\03

M.O. 2005-03, s. 10.2. (19

10.3. Exemptions for Certain Reporting Issp\e'}!s”

The provisions of sections 10.1 ar@‘z do not apply to

(@) securities that carry an ?t:) vote subject to a restriction on the number or
percentage of securities that ma oted or owned by persons that are not citizens or
residents of Canada or that %erwise considered as a result of any law applicable
to the reporting issuer to beﬁtanadians, but only to the extent of the restriction; and

(b) securitie@& are subject to a restriction, imposed by any law governing
the reporting issu the level of ownership of the securities by any person or
combination of p S, but only to the extent of the restriction.

s
M.O. 2005-Q8, 810.3; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 3.

PART Q~ADDITIONAL FILING REQUIREMENTS

1]% dditional Disclosure Requirements

(E A reporting issuer must file a copy of any disclosure material
(@) that it sends to its securityholders;

(b) in the case of an SEC issuer, that it files with or furnishes to the SEC
under the 1934 Act, including material filed as exhibits to other documents, if the
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material contains information that has not been included in disclosure already filed in a
jurisdiction by the SEC issuer; or

(c) that it files with another provincial or territorial securities regulatory
authority other than in connection with a distribution.

(2) A reporting issuer must file the material on the same date as, or as soon_as
practicable after, the earlier of N

(@) the date on which the reporting issuer sends the mater@, o its
securityholders; (b.,
N

(b)  the date on which the reporting issuer files or furnishes%ﬂe material to the
SEC,; and

(c) the date on which the reporting issuer files th@naterial with the other
provincial or territorial securities regulatory authority.

(I/Q

11.2. Change of Status Report N

M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 31.

A reporting issuer must file a noticemmptly after the occurrence of either of the

following: Q.

(@) the reporting issuer b S a venture issuer; or

(b) the reporting iss ases to be a venture issuer.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.2. §Q
11.3. Voting Resnép
A reporj g<<s

suer that is not a venture issuer must, promptly following a meeting

of securityh at which a matter was submitted to a vote, file a report that discloses,
for each voted upon

{49 a brief description of the matter voted upon and the outcome of the vote;
a@
N\
(b) if the vote was conducted by ballot, including a vote on a matter in which

votes are cast both in person and by proxy, the number or percentage of votes cast for,
against or withheld from the vote.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.3.
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11.4. Financial Information

A reporting issuer must file a copy of any news release issued by it that discloses
information regarding its historical or prospective financial performance or financial
condition for a financial year or interim period.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 23.
11.5. Re-filing Documents

If a reporting issuer decides it will '\(b.,

(@) re-file a document filed under this Regulation, or A

(b) re-state financial information for comparative @nods in financial
statements for reasons other than retrospective applicat@ of a change in an
accounting standard or policy or a new accounting standard,

and the information in the re-filed document,@e-stated financial information,
will differ materially from the information originallWj¥etl, the issuer must immediately

issue and file a news release authorized by an exe utive officer disclosing the nature
and substance of the change or proposed chang{e\s.

M.O. 2006-04, s. 32; M.O. 2010-17, s. ZAQ~
11.6. Executive Compensation @Y;ure for Certain Reporting Issuers

(1)  Areporting issuer that %not send to its securityholders an information circular
that includes the disclosureﬁ%red by Item 8 of Form 51-102F5 and that does not file
an AIF that includes th cutive compensation disclosure required by Item 18 of
Form 51-102F2 must O§

@) dis:?@'all compensation paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or
wdedd, directly or indirectly, by the issuer, or a subsidiary of the issuer, to

irector, in any capacity, including, for greater certainty, all plan and
ensation, direct or indirect pay, remuneration, economic or financial
rd, benefit, gift or perquisite paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or
provided to the NEO or director for services provided, directly or indirectly, to

(b) include detail and discussion of the compensation, and the decision-
making process relating to compensation, presented in such a way that it provides a
reasonable person, applying reasonable effort, an understanding of

0] how decisions about NEO and director compensation are made,
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(i) the compensation paid, made payable, awarded, granted, given or
otherwise provided to each NEO and director, and

(i)  how specific NEO and director compensation relates to the overall
stewardship and governance of the reporting issuer.

(2)  The disclosure required under subsection (1) must be provided for the periods

set out in, and in accordance with Form 51-102F6, which came into for n
December 31, 2008. Q
(3) The disclosure required under subsection (1) must be fil fot  later

than 140 days after the end of the reporting issuer's most recently comf¥red financial
year.

4) For the purposes of this section, "NEO" and "plan” have tlﬁ@heaning ascribed to
those terms in Form 51-102F6, which came into force on Dec@er 31, 2008.

(5) This section does not apply to an issuer that f3gtisfies securities legislation
requirements relating to information circulars, pro@amd proxy solicitation under
section 4.6 or 5.7 of Regulation 71-102 respectin ntinuous Disclosure and Other
Exemptions Relating to Foreign Issuers (chapter'{-%. , 1. 37).

(6)  This section does not apply to an J&uer in respect of a financial year ending
before December 31, 2008. Q.

M.O. 2008-18, s. 4; M.O. 2011-05, 3 v
PART 12 FILING OF CEI@ DOCUMENTS
12.1. Filing of Docum@%ﬁecting the Rights of Securityholders

(1) A reporting Q’ﬁ’@ must file copies of the following documents, and any material
amendments to t owing documents, unless previously filed:

(@) Lles of incorporation, amalgamation, continuation or any other
constatin stablishing documents of the issuer, unless the constating or establishing
docum@ a statutory or regulatory instrument;

\% b) by-laws or other corresponding instruments currently in effect;

(c) any securityholder or voting trust agreement that the reporting issuer has
access to and that can reasonably be regarded as material to an investor in securities of
the reporting issuer;

(d)  any securityholders' rights plans or other similar plans; and
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(e)  any other contract of the issuer or a subsidiary of the issuer that creates or
can reasonably be regarded as materially affecting the rights or obligations of its
securityholders generally.

(2) A document required to be filed under subsection (1) may be filed in paper format

(@) it is dated before June 1, 2005; and ,\(b
(b) it does not exist in an acceptable electronic format. (19
M.O. 2005-03, s. 12.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 33. '\(bﬂ
12.2. Filing of Material Contracts ?:\

(2) Unless previously filed, a reporting issuer must file a@terial contract entered

into
N

(@  within the last financial year; or Q
(b) before the last financial year if that Qag(ial contract is still in effect.

(2) Despite subsection (1), a reporting\issuer is not required to file a material
contract entered into in the ordinary courQ.Q business unless the material contract is

(&) a contract to which digclrs, officers, or promoters are parties other than
a contract of employment;

(b)  a continuing %(ct to sell the majority of the reporting issuer’s products
or services or to purchase\tl*e majority of the reporting issuer’s requirements of goods,
services, or raw mate@

(c) a frqr Se or licence or other agreement to use a patent, formula, trade
secret, proces ade name;

flnancmg or credit agreement with terms that have a direct correlation
with an ted cash distributions;
\% e) an external management or external administration agreement; or

() a contract on which the reporting issuer's business is substantially
dependent.

(3) A provision in a material contract filed pursuant to subsections (1) or (2) may be
omitted or marked to be unreadable if an executive officer of the reporting issuer
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reasonably believes that disclosure of that provision would be seriously prejudicial to the
interests of the reporting issuer or would violate confidentiality provisions.

(4) Subsection (3) does not apply if the provision relates to:
(@) debt covenants and ratios in financing or credit agreements;

(b)  events of default or other terms relating to the termination of the mﬂﬁbal

contract; or Q

(c) other terms necessary for understanding the impact of material
contract on the business of the reporting issuer. N
(5) If a provision is omitted or marked to be unreadable und section (3), the
reporting issuer must include a description of the type of inf lon that has been

omitted or marked to be unreadable immediately after the pr@sion in the copy of the
material contract filed by the reporting issuer.

(6) Despite subsections (1) and (2), a reportin%%’suer is not required to file a
material contract entered into before January 1, 20

)

M.O. 2005-03, s. 12.2; M.O. 2008-06, s. 5. N
12.3. Time for Filing of Documents é

The documents required to ha\fiy2d under sections 12.1 and 12.2 must be filed no
later than the time the reporting j files a material change report in Form 51-102F3,
if the making of the document itutes a material change for the issuer, and

(@) no later tha gtime the reporting issuer's AlF is filed under section 6.1, if
the document was ma@adopted before the date of the issuer's AlF; or

(b) if thgﬁ%rting issuer is not required to file an AlF under section 6.1, within
120 days afteyjh® end of the issuer's most recently completed financial year, if the

documenw de or adopted before the end of the issuer's most recently completed
financial .

M.O.@%—O’S, s. 12.3; Erratum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727.

PXRT 13 EXEMPTIONS

13.1. Exemptions from this Regulation

(2) The securities regulatory authority may grant an exemption from this Regulation,

in whole or in part, subject to such conditions or restrictions as may be imposed in the
exemption.
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(2) Despite subsection (1), in Ontario only the regulator may grant such an
exemption.

(3) Except in Ontario, an exemption referred to in subsection (1) is granted under the
statute referred to in Appendix B of Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions
(chapter V-1.1, r. 3), opposite the name of the local jurisdiction.

N

M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 34; M.O. 2008-18, s. 6 and 13. Q

13.2. Existing Exemptions N
N

(1) A reporting issuer that was entitled to rely on an exemption, w&lver or approval
granted to it by a securities regulatory authority relating to uous disclosure
requirements of securities legislation or securities directions exis mmediately before
this Regulation came into force is exempt from any substantiz@similar provision of this
Regulation to the same extent and on the same condition¥N\{ any, as contained in the
exemption, waiver or approval.

(2) A reporting issuer must, at the time that it flrsrk%nds to rely on subsection (1) in
connection with a filing requirement under egulation, inform the securities
regulatory authority in writing of

(@) the general nature of the pg eS(emption, waiver or approval and the date

on which it was granted; and ?~

(b) the requirement und Q'br securities legislation or securities directions in
respect of which the prior ex n, waiver or approval applied and the substantially
similar provision of this Re n.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.20®

13.3. Exemptio&Certain Exchangeable Security Issuers

In thif%ﬁon:

'ﬁgnated Canadian jurisdiction" means Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba,
New swick, Nova Scotia, Ontario, Québec, or Saskatchewan;

\s "designated exchangeable security" means an exchangeable security which
provides the holder of the security with economic and voting rights which are, as nearly
as possible except for tax implications, equivalent to the underlying securities;

"exchangeable security” means a security of an issuer that is exchangeable for,

or carries the right of the holder to purchase, or of the parent issuer to cause the
purchase of, an underlying security;
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"exchangeable security issuer" means a person that has issued an exchangeable
security;

"parent issuer”, when used in relation to an exchangeable security issuer, means
the person that issues the underlying security; and

"underlying security" means a security of a parent issuer issued or transferrf\ﬁb)r
to be issued or transferred, on the exchange of an exchangeable security. Q

(2)  An exchangeable security issuer satisfies the requirements in this Re'%llation if

(@) the parent issuer is the beneficial owner of all the issued.\@nd outstanding

voting securities of the exchangeable security issuer; §?~
(b)  the parent issuer is either O
0] an SEC issuer with a class of secur listed or quoted on a U.S.

marketplace that has filed all documents it is required 4 Ne with the SEC; or

(i) a reporting issuer in a des,g‘r;gkd Canadian jurisdiction that has
filed all documents it is required to file under thie\ gulation;

(© the exchangeable security @r does not issue any securities, and does
not have any securities outstanding, otl?u han

0] designated ngeable securities;

(i) securitiQ%éued to and held by the parent issuer or an affiliate of

the parent issuer; ;

(i) securities issued to and held by banks, loan corporations, loan
and investment %ﬁtions, savings companies, trust corporations, treasury branches,
savings or cregh ions, financial services cooperatives, insurance companies or other
financial ins&rs; or

nt in section 2.35 and registration requirement in section 3.35 of
ReQylation 45-106 respecting Prospectus  and Registration Exemptions
(Eh pter V-1.1, r. 21);

QQE (iv)  securities issued under exemptions from the prospectus
requi

(d) the exchangeable security issuer files in electronic format,

(1) if the parent issuer is not a reporting issuer in a designated
Canadian jurisdiction, copies of all documents the parent issuer is required to file with
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the SEC under the 1934 Act, at the same time as, or as soon as practicable after, the
filing by the parent issuer of those documents with the SEC; or

(i) if the parent issuer is a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian
jurisdiction,

(A) a notice indicating that the exchangeable security issuer is
relying on the continuous disclosure documents filed by its parent issuer and setti t
where those documents can be found in electronic format, if the parent is&@ a
reporting issuer in the local jurisdiction; or

M)

(B) copies of all documents the parent issuer is &ired to file
under securities legislation, other than in connection with a distributiorsgt the same time
as the filing by the parent issuer of those documents with a ?ﬂrities regulatory
authority; §

(e) the exchangeable security issuer concurrenﬁ‘C?ends to all holders of
designated exchangeable securities all disclosure mat that are sent to holders of
the underlying securities in the manner and at the timgéquired by

0] U.S. laws and any U.S. rr,qlke place on which securities of the
parent issuer are listed or quoted, if the parpqt ssuer is not a reporting issuer in a
designated Canadian jurisdiction; or

(i) securities legisla 'G§(~the parent issuer is a reporting issuer in a
designated Canadian jurisdiction;

(1) c@ with U.S. laws and the requirements of any U.S.

) the parent issue

marketplace on whic securities of the parent issuer are listed or quoted if the
parent issuer is reporting issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction, or
securities Iegisla'%’?rthe parent issuer is a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian
jurisdiction, inespect of making public disclosure of material information on a timely
basis; and @

Qz (i) immediately issues in Canada and files any news release that
discl a material change in its affairs;

\é () the exchangeable security issuer issues in Canada a news release and
files a material change report in accordance with Part 7 of this Regulation for all material
changes in respect of the affairs of the exchangeable security issuer that are not also
material changes in the affairs of its parent issuer; and

(h)  the parent issuer includes in all mailings of proxy solicitation materials to
holders of designated exchangeable securities a clear and concise statement that
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(1) explains the reason the mailed material relates solely to the parent
issuer;

(i) indicates that the designated exchangeable securities are the
economic equivalent to the underlying securities; and

(i)  describes the voting rights associated with the desigp\ﬁbd
exchangeable securities. Q

(3) The insider reporting requirement and the requirement to file an imgjder profile
under National Instrument 55-102 System for Electronic Disclosurt\#y Insiders
(chapter V-1.1, r. 30) does not apply to any insider of an exchangeablegecurity issuer in
respect of securities of the exchangeable security issuer so long @

(@) if the insider is not the parent issuer, &O

(1) the insider does not receive, in the inary course, information as
to material facts or material changes concerning th nt issuer before the material
facts or material changes are generally disclosed, a

(i) the insider is not an insid{rh\o’f the parent issuer in any capacity
other than by virtue of being an insider of tlj%exc angeable security issuer;

(b) the parent issuer is §e~neficial owner of all of the issued and
outstanding voting securities of the ngeable security issuer;

(c) if the insider is t@?rent issuer, the insider does not beneficially own any
designated exchangeable flies other than securities acquired through the exercise
of the exchange right an@ subsequently traded by the insider;

(d) the p@ssuer is an SEC issuer or a reporting issuer in a designated
, an

Canadian jurisdi%b d
(e) exchangeable security issuer has not issued any securities and does
not have ecurities outstanding, other than

QO 0] designated exchangeable securities;

\s (i) securities issued to and held by the parent issuer or an affiliate of
the parent issuer;

(i)  debt securities issued to and held by banks, loan corporations, loan
and investment corporations, savings companies, trust corporations, treasury branches,
savings or credit unions, financial services cooperatives, insurance companies or other
financial institutions; and
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(iv)  securities issued wunder exemptions from the prospectus
requirement in section 2.35 and registration requirement in section 3.35 of
Regulation 45-106 respecting Prospectus and Registration Exemptions.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 35; M.O. 2008-06, s. 6 and 11; M.O. 2009-05,
s. 1.
,{b

(1)  Inthis section: '\(b )

13.4. Exemption for Certain Credit Support Issuers

"alternative credit support® means support, other than a g-ukrantee, for the
payments to be made by the issuer, as stipulated in the terms of curities or in an
agreement governing rights of, or granting rights to, holders of th urities that

(@) obliges the person providing the support to pﬁ@e the issuer with funds
sufficient to enable the issuer to make the stipulated pa@ts, or

(b)  entitles the holder of the securities ta”!rf ive, from the person providing
the support, payment if the issuer fails to make aystiptflated payment;

"credit support issuer" means an |S§%'} securities for which a credit supporter
has provided a guarantee or alternative support;

"credit supporter" means a @Y}hat provides a guarantee or alternative credit
support for any of the paymen made by an issuer of securities as stipulated in
the terms of the securities or % agreement governing rights of, or granting rights to,
holders of the securities; Q

"designated C@%n jurisdiction” means Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba,
New Brunswick,%%‘ cotia, Ontario, Québec or Saskatchewan; "designated credit

support securitie ans
@) ~convertible debt securities or convertible debt securities that are
convertiblgQro non-convertible securities of the credit supporter; or
<< non-convertible preferred shares or convertible preferred shares that are

g ible into securities of the credit supporter, in respect of which a parent credit
orter has provided

(c) alternative credit support that
0] entitles the holder of the securities to receive payment from the

credit supporter, or enables the holder to receive payment from the credit support
issuer, within 15 days of any failure by the credit support issuer to make a payment; and
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(i) results in the securities receiving the same credit rating as, or a
higher credit rating than, the credit rating they would have received if payment had been
fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the credit supporter, or would result in the
securities receiving such a rating if they were rated; or

(d) a full and unconditional guarantee of the payments to be made by the
credit support issuer, as stipulated in the terms of the securities or in an agre t
governing the rights of holders of the securities, that results in the holder ch
securities being entitled to receive payment from the credit supporter within 1Q%§\ys of
any failure by the credit support issuer to make a payment; '\(b.,

"parent credit supporter" means a credit supporter of which the-zkoorting issuer is
a subsidiary;

"subsidiary credit supporter” means a credit supporter@t Is a subsidiary of the
parent credit supporter; and

"summary financial information™ includes the fo@ing line items:

X

@) revenue; N

(b) profit or loss from continuir]gkoperations attributable to owners of the

parent; Q.

(© profit or loss attributaske)?(;wners of the parent; and
(d) unless the acw principles used to prepare the financial statements

of the person permits the ration of the person's statement of financial position
without classifying assets®n® liabilities between current and non-current and the person
provides alternative n@gful financial information which is more appropriate to the

industry, 2
Q)'</Q current assets;
Q_ fl) non-current assets;

Q (i) current liabilities; and
\% (iv)  non-current liabilities.

(1.1) For the purposes of subparagraph (2)(g)(ii), consolidating summary financial
information must be prepared on the following basis:
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(@ an entity’s annual or interim summary financial information must be
derived from the entity’s financial information underlying the corresponding consolidated
financial statements of the parent credit supporter for the corresponding period;

(b)  the parent credit supporter column must account for investments in all
subsidiaries under the equity method; and

(© all subsidiary entity columns must account for investments in non-f\fé‘yit
supporter subsidiaries under the equity method. Q

(2) Except as provided in this section, a credit support issuer %t(}/es the
requirements in this Regulation if

(@) the parent credit supporter is the beneficial owner f?ﬂ the outstanding
voting securities of the credit support issuer; é

(b)  the parent credit supporter is either &

0] an SEC issuer that is incorporat%}r organized under the laws of
the United States of America or any state or territony;l( he United States of America or
the District of Columbia and that has filed all docurhents it is required to file with the
SEC,; or N

(i) a reporting issuer i %esignated Canadian jurisdiction that has
filed all documents it is required to file, t&this Regulation;

(c) the credit support i does not issue any securities, and does not have
any securities outstanding, ot an

(1) des@%d credit support securities;

(i) @rities issued to and held by the parent credit supporter or an
affiliate of the parQ redit supporter;

| debt securities issued to and held by banks, loan corporations, loan
and inve corporations, savings companies, trust corporations, treasury branches,
savi ﬂ redit unions, financial services cooperatives, insurance companies or other
flnan% stitutions; or

(iv)  securities issued wunder exemptions from the prospectus
requwement in section 2.35 and registration requirement in section 3.35 of
Regulation 45-106 respecting Prospectus and Registration Exemptions
(chapter V-1.1, r. 21);

(d)  the credit support issuer files in electronic format,
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0] if the parent credit supporter is not a reporting issuer in a
designated Canadian jurisdiction, copies of all documents the parent credit supporter is
required to file with the SEC under the 1934 Act, at the same time or as soon as
practicable after the filing by the parent credit supporter of those documents with the
SEC; or

(i) if the parent credit supporter is a reporting issuer in a designated
Canadian jurisdiction, N

(A) a notice indicating that the credit support issuer is @919 on
the continuous disclosure documents filed by the parent credit supporter aglsetting out
where those documents can be found for viewing in electronic formal\If the credit
support issuer is a reporting issuer in the local jurisdiction; or

(B) copies of all documents the pare@redit supporter is
required to file under securities legislation, other than in congeytion with a distribution,
at the same time as the filing by the parent credit supportef(Q ose documents with a
securities regulatory authority; '\03

(e) if the parent credit supporter is not onrting issuer in a designated
Canadian jurisdiction, the parent credit supporter'\ .

0] complies with U.S. s ‘and the requirements of any U.S.
marketplace on which securities of the t credit supporter are listed or quoted in
respect of making public disclosure of, rial information on a timely basis; and

(i) immediately !%ues in Canada and files any news release that
air

discloses a material change ir&f irs;

() the credit s rt issuer issues in Canada a news release and files a
material change repo@:cordamce with Part 7 for all material changes in respect of
the affairs of the cr pport issuer that are not also material changes in the affairs of
the parent credit Q%Brter;

(@)

credit support issuer files, in electronic format, in the notice referred to
Y(A) or in or with the copy of each consolidated interim financial report and
annual financial statements filed under subparagraph (d)(i) or
(i(B), either

\s 0] a statement that the financial results of the credit support issuer are
included in the consolidated financial results of the parent credit supporter, if at that
time,

(A) the credit support issuer has minimal assets, operations,

revenue or cash flows other than those related to the issuance, administration and
repayment of the securities described in paragraph (c), and
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(B) each item of the summary financial information of the
subsidiaries of the parent credit supporter on a combined basis, other than the credit
support issuer, represents less than 3% of the corresponding items on the consolidated
financial statements of the parent credit supporter being filed or referred to under
paragraph (d), or

(i) for the periods covered by the consolidated interim financial ;%‘@rt
or consolidated annual financial statements of the parent credit suppog@ ed,

consolidating summary financial information for the parent credit supporter ented
with a separate column for each of the following: '\(b.,
(A) the parent credit supporter; A

(B)  the credit support issuer; &

(C) any other subsidiaries of the pég@Q credit supporter on a
combined basis; '\03

(D)  consolidating adjustmenGl/gmd

(E) the total consolidath??ﬁ’ounts;

(h) the credit support issuer fi Acorrected notice under clause (d)(ii)(A) if
the credit support issuer filed th tice with the statement contemplated in
subparagraph (g)(i) and the )* support issuer can no longer rely on
subparagraph (g)(i); @é

0] in the case o@gnated credit support securities that include debt, the
credit support issuer conguriently sends to all holders of such securities all disclosure
materials that are se@olders of similar debt of the parent credit supporter in the
manner and at the quired by

Q U.S. laws and any U.S. marketplace on which securities of the
porter are listed or quoted, if the parent credit supporter is not a
r in a designated Canadian jurisdiction; or

parent credj
reporting ¢

(i) securities legislation, if the parent credit supporter is a reporting

i%ﬁn a designated Canadian jurisdiction; and
N\

() in the case of designated credit support securities that include preferred
shares, the credit support issuer concurrently sends to all holders of such securities all
disclosure materials that are sent to holders of similar preferred shares of the parent
credit supporter in the manner and at the time required by
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0] U.S. laws and any U.S. marketplace on which securities of the
parent credit supporter are listed or quoted, if the parent credit supporter is not a
reporting issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction; or

(i) securities legislation, if the parent credit supporter is a reporting
issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction.

(k) no person other than the parent credit supporter has provided a guar&ﬁ}'ae
or alternative credit support for the payments to be made under any iSSL@ nd
outstanding securities of the credit support issuer. (1,

M)
(2.1) A credit support issuer satisfies the requirements of this Regul tid{?here there
is a parent credit supporter and one or more subsidiary credit supportelif

(@) the conditions in paragraphs (2)(a) to (f), (i), and (j) @:omplied with;

(b)  the parent credit supporter controls each sulSgrary credit supporter and
the parent credit supporter has consolidated the financigf¥atements of each subsidiary
credit supporter into the parent credit supporter’s finadtal statements that are filed or
referred to under paragraph (2)(d); (1/

(© the credit support issuer files, in p@%tr"onic format, in the notice referred to
in clause (2)(d)(ii)(A) or in or with the copy_df each consolidated interim financial report
and the consolidated annual financial s ents filed under subparagraph (2)(d)(i) or
clause (2)(d)(ii))(B), for a period cove any consolidated interim financial report or
consolidated annual financial stat s of the parent credit supporter filed by the

parent credit supporter, consolid ummary financial information for the parent credit
supporter presented with a se@e column for each of the following:
(1) the @gt credit supporter;
(i) é@redit support issuer;
(Q/Q each subsidiary credit supporter on a combined basis;

Q_ fv)  any other subsidiaries of the parent credit supporter on a combined

basis;Q
(v) consolidating adjustments; and
S
(vi)  the total consolidated amounts;
(d) no person, other than the parent credit supporter or a subsidiary credit

supporter has provided a guarantee or alternative credit support for the payments to be
made under the issued and outstanding designated credit support securities; and

82



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM FEBRUARY 11, 2013 TO MAY 13, 2013

(e) the guarantees or alternative credit supports are joint and several.

(2.2) Despite paragraph (2.1)(c), the information set out in a column in accordance
with

(@) subparagraph (2.1)(c)(iv), may be combined with the information set out in
accordance with any of the other columns in paragraph (2.1)(c); if each item of the
summary financial information set out in a column in accordance ,\%h
subparagraph (2.1)(c)(iv) represents less than 3% of the corresponding item the
consolidated financial statements of the parent credit supporter being filed or r@éd to

under paragraph (2)(d), '\(b N

(b)  subparagraph (2.1)(c)(ii) may be combined with the inf@nhation set out in
accordance with any of the other columns in paragraph (2.1)(c)aIM¥e credit support
issuer has minimal assets, operations, revenue or cash flows oth an those related to
the issuance, administration and repayment of the @urities described in
paragraph (2)(c).

(3) The insider reporting requirement and the re@}ment to file an insider profile
under National Instrument 55-102 System for EIec(YP/ Disclosure by Insiders (SEDI)
(chapter V-1.1, r. 30) do not apply to an |nS|der of credit support issuer in respect of
securities of the credit support issuer so long as\

(@) the conditions in paragrap #a) to (c) are complied with;
(b) if the insider is not a ¢ erpporter,
0] the inside&s not receive, in the ordinary course, information as

to material facts or materiaQg ges concerning a credit supporter before the material
facts or material change§e enerally disclosed, and

(i) @nsider is not an insider of a credit supporter in any capacity
other than by virt eing an insider of the credit support issuer; and

(c) it W insider is a credit supporter, the insider does not beneficially own any
designat dit support securities;
(4) arent credit supporter is not a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian

ion for the purposes of subparagraph (2)(b)(ii) if the parent credit supporter

Iles with a requirement of this Regulation by relying on a provision of

Regulatlon 71-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure and Other Exemptions Relating to
Foreign Issuers (chapter V-1.1, r. 37).

M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.4; Erratum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727; M.O. 2006-04, s. 36; M.O. 2008-
06, s. 7 and 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 7; M.O. 2009-05, s. 2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 26;
M.O. 2012-05, s. 1.
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PART 14 EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION
14.1. Effective Date

(Omitted).

M.O. 2005-03, s. 14.1. ,\‘b

14.2. Transition (19

M)
Despite section 14.1, section 5.7 applies for financial years of th réﬂ((’)?ting issuer
beginning on or after January 1, 2007. f\
\Y

M.O. 2005-03, s. 14.2; Erratum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727; M.O. 2006-

14.3. Transition - Interim Financial Report &O
Q) Despite section 4.4 and paragraph 4.10(2)(CQ523
required to be filed in the year of adopting IFFq/

beginning on or after January 1, 2011 may be filgd

first interim financial report
respect of an interim period

)

@) in the case of a reporting issm %er than a venture issuer, on or before

the earlier of Q.

(1) the 75th day a &end of the interim period; and

(i) the date @g, in a foreign jurisdiction, an interim financial report
for a period ending on the | of the interim period; or

(b) in the cacj@a venture issuer, on or before the earlier of
0] Ql'e 90th day after the end of the interim period; and

| the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, an interim financial report
for a peri ing on the last day of the interim period.

(2) {Sgs,pite subsection 5.1(2), the MD&A required to be filed under subsection 5.1(1)
r%w to the first interim financial report required to be filed in the year of adopting
I in respect of an interim period beginning on or after January 1, 2011 may be filed
on or before the earlier of

(@) the filing deadline for the interim financial report set out in subsection (1);
and
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(b) the date the reporting issuer files the interim financial report under
subsections (1) or 4.3(1), as applicable.

3) Despite subsection 4.6(3), if a registered holder or beneficial owner of securities,
other than debt instruments, of a reporting issuer requests the issuer's first interim
financial report required to be filed in the year of adopting IFRS in respect of an interim
period beginning on or after January 1, 2011, the reporting issuer may send a cop
the required interim financial report and the interim MD&A relating to the |
financial report to the person that made the request, without charge, by the Iater%

@) in the case of a reporting issuer relying on subsection (1), r{gﬂcalendar
days after the filing deadline set out in subsection (1), for the flnan tatements
requested,;

(b) in the case of a reporting issuer not relying on sub n (1), 10 calendar
days after the filing deadline in subparagraph 4.4(a)(i) or 4 @ subsection 4.10(2) or
subsection 14.3(1), as applicable, for the financial stateme uested; and

(c) 10 calendar days after the issuer recelv@he request.

(4)  Subsections (1), (2) and (3) do not apply L,\Q the reporting issuer:

@) is disclosing, for the first time,_4 statement of compliance with International
Accounting Standard 34 Interim FinanciaQ,e orting; and

(b) did not previously file Npdhcial statements that disclosed compliance with
IFRS.

(5)  Subsections (1), (2)§| 3) do not apply if the first interim financial report is in
respect of an interim per'@ ding after March 30, 2012.

M.O. 2010-17, s. ZQ~
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FORM 51-102F1 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

(@) Description of MD&A

company performed during the period covered by the financial statements, and o r
company's financial condition and future prospects. MD&A compleme d
supplements your financial statements, but does not form part of yourt fpiancial

statements. “
N

Your objective when preparing the MD&A should be to improve\your company's
overall financial disclosure by giving a balanced discussion of yo$ pany's financial

MDG&A is a narrative explanation, through the eyes of management, of how your
Zn

performance and financial condition including, without limitation, considerations as
liquidity and capital resources - openly reporting bad news a@l as good news. Your
MD&A should

- help current and prospective investonSbnderstand what the financial
statements show and do not show; (1/

- discuss material information that %/"not be fully reflected in the financial
statements, such as contingent liabilities\ defaults under debt, off-balance sheet
financing arrangements, or other contrao@,], bligations;

- discuss important tr ?;nd risks that have affected the financial
statements, and trends and risk% are reasonably likely to affect them in the future;

and Q/

- provide inf ion about the quality, and potential variability, of your
company's profit or and cash flow, to assist investors in determining if past
performance is indi of future performance.

(b) Date o%&mation

In ring the MD&A, you must take into account information available up to
the dat he MD&A. If the date of the MD&A is not the date it is filed, you must ensure
the d@ Sure in the MD&A is current so that it will not be misleading when it is filed.

(&s Use of "Company"
Wherever this Form uses the word "company”, the term includes other types of

business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business
entities.
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(d) Explain Your Analysis

Explain the nature of, and reasons for, changes in your company's performance.
Do not simply disclose the amount of change in a financial statement item from period
to period. Avoid using boilerplate language. Your discussion should assist the reader to
understand trends, events, transactions and expenditures.

(e) Focus on Material Information ,\(b

Focus your MD&A on material information. You do not need to(b%close
information that is not material. Exercise your judgment when determirr'sg, whether
information is material. \\

® Determination of what is Material Information ?~

Would a reasonable investor's decision whether or "yt to buy, sell or hold
securities in your company likely be influenced or changed information in question
was omitted or misstated? If so, the information is likely m‘%erial.
() Venture Issuers Without Significant Reven‘%g

If your company is a venture issuer withéht %ignificant revenue from operations,

focus your discussion and analysis of fjdancial performance on expenditures and
progress towards achieving your busines@b ctives and milestones.

() Reverse Takeover Transac &

If an acquisition is a re takeover, the MD&A should be based on the reverse
takeover acquirer's financi ments.

(i)  (paragraph rev@

() ResourceQQ@rs

If yo %mpany has mineral projects, your disclosure must comply with

Regulati -101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects
(chaptgf™M.1, r. 15), including the requirement that all scientific and technical
discl be based on a technical report or other information prepared by or under the

sn@v sion of a qualified person.
If your company has oil and gas activities, your disclosure must comply with

Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 23).
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(k) Numbering and Headings

The numbering, headings and ordreing of items included in this Form are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need not be repeated
elsewhere.

() Omitting Information
N

You do not need to respond to any item in this Form that is inapplicable. Q

(m) Defined Terms '\(b.,

If a term is used but not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of ngulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1 . 24) and to
Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). | rm is used in this
Form and is defined in both the securities statute of th cal jurisdiction and in
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure ObligéNQITs, refer to section 1.4 of

Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting Con(’fyous Disclosure Obligations
(Decision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12) for further g

This Form also uses accounting terms t re defined or used in Canadian
GAAP applicable to publicly accountable prlses For further guidance, see
subsections 1.4(7) and (8) of Policy Sjiement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations . Q.

(n)  Plain Language ov

Write the MD&A so t aders are able to understand it. Refer to the plain
language principles listed ection 1.5 of Policy Statement 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure ligations for further guidance. If you use technical terms,
explain them in a clea&;oncise manner.

(o) Availablqur Period Information

If yo e not presented comparative financial information in your financial
statemen our MD&A you must provide prior period information relating to financial
perfor that is available.

(& se of "Financial Condition"

This Form uses the term "financial condition”. Financial condition reflects the
overall health of the company and includes your company's financial position (as shown
on the statement of financial position) and other factors that may affect your company's
liquidity, capital resources and solvency.
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PART 2 CONTENT OF MD&A
Item 1 Annual MD&A
1.1 Date
Specify the date of your MD&A. The date of the MD&A must be no earlier than

the date of the auditor's report on the annual financial statements for your comg@s
most recently completed financial year. (19

1.2  Overall Performance '\(b.,

Provide an analysis of your company's financial condition, finan&al performance
and cash flows. Discuss known trends, demands, commitments, e or uncertainties
that are reasonably likely to have an effect on your company's b ss. Compare your

company's performance in the most recently completed finan year to the prior year's
performance. Your analysis should address at least the follay

(@) operating segments that are reportab@egments as those terms are
described in the issuer's GAAP; (1/

(b) other parts of your business if N °

(1) they have a dispro@nate effect on revenue, profit or loss or
cash needs; or ?~

(i) there are a al or other restrictions on the flow of funds from
one part of your company's b S to another;

(© industry a@nomic factors affecting your company's performance;

(d  why @es have occurred or expected changes have not occurred in
your company's fiiakcial condition and financial performance; and

(e) effect of discontinued operations on current operations.
INSTR@RONS
(@ hen explaining changes in your company's financial condition and results,
i de an analysis of the effect on your continuing operations of any acquisition,
disposition, write-off, abandonment or other similar transaction.
(i) A discussion of financial condition should include important trends and risks that

have affected the financial statements, and trends and risks that are reasonably likely to
affect them in the future.
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(@ii)  Include information for a period longer than 2 financial years if it will help the
reader to better understand a trend.

1.3. Selected Annual Information

(2) Provide the following financial data derived from your company's annual financial
statements for each of the 3 most recently completed financial years: (b

(@) total revenue; Q

(b) profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to O‘(VSG(S of the
parent, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; N

(© profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent, i ?&al and on a per-
share and diluted per-share basis; é

(d) total assets; &O
N

(e) total non-current financial liabilities; andQ

() distributions cash dividends declarg{rg(-share for each class of share.

discontinued operations, changes in ting policies, significant acquisitions or
dispositions and changes in the dire of your business, and any other information
your company believes would enh n understanding of, and would highlight trends
in, financial position and financi rmance.

(2) Discuss the factors that have c%:ﬁe{j\period to period variations including

INSTRUCTIONS QQ/

0] For each of @ most recently completed financial years, indicate the
accounting principl t the financial data has been prepared in accordance with, the
presentation curQ@y~ and the functional currency if different from the presentation

currency. Q/
=)

(i) If ancial data provided was not prepared in accordance with the same
accoun principles for all 3 years, focus the discussion on the important trends and
risks@l ave affected the business.

1® Discussion of Operations

Discuss your analysis of your company's operations for the most recently
completed financial year, including
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(@) total revenue by reportable segment, including any changes in such
amounts caused by selling prices, volume or quantity of goods or services being sold, or
the introduction of new products or services;

(b)  any other significant factors that caused changes in total revenue;
(c) cost of sales or gross profit;

D
(d)  for issuers that have significant projects that have not yet %ted
revenue, describe each project, including your company's plan for the proje d the
status of the project relative to that plan, and expenditures made and ho gse relate
to anticipated timing and costs to take the project to the next stage of the Pxgrect plan;

(e) for resource issuers with producing mines or mine er development,
identify any milestone, including, without limitation, mine expan&s&P plans, productivity
improvements, plans to develop a new deposit, or producti@ecisions, and whether
the milestone is based on a technical report filed under ation 43-101 respecting
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects; '\03

() factors that caused a change in trﬂ%laﬁonship between costs and
revenue, including changes in costs of labour O’K”l erials, price changes or inventory
adjustments; N

(9) commitments, events, risk \uncertainties that you reasonably believe
will materially affect your company's, e performance including total revenue and
profit or loss from continuing operajj ttributable to owners of the parent;

(h)  effect of inflatig % specific price changes on your company's total
revenue and on profit or | %ﬁm continuing operations attributable to owners of the

parent;

0] aco n in tabular form of disclosure you previously made about how
your company going to use proceeds (other than working capital) from any
financing, an [2nation of variances and the impact of the variances, if any, on your
company's @to achieve its business objectives and milestones; and

@2 unusual or infrequent events or transactions.
II@%JCTION
N\
Your discussion under paragraph 1.4(d) should include
0] whether or not you plan to expend additional funds on the project; and

(i) any factors that have affected the value of the project(s) such as change in
commodity prices, land use or political or environmental issues.
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1.5 Summary of Quarterly Results

Provide the following information in summary form, derived from your company's
financial statements, for each of the 8 most recently completed quarters:

(@) total revenue;

&)

(b) profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to owner@’?‘the
parent, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; and

M)
(© profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent, in tot |'a3? on a per-
share and diluted per-share basis. i

Discuss the factors that have caused variations over the@rters necessary to
understand general trends that have developed and the se@nality of the business.

INSTRUCTIONS '\03

0] In the case of the annual MD&A, your mo %ently completed quarter is the
guarter that ended on the last day of your most r cently completed financial year.

becoming a reporting issuer if your com has not prepared financial statements for
those quarters. ?~

(i)  For sections 1.2, 1.3, 1.@1.5 consider identifying, discussing and analyzing
the following factors: Q/

(i) You do not have to provide infcgtz} for a quarter prior to your company

(A) changes inggustomer buying patterns, including changes due to new
technologies and cha@] demographics;

(B) cha(e% in selling practices, including changes due to new distribution
arrangements Q/a eorganization of a direct sales force;

(C)Q_ anges in competition, including an assessment of the issuer's
resour trengths and weaknesses relative to those of its competitors;

D) the effect of exchange rates;
S

(E) changes in pricing of inputs, constraints on supply, order backlog, or other
input-related matters;

(F) changes in production capacity, including changes due to plant closures
and work stoppages;
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(G) changes in volume of discounts granted to customers, volumes of returns
and allowances, excise and other taxes or other amounts reflected on a net basis
against revenue;

(H) changes in the terms and conditions of service contracts;

() the progress in achieving previously announced milestones;

J) for resource issuers with producing mines, identify changes to cagi\flbws
caused by changes in production throughput, head-grade, cut-off grade, m rgical

recovery and any expectation of future changes; and '\(b.,

(K) if you have an equity investee that is significant to yekr company, the
nature of the investment and significance to your company. ?~
SI

(iv)  For each of the 8 most recently completed quarter@w cate the accounting
principles that the financial data has been prepared in acco e with, the presentation
currency and the functional currency if different from the ;ﬁssentation currency.

(v) If the financial data provided was not prepak in accordance with the same
S

accounting principles for all 8 quarters, focus th sion on the important trends and
risks that have affected the business.

1.6 Liquidity Q.
Provide an analysis of your o@ ny's liquidity, including

(@) its ability to gen sufficient amounts of cash and cash equivalents, in
the short term and the lon , to maintain your company's capacity, to meet your

company's planned growtiy oMo fund development activities;
(b)  trend xpected fluctuations in your company's liquidity, taking into
account demandg £8mmitments, events or uncertainties;

(c) éﬁorking capital requirements;

@ liquidity risks associated with financial instruments;
a@ e) if your company has or expects to have a working capital deficiency,
uss its ability to meet obligations as they become due and how you expect it to
remedy the deficiency;

() statement of financial position conditions or profit or loss attributable to
owners of the parent or cash flow items that may affect your company's liquidity;
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(9) legal or practical restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries to transfer funds
to your company and the effect these restrictions have had or may have on the ability of
your company to meet its obligations; and

(n)  defaults or arrears or significant risk of defaults or arrears on

0] distributions or dividends payments, lease payments, interest or

principal payment on debt; ,\0,')
(i) debt covenants; and (19
(bﬂ
(i) redemption or retracton or sinking fund\~payments,

and how your company intends to cure the default or arrearg%address the risk.

INSTRUCTIONS
<O

(1) In discussing your company's ability to generate §%ficient amounts of cash and
cash equivalents you should describe sources of fu@sg and the circumstances that
could affect those sources that are reasonamaé ikely to occur. Examples of
circumstances that could affect liquidity are grarkét or commodity price changes,
economic downturns, defaults on guarantees an@ ontractions of operations.

(i) In discussing trends or expecte %tuations in your company's liquidity and
liquidity risks associated with financial.i ments you should discuss

(A)  provisions in debt Qase or other arrangements that could trigger an
additional funding requiremept early payment. Examples of such situations are
provisions linked to credit ra@ rofit or loss, cash flows or share price; and

(B) circumst that could impair your company's ability to undertake
transaction conside sential to operations. Examples of such circumstances are the
inability to main nvestment grade credit rating, earnings per-share, cash flow or

share price. Q/

@ii) In ggc?ssing your company's working capital requirements you should discuss
situatio@ here your company must maintain significant inventory to meet customers'
deliv@ guirements or any situations involving extended payment terms.

(Mé In discussing your company's statement of financial position conditions or profit
or loss or cash flow items you should present a summary, in tabular form, of contractual
obligations including payments due for each of the next 5 years and thereafter. The
summary and table do not have to be provided if your company is a venture issuer. An
example of a table that can be adapted to your company's particular circumstances
follows:
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Payments Due by Period

Contractual Total Less than 1year | 1-3years 4 -5years After 5 years
Obligations

Debt

Finance Lease
Obligations

Operating Leases

Purchase

Obligations(1) r{b

Other
Obligations(2) (]Q

Total Contractual v
Obligations 0_) A

() Purchase Obligation" means an agreement to purchase goods or services that is ®nforceable and
legally binding on your company that specifies all significant terms, including: fixed inimum quantities
to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the a va'mate timing of the
transaction. &

(2) "Other Obligations" means other financial liabilities reflected onQuidcompany's statement of

financial position. &

The tabular presentation may be accompa éa',) by footnotes to describe
provisions that create, increase or accelerate obligat@s, or other details to the extent

necessary for an understanding of the timing and unt of your company's specified
contractual obligations. N N
1.7  Capital Resources 4

Provide an analysis of your c@y's capital resources, including

(@) commitments for éal expenditures as of the date of your company's
financial statements includin

0] the @ount, nature and purpose of these commitments;
(i) Q@xpected source of funds to meet these commitments; and

@ expenditures not yet committed but required to maintain your
a

company's city, to meet your company's planned growth or to fund development

activitie6Q~

Qb) known trends or expected fluctuations in your company's capital
r@rces, including expected changes in the mix and relative cost of these resources;
an

(c) sources of financing that your company has arranged but not yet used.
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INSTRUCTIONS

0] Capital resources are financing resources available to your company and include
debt, equity and any other financing arrangements that you reasonably consider will
provide financial resources to your company.

(i) In discussing your company's commitments you should discuss any exploration
and development, or research and development expenditures required to maitdin
properties or agreements in good standing. (19

1.8 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements N
N

Discuss any off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are-\easonably likely
to have, a current or future effect on the financial performance org{N®ncial condition of
your company including, without limitation, such considerations quidity and capital

resources.
<O

In your discussion of off-balance sheet arrangen@ts you should discuss their
business purpose and activities, their economic sutﬁnce, risks associated with the
arrangements, and the key terms and conditionsq/ ciated with any commitments.
Your discussion should include N

(@) adescription of the other conm(;ting party(ies);
(b)  the effects of terminatir&?&trrangement;

(c) the amounts recei @e or payable, revenue, expenses and cash flows
resulting from the arrangeme é

the arrangement th d require your company to provide funding under the
arrangement and t@‘ gering events or circumstances that could cause them to arise;

and Q

(d) the nature $&mount5 of any other obligations or liabilities arising from

(e) known event, commitment, trend or uncertainty that may affect the
availabili enefits of the arrangement (including any termination) and the course of
action management has taken, or proposes to take, in response to any such

circu@ nces.

I@RUCTIONS

0] Off-balance sheet arrangements include any contractual arrangement with an
entity not reported on a consolidated basis with your company, under which your
company has

(A) any obligation under certain guarantee contracts;
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(B) aretained or contingent interest in assets transferred to an unconsolidated
entity or similar arrangement that serves as credit, liquidity or market risk support to that
entity for the assets;

(C) any obligation under certain derivative instruments; or

(D) any obligation held by your company in an unconsolidated entit t
provides financing, liquidity, market risk or credit risk support to your com V} or
engages in leasing, hedging activities or, research and development services

company. y\(b N

(i) Contingent liabilities arising out of litigation, arbitration or re u-l&ory actions are
not considered to be off-balance sheet arrangements. %

your

(i)  Disclosure of off-balance sheet arrangements shoul ver the most recently
completed financial year. However, the discussion shoul ress changes from the
previous year where such discussion is necessary to und%tand the disclosure.

(iv)  The discussion need not repeat information @ded in the notes to the financial
statements if the discussion clearly cross-refgrencés to specific information in the
relevant notes and integrates the substance of kg€ notes into the discussion in a manner
that explains the significance of the informgtipn not included in the MD&A.

1.9 Transactions Between Rela@&es
Discuss all transactions k%@en related parties as defined by the issuer's GAAP.

INSTRUCTION QQ/

In discussing gﬁ company's transactions between related parties, your
discussion should 4%. e both qualitative and quantitative characteristics that are
necessary for a erstanding of the transactions' business purpose and economic
substance. Yo®h uld discuss

(A)Qgﬁe relationship and identify the related person or entities;

{49 the business purpose of the transaction;

N\ (C) the recorded amount of the transaction and describe the measurement
basis used; and

(D) any ongoing contractual or other commitments resulting from the
transaction.
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1.10 Fourth Quarter

Discuss and analyze fourth quarter events or items that affected your company's
financial condition, financial performance or cash flows, year-end and other
adjustments, seasonal aspects of your company's business and dispositions of
business segments. If your company has filed separate MD&A for its fourth quarter, you
may satisfy this requirement by incorporating that MD&A by reference. (b

N

1.11 Proposed Transactions Q

Discuss the expected effect on financial condition, financial perfgwance and
cash flows of any proposed asset or business acquisition or disp®sjtion if your
company's board of directors, or senior management who believe thsX confirmation of
the decision by the board is probable, have decided to proceed @h the transaction.
Include the status of any required shareholder or regulatory appr@s.

INSTRUCTION A

You do not have to disclose this infor |o')if, under section 7.1 of
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclos bligations, your company has
fled a Form 51-102F3 Material Change Re)%)[‘t regarding the transaction on a
confidential basis and the report remains confidQn yal.

1.12 Critical Accounting Estimates é

If your company is not a ve ?i;suer, provide an analysis of your company's
critical accounting estimates. Yo lysis should

(@) identify and @(Tbe each critical accounting estimate used by your
company including g

0] @scription of the accounting estimate;

%Q the methodology used in determining the critical accounting
estimate; C)

QE (i)  the assumptions underlying the accounting estimate that relate to
matt@ ghly uncertain at the time the estimate was made,;

N\ (iv)  any known trends, commitments, events or uncertainties that could
materially affect the methodology or the assumptions described; and

(v) if applicable, why the accounting estimate is reasonably likely to
change from period to period and have a material impact on the financial presentation;
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(b)  explain the significance of the accounting estimate to your company's
financial position, changes in financial position and financial performance and identify
the financial statement line items affected by the accounting estimate;

(c) (paragraph revoked);

(d)  discuss changes made to critical accounting estimates during the past 2
financial years including the reasons for the change and the quantitative effect o r
company's overall financial performance and financial statement line items; and Q

(e) identify the reportable segments of your company's busingss, that the
accounting estimate affects and discuss the accounting estimate 0 reportable
segment basis, if your company operates in more than one reportabl gment.
INSTRUCTIONS @

0] An accounting estimate is a critical accounting estim&&%ly if

(A) it requires your company to make as@p lons about matters that are
highly uncertain at the time the accounting estimateq/ ade; and

(B) different estimates that your c 'pﬁﬁy could have used in the current
period, or changes in the accounting estir%e that are reasonably likely to occur from
period to period, would have a materia!&p ct on your company's financial condition,

changes in financial condition or finang rformance.
(i) As part of your descripti each critical accounting estimate, in addition to
gualitative disclosure, you s provide quantitative disclosure when quantitative

information is reasonably a\? e and would provide material information for investors.
Similarly, in your discusor of assumptions underlying an accounting estimate that
relates to matters hi ncertain at the time the estimate was made, you should
provide quantitativ losure when it is reasonably available and it would provide
material informatj or investors. For example, quantitative information may include a
sensitivity ana@ or disclosure of the upper and lower ends of the range of estimates
from which t@ corded estimate was selected.

1.13 ges in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption

iscuss and analyze any changes in your company's accounting policies,
i ding

(@) for any accounting policies that you have adopted or expect to adopt
subsequent to the end of your most recently completed financial year, including
changes you have made or expect to make voluntarily and those due to a change in an
accounting standard or a new accounting standard that you do not have to adopt until a
future date, you should
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0] describe the new standard, the date you are required to adopt it
and, if determined, the date you plan to adopt it;

(i) disclose the methods of adoption permitted by the accounting
standard and the method you expect to use;

(i)  discuss the expected effect on your company's fin%fbal
statements, or if applicable, state that you cannot reasonably estimate the effect@

(iv)  discuss the potential effect on your business, for exaaw.‘technical
violations or default of debt covenants or changes in business practices;

(b) for any accounting policies that you have initially ad ?d during the most
recently completed financial year, you should §

0] describe the events or transactions &Q]ave rise to the initial
adoption of an accounting policy; '\03

(i) describe the accounting policﬂl%at has been adopted and the
method of applying that policy; N

(i) discuss the effect rg%ﬂting from the initial adoption of the
accounting policy on your company's finaQ.j,a position, changes in financial position and
financial performance; ?~

(iv) if your cc@my is permitted a choice among acceptable
accounting policies, Q/

(A) sggte that you made a choice among acceptable alternatives;

é) identify the alternatives;

Q/ (C)  describe why you made the choice that you did; and

(D) discuss the effect, where material, on your company's
financi@ sition, changes in financial position and financial performance under the
altenﬁm s not chosen; and

N\ (v) if no accounting literature exists that covers the accounting for the events
or transactions giving rise to your initial adoption of the accounting policy, explain your
decision regarding which accounting policy to use and the method of applying that
principle.
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INSTRUCTION

You do not have to present the discussion under paragraph 1.13(b) for the initial
adoption of accounting policies resulting from the adoption of new accounting
standards.

1.14 Financial Instruments and Other Instruments (b

For financial instruments and other instruments, Q

(@) discuss the nature and extent of your company's use ag?.,including
relationships among, the instruments and the business purposes that the ve,;

(b) describe and analyze the risks associated with the in @nents;

(c) describe how you manage the risks in pa@raph (b), including a
discussion of the objectives, general strategies and instr s used to manage the
risks, including any hedging activities;

(d) disclose the financial statement cIax&} t|on and amounts of income,
expenses, gains and losses associated with the b{s ment; and

(e)  discuss the significant assunyions made in determining the fair value of
financial instruments, the total amoun financial statement classification of the
change in fair value of financial instr s recognized in profit or loss for the period,
and the total amount and financial ent classification of deferred or unrecognized
gains and losses on financial ins

nts.

INSTRUCTIONS QQ/

0] "Other instrum
financial assets. A
be settled by deli

are instruments that may be settled by the delivery of non-
odity futures contract is an example of an instrument that may
of non-financial assets.

(i) Your ussion under paragraph 1.14(a) should enhance a reader's
understa of the significance of recognized and unrecognized instruments on your
compa financial position, financial performance and cash flows. The information
shou 0 assist a reader in assessing the amounts, timing, and certainty of future

flows associated with those instruments. Also discuss the relationship between
lixXMlity and equity components of convertible debt instruments.

(i)  For purposes of paragraph 1.14(c), if your company is exposed to significant
price, credit or liquidity risks, consider providing a sensitivity analysis or tabular
information to help readers assess the degree of exposure. For example, an analysis of
the effect of a hypothetical change in the prevailing level of interest or currency rates on
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the fair value of financial instruments and future profit or loss and cash flows may be
useful in describing your company's exposure to price risk.

(iv)  For purposes of paragraph 1.14(d), disclose and explain the revenue, expenses,
gains and losses from hedging activities separately from other activities.

1.15 Other MD&A Requirements (b
(@  Your MD&A must disclose that additional information relatin %our

company, including your company's AlF if your company files an AlF, is on AR at
www.sedar.com. (b.,
N

(b)  Your MD&A must also provide the information required&n the following
sections of Regulation 51-102, if applicable:

(1) section 5.3 involving additional disclo@ for venture issuers
without significant revenue;

(i) section 5.4 involving disclosure o@:s?anding share data; and

(i) section 5.7 involving additio;@:g(sclosure for reporting issuers with

significant equity investees. N

(c) Your MD&A must include t &A disclosure required by Regulation 52-
109 respecting Certification of Disclo Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings (chapter
V-1.1, r. 27) and, as applicable, E 2-109F1 Certification of Annual Filings — Full

AIF Certification of Annual Fil Connection with Voluntarily Filed AlF.

ltem 2 Interim M@Q
O

2.1 Date Q’

Specify Aje Mate of your interim MD&A.

2.2 |n@$ﬁwD&A

{(%rim MD&A must update your company's annual MD&A for all disclosure
re@ed by Item 1 except section 1.3. This disclosure must include

Certificate, Form 52-109F1R C tion of Refiled Annual Filings, or Form 52-109F1
i%iﬁ

(@) adiscussion of your analysis of

0] current quarter and year-to-date results including a comparison of
financial performance to the corresponding periods in the previous year;
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(i.0) a comparison of cash flows to the corresponding period in the
previous year;

(i) changes in financial performance and elements of profit or loss
attributable to owners of the parent that are not related to ongoing business operations;

(i)  any seasonal aspects of your company's business that affect its
financial position, financial performance or cash flows; and N
(b) a comparison of your company's interim financial conditionq;?your
company's financial condition as at the most recently completed financial @-end.

INSTRUCTIONS <

0] If the first MD&A you file in this Form (your first MD&A) is@lnterim MD&A, you
must provide all the disclosure called for in Item 1 in vy first MD&A. Base the
disclosure, except the disclosure for section 1.3, on your i financial report. Since
you do not have to update the disclosure required in se€¥9n 1.3 in you interim MD&A,
your first MD&A will provide disclosure under section Nased on your annual financial
statements. Your subsequent interim MD&A for thﬂ'&ar will update your first interim
MD&A.
N

you may assume the reader has access to
your annual MD&A or your first MD&A. not have to duplicate the discussion and
analysis of financial condition in your al MD&A or your first MD&A. For example, if
economic and industry factors are gybytantially unchanged you may make a statement
to this effect.

(i) For the purposes of paragraph 2.2(

(i)  For the purposes &ubparagraph 2.2(a)((), you should generally give
prominence to the curre@m rter.

(iv)  In discussin company's statement of financial position conditions or profit
or loss or cash fl ems for an interim period, you do not have to present a summary,
in tabular forrg,,odall known contractual obligations contemplated under section 1.6.
Instead, yo Id disclose material changes in the specified contractual obligations
during th Im period.

(v) %%rim MD&A prepared in accordance with Item 2 is not required for your
C ahy's fourth quarter as relevant fourth quarter content will be contained in your
codhpany's annual MD&A prepared in accordance with Item 1 (see section 1.10).

(vi)  In your interim MD&A, update the summary of quarterly results in section 1.5 by
providing summary information for the 8 most recently completed quarters.

(vii)  Your annual MD&A may not include all the information in Item 1 if you were a
venture issuer as at the end of your last financial year. If you ceased to be a venture
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issuer during your interim period, you do not have to restate the MD&A you previously
filed. Instead, provide the disclosure for the additional sections in Item 1 that you were
exempt from as a venture issuer in the next interim MD&A you file. Base your disclosure
for those sections on your interim financial report.

2.3  Other Interim MD&A Requirements

Your interim MD&A must include the interim MD&A disclosure requir (fby
Regulation 52-109 respecting Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and@t rim
Filings and, as applicable, Form 52-109F2 Certification of Interim FiIingﬂ,/ Full
Certificate or Form 52-109F2R Certification of Refiled Interim Filings. '\(b.,

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F1; M.O. 2005-25, s. 2; M.O. 2006-04, S.G& M.O. 2007-08,
S. 6; M.O. 2008-17, s. 1, M.O. 2008-18, s. 8 and 13; M.O. 2010-17§ ; M.O. 2011-02,

<O
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FORM 51-102F2 ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Description of AIF

An AIF (annual information form) is required to be filed annually by certain
companies under Part 6 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Discl& e
Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24). An AlF is a disclosure document intended to%o ide
material information about your company and its business at a point in ti n the
context of its historical and possible future development. Your AIF deyqripes your
company, its operations and prospects, risks and other external factors, tH& fmpact your
company specifically.

This disclosure is supplemented throughout the year by @equent continuous
disclosure filings including news releases, material change res, business acquisition

reports, financial statements and management discussion analysis.
(b)  Date of Information Q'\‘b

Unless otherwise specified in this Form th(el/information in your AIF must be
presented as at the last day of your company's\{?fogt recently completed financial year.
If necessary, you must update the informa% in the AIF so it is not misleading when it
is filed. For information presented as y date other than the last day of your
company's most recently completed &Sal year, specify the relevant date in the
disclosure. Qp

(c) Use of "Company" Q/

business organization as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business

entities. Q‘
&

s to "your company" in Iltems 4, 5, 6, 12, 13, 15 and 16 of this Form
to your company, your company's subsidiaries, joint ventures to which
Is a party and entities in which your company has an investment

Wherever this For§ es the word "company"”, the term includes other types of

(dé ocus on Material Information

Focus your AIF on material information. You do not need to disclose information
that is not material. Exercise your judgment when determining whether information is
material. However, you must disclose all corporate and individual cease trade orders,
bankruptcies, penalties and sanctions in accordance with Item 10 and section 12.2 of
this Form.
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(e) Determination of What is Material

Would a reasonable investor's decision whether or not to buy, sell or hold
securities in your company likely be influenced or changed if the information in question
was omitted or misstated? If so, the information is likely material.

()] Incorporating Information by Reference (b
You may incorporate information required to be included in your AIF by r ce

to another document, other than a previous AIF. Clearly identify the r nced

document or any excerpt of it that you incorporate into your AlF. Unl you have

already filed the referenced document or excerpt, including any documen®\jtcorporated
by reference into the document or excerpt, under your SEDAR profie\ you must file it
with your AIF. You must also disclose that the documen ?\ on SEDAR at
www.sedar.com. @

(9) Defined Terms &O

If a term is used but not defined in this Form, r%\?’g Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations an Regulation 14-101 respecting
Definitions (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is use s Form and is defined in both the
securities statute of a local jurisdiction and |n Iatlon 51-102 respecting Continuous
Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1* olicy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obllg@n (Decision 2006-PDG-0229, 2006-12-12)
for further guidance. v

This Form also uses ac ing terms that are defined or used in Canadian
GAAP applicable to publlc ountable enterprises. For further guidance, see
subsections 1.4(7) and (%t Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure O ions.

(h)  Plain Lanqu;O

Write t F so that readers are able to understand it. Refer to the plain
language pg¢ es listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
[ tinuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you use technical
in them in a clear and concise manner.

(i)e pecial Purpose Entities
N\
If your company is a special purpose entity, you may have to modify the

disclosure items in this Form to reflect the special purpose nature of your company's
business.
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() Numbering and Headings

The numbering, headings and ordering of items included in this Form are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need not be repeated
elsewhere.

(k) Omitting Information

You do not need to respond to any item in this Form that is inapplicable @/ou
may omit negative answers.

“
PART 2 CONTENT OF AIF '\(b

ltem 1 Cover Page §
O

1.1 Date

Specify the date of your AIF. The date must be earlier than the date of the
auditor's report on the financial statements for your c ny's most recently completed

financial year. (1/

You must file your AIF within 10 days oan'éd"ate of the AIF.

If you revise your companf@?l; after you have filed it, identify the revised

1.2 Revisions

version as a "revised AlF".

ltem 2 Table of Con@{%’
2.1 Table of Cont@

Include a of contents.

Item 3 é(porate Structure
3.1 @Address and Incorporation

( tate your company's full corporate name or, if your company is an
uNNcorporated entity, the full name under which it exists and carries on business, and
the address(es) of your company's head and registered office.

(2) State the statute under which your company is incorporated, continued or

organized or, if your company is an unincorporated entity, the laws of the jurisdiction or
foreign jurisdiction under which it is established and exists. Describe the substance of
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any material amendments to the articles or other constating or establishing documents
of your company.

3.2 Intercorporate Relationships

Describe, by way of a diagram or otherwise, the intercorporate relationships
among your company and its subsidiaries. For each subsidiary state: (b

(@) the percentage of votes attaching to all voting securities of the su@ydiary
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by your com ;

M)
(b) the percentage of each class of restricted securities of h\‘g)subsidiary
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by@ company; and

(c) where it was incorporated, continued, formed or org@)ed.
INSTRUCTION &O

You may omit a particular subsidiary if, at the mos@ent financial year-end of your

company, (1/

(1) the total assets of the subsidiary do nol\e'}c?eed 10% of the consolidated assets
of your company; 4

(i) the revenue of the subsidiary a;ot exceed 10% of the consolidated revenue
of your company; and

(i)  the conditions in paragt, (i) and (ii) would be satisfied if you

(A) aggregate@gsubsidiaries that may be omitted under paragraphs (i) and

(i), and
O

(B) cha@%'the reference in those paragraphs from 10% to 20% .

Item 4 éﬁeral Development of the Business

4.1 & History

ﬁ escribe how your company's business has developed over the last 3 completed
fincial years. Include only events, such as acquisitions or dispositions, or conditions
that have influenced the general development of the business. If your company
produces or distributes more than one product or provides more than one kind of
service, describe the products or services. Also discuss changes in your company's
business that you expect will occur during the current financial year.
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4.2  Significant Acquisitions

Disclose any significant acquisition completed by your company during its most
recently completed financial year for which disclosure is required under Part 8 of
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations, by providing a brief
summary of the significant acquisition and stating whether your company has filed a
Form 51-102F4 in respect of the acquisition.

N

5.1 General (bfllg
N

Describe the business of your company and its operating sehments that are
reportable segments as those terms are described in the iss@GAAP. For each

ltem 5 Describe the Business

reportable segment include:

(@ Summary - For products or services, &O

S
N
(19

(i) distribution methods; N

0] their principal markets;

(i) for each of the 2 mostikgently completed financial years, as dollar
amounts or as percentages, the revenu ach category of products or services that
accounted for 15% or more of total c&dated revenue for the applicable financial
year derived from 0

A. sal transfers to joint ventures in which your company is
a participant or to entities i cth your company has an investment accounted for by
the equity method, ;

\ sales to customers, other than those referred to in clause A,
outside the cons ed entity, and

C)Q/ C. sales or transfers to controlling shareholders;

servi

Qa (iv)  if not fully developed, the stage of development of the products or
Qs nd, if the products are not at the commercial production stage

\s A. the timing and stage of research and development
programs,
B. whether your company is conducting its own research and

development, is subcontracting out the research and development or is using a
combination of those methods, and
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C. the additional steps required to reach commercial production
and an estimate of costs and timing.

(b) Production and Services - The actual or proposed method of production
and, if your company provides services, the actual or proposed method of providing
services.

(c) Specialized Skill and Knowledge - A description of any spemahze&%ﬂl
and knowledge requirements and the extent to which the skill and knowle are
available to your company.

M)
(d) Competitive Conditions - The competitive conditions in ybu(pcompany's
principal markets and geographic areas, including, if reason possible, an
assessment of your company's competitive position.

(e) New Products - If you have publicly announcec@e Introduction of a new
product, the status of the product.

() Components - The sources, pricing %&savailability of raw materials,
component parts or finished products. (1/

(9) Intangible Properties - The imp {&fée, duration and effect of identifiable
intangible properties, such as brand nam%il circulation lists, copyrights, franchises,
licences, patents, software, subscription nd trademarks, on the segment.

(h) Cycles - The extent th the business of the reportable segment is
cyclical or seasonal.

0] Economic D%ﬂence A description of any contract upon which your
company's business is sugstantially dependent, such as a contract to sell the major part
of your company's prq, or services or to purchase the major part of your company's
requirements for g services or raw materials, or any franchise or licence or other
agreement to us atent, formula, trade secret, process or trade name upon which
your company, iness depends.

(j)q_ hanges to Contracts -A description of any aspect of your company's
busme@ at you reasonably expect to be affected in the current financial year by
rene@ lon or termination of contracts or sub-contracts, and the likely effect.

\% (k) Environmental Protection - The financial and operational effects of
environmental protection requirements on the capital expenditures, profit or loss and
competitive position of your company in the current financial year and the expected
effect in future years.
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)] Employees - The number of employees as at the most recent financial
year-end or the average number of employees over the year, whichever is more
meaningful to understand the business.

(m) Foreign Operations - Describe the dependence of your company and
any reportable segment upon foreign operations.

(n) Lending - With respect to your company's lending operations, disclo e(be
investment policies and lending and investment restrictions. Q

(2) Bankruptcy and Similar Procedures - Disclose the nature and rggpdts of any
bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings against the company™g“any of its
subsidiaries, or any voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar eedings by the
company or any of its subsidiaries, within the 3 most recently co %ed financial years
or during or proposed for the current financial year. @

(3) Reorganizations - Disclose the nature and results O&Qmaterial reorganization
of your company or any of its subsidiaries within the 3 mo‘%recently completed financial
years or completed during or proposed for the currentAOancial year.

(4)  Social or Environmental Policies - If yqur cdmpany has implemented social or
environmental policies that are fundamenta}\t °§/our operations, such as policies
regarding your company's relationship witt_he environment or with the communities in
which it does business, or human righQQ, icies, describe them and the steps your
company has taken to implement the v

5.2 Risk Factors
Q)%

Disclose risk factor ing to your company and its business, such as cash
flow and liquidity probleggsy if any, experience of management, the general risks
inherent in the busin rried on by your company, environmental and health risks,
reliance on key pey, [, regulatory constraints, economic or political conditions and
financial history ny other matter that would be most likely to influence an investor's
decision to pugehase securities of your company. If there is a risk that securityholders of
your compa y become liable to make an additional contribution beyond the price of
the secury fSclose that risk.

INSTQQHONS

(|')\s Disclose the risks in order of seriousness from the most serious to the least
serious.

(i) A risk factor should not be de-emphasized by including excessive caveats or
conditions.
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5.3 Companies with Asset-backed Securities Outstanding

If your company had asset-backed securities outstanding that were distributed
under a prospectus, disclose the following information:

(2) Payment Factors - A description of any events, covenants, standards or
preconditions that may reasonably be expected to affect the timing or amount of any
payments or distributions to be made under the asset-backed securities. N

(2) Underlying Pool of Assets - For the 3 most recently completed finan years
of your company or the lesser period commencing on the first date ognyhich your
company had asset-backed securities outstanding, financial disclosure described
the underlying pool of financial assets servicing the asset-backed secukies relating to

(@) the composition of the pool as of the end of each @mial year or partial
period; &O

(b) profit and losses from the pool on at least nnual basis or such shorter
period as is reasonable given the nature of the underli@lthvpool of assets;

(c) the payment, prepayment and collgc |gJ(exper|ence of the pool on at least
an annual basis or such shorter period asué easonable given the nature of the
underlying pool of assets;

(d)  servicing and other adm é@ve fees; and

(e) any significant v s experienced in the matters referred to in
paragraphs (a) through (d). Q/

(2.1) If any of the finan isclosure disclosed in accordance with subsection (2) has
been audited, dlsclosetémstence and results of the audit.

(3) Investmerg' rameters - The investment parameters applicable to investments
of any cash fl pluses.

4) a@. t Hlstory The amount of payments made during the 3 most recently
comple@ ancial years or the lesser period commencing on the first date on which
your pany had asset-backed securities outstanding, in respect of principal and
i@s or capital and yield, each stated separately, on asset-backed securities of your
cOhpany outstanding.

(5)  Acceleration Event - The occurrence of any event that has led to, or with the

passage of time could lead to, the accelerated payment of principal, interest or capital of
asset-backed securities.
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(6) Principal Obligors - The identity of any principal obligors for the outstanding
asset-backed securities of your company, the percentage of the pool of financial assets
servicing the asset-backed securities represented by obligations of each principal
obligor and whether the principal obligor has filed an AIF in any jurisdiction or a
Form 10-K or Form 20-F in the United States.

INSTRUCTIONS

0] Present the information requested under subsection (2) in a manner thsé@les

a reader to easily determine the status of the events, covenants, stan and
preconditions referred to in subsection (1) of this item. '\(b.,
(i) If the information required under subsection (2) A

(A) is not compiled specifically on the pool of financi@%sets servicing the
asset-backed securities, but is compiled on a larger pool of th me assets from which
the securitized assets are randomly selected so that the p ance of the larger pool
is representative of the performance of the pool of securitﬂsd assets, or

(B) inthe case of a new company, where ﬂl}g)ool of financial assets servicing

the asset-backed securities will be randomly sglectéd from a larger pool of the same
4 . .

assets so that the performance of the larper>pool will be representative of the

performance of the pool of securitized asg%s to be created, a company may comply

with subsection (2) by providing the info@at on required based on the larger pool and

disclosing that it has done so. ?~

5.4 Companies With Minere&ﬁojects

If your company had@eral project, disclose the following information for each
project material to your cogp®ny:

(2) Project Des@ n and Location

(a) @grea (in hectares or other appropriate units) and the location of the

project. C)

2 The nature and extent of your company's title to or interest in the project,
inclu surface rights, obligations that must be met to retain the project and the
e@at on date of claims, licences and other property tenure rights.

(c) The terms of any royalties, overrides, back-in rights, payments or other
agreements and encumbrances to which the project is subject.

(d)  All environmental liabilities to which the project is subject.
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(e)  The location of all known mineralized zones, mineral resources, mineral
reserves and mine workings, existing tailing ponds, waste deposits and important
natural features and improvements.

() To the extent known, the permits that must be acquired to conduct the
work proposed for the project and if the permits have been obtained.

(2)  Accessibility, Climate, Local Resources, Infrastructure and Physiograg()b
(&) The means of access to the property. (19

4
(b) The proximity of the property to a population centre and"f?fg nature of
transport.

(c) To the extent relevant to the mining project, the cI@e and length of the
operating season.

(d) The sufficiency of surface rights for mmm&%eratlons the availability and
sources of power, water, mining personnel, potenti INngs storage areas, potential
waste disposal areas, heap leach pads areas and p ial processing plant sites.

()  The topography, elevation and veg@taﬁon.

(3) History é

(a) The prior ownership ﬁ@vaevelopment of the property and ownership
changes and the type, amount, ity and results of the exploration work undertaken
by previous owners, and any @us production on the property, to the extent known.

financial years or duri e current financial year from, or intends to acquire a project
from, an informed or promoter of your company or an associate or affiliate of an
informed person % omoter, the name of the vendor, the relationship of the vendor to
your company the consideration paid or intended to be paid to the vendor.

(b) If your com§$ acquired a project within the 3 most recently completed

expect

receive a greater than 5% interest in the consideration received or to be
recei@

%§g”o the extent known, the name of every person that has received or is
y the vendor referred to in paragraph (b).
(Zié Geological Setting - The regional, local and property geology.

(5) Exploration - The nature and extent of all exploration work conducted by, or on
behalf of, your company on the property, including

(@ the results of all surveys and investigations and the procedures and
parameters relating to surveys and investigations;
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(b) an interpretation of the exploration information;

(© whether the surveys and investigations have been carried out by your
company or a contractor and if by a contractor, the name of the contractor; and

(d) a discussion of the reliability or uncertainty of the data obtained in_the
program. ,\(b

(6) Mineralization - The mineralization encountered on the propefy. the
surrounding rock types and relevant geological controls, detailing length,qydth, depth
and continuity together with a description of the type, character and distNgdtion of the
mineralization.

(7 Drilling - The type and extent of drilling, including the p&res followed and
an interpretation of all results.

(8) Sampling and Analysis - The sampling and assia\;fbg including

(@) description of sampling methods and('ll/%location, number, type, nature,
spacing or density of samples collected; N

(b) identification of any driIIing{ampling or recovery factors that could
materially impact the accuracy or reIiabiIiQo,f he results;

(c) a discussion of th @mle quality and whether the samples are
representative and of any factor%éfmay have resulted in sample biases;

(d) rock types, ge@tal controls, widths of mineralized zones, cut-off grades
and other parameters us@ﬂ establish the sampling interval; and

(e) qualit @rol measures and data verification procedures.

9) Securi%?samples - The measures taken to ensure the validity and integrity of
samples tak@

(20) @ ral Resource and Mineral Reserve Estimates - The mineral resources
and @ al reserves, if any, including

\s (@) the quantity and grade or quality of each category of mineral resources
and mineral reserves;

(b)  the key assumptions, parameters and methods used to estimate the
mineral resources and mineral reserves; and
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(c) the extent to which the estimate of mineral resources and mineral
reserves may be materially affected by metallurgical, environmental, permitting, legal,
title, taxation, socio-economic, marketing, political and other relevant issues.

(11) Mining Operations - For development properties and production properties, the
mining method, metallurgical process, production forecast, markets, contracts for sale of
products, environmental conditions, taxes, mine life and expected payback period of

capital.
P N

(12) Exploration and Development - A description of your company's ci@t and
contemplated exploration or development activities. '\(b.,

INSTRUCTIONS <

0] Disclosure regarding mineral exploration development or @uction activities on
material projects must comply with, and is subject to t limitations set out in,
Regulation 43-101 respecting Standards of Disclos& for Mineral Projects
(chapter V-1.1, r. 15). Use the appropriate terminology tofei§scribe mineral reserves and
mineral resources. Base the disclosure on a techm report, or other information,
prepared by or under the supervision of a qualified 'ﬂ/ n.

(i) You may satisfy the disclosure require&'e\fé in section 5.4 by reproducing the
summary from the technical report on tl;,%[material property, and incorporating the
detailed disclosure in the technical report@m he AIF by reference.

(i) In giving the information re@ ed under section 5.4 include the nature of
ownership interests, such as fee '%-ests, leasehold interests, royalty interests and any
other types and variations of @ship interests.

5,5 Companies With@%d Gas Activities

If your CO% is engaged in oil and gas activities as defined in
Regulation 51-10 specting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities
(chapter V-l.lQ/ ), disclose the following information:

(2) R@g&s Data and Other Information

% In the case of information that, for purposes of Form 51-101F1 Statement
o&s rves Data and Other Oil and Gas Information, is to be prepared as at the end of
aXhancial year, disclose that information as at your company's most recently completed
financial year-end.

(b) In the case of information that, for purposes of Form 51-101F1, is to be

prepared for a financial year, disclose that information for your company's most recently
completed financial year.
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(c) (paragraph revoked).

(2) Report of Independent Qualified Reserves Evaluator or Auditor - Include
with the disclosure under subsection (1) a report in the form of Form 51-101F2 Report
on Reserves Data by Independent Qualified Reserves Evaluator or Auditor, on the
reserves data included in the disclosure required under subsection (1).

3) Report of Management -Include with the disclosure under subsection @a
report in the form of Form 51-101F3 Report of Management and Directors on @\l and
Gas Disclosure under Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure f@%l and
Gas Activities that refers to the information disclosed under subsection (1).(b.,

4) Material Changes — To the extent not reflected in the informa\ion disclosed in
response to subsection (1), disclose the information contem by Part 6 of
Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil Gas Activities in
respect of material changes that occurred after your c@pany’s most recently
completed financial year-end.

N

INSTRUCTION Q

The information presented in response to segﬁ)[‘l .5 must be in accordance with
Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Diss@ ure for Oil and Gas Activities.

Item 6 Dividends and Distributio@
6.1 Dividends and Distributio v

(2) Disclose the amount o&n dividends or distributions declared per security for
each class of your comp ecurities for each of the 3 most recently completed

financial years. ;

(2) Describe an @riction that could prevent your company from paying dividends
or distributions. Q

(3) Discl our company’s current dividend policy and any intended change in
dividend

O

7\% General Description of Capital Structure

Item Description of Capital Structure

Describe your company's capital structure. State the description or the
designation of each class of authorized security, and describe the material
characteristics of each class of authorized security, including voting rights, provisions for
exchange, conversion, exercise, redemption and retraction, dividend rights and rights
upon dissolution or winding-up.
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INSTRUCTION

This section requires only a brief summary of the provisions that are material from a
securityholder's standpoint. The provisions attaching to different classes of securities do
not need to be set out in full. This summary should include the disclosure required in
subsection 10.1(1) of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

7.2  Constraints Q'\

If there are constraints imposed on the ownership of securities of yaég.,company
to ensure that your company has a required level of Canadian ownershiP\describe the
mechanism, if any, by which the level of Canadian ownership of the urities is or will
be monitored and maintained. &

7.3 Ratings O

(2) If you have asked for and received a credit ratin r if you are aware that you

have received any other kind of rating, including a st rating or a provisional rating,
from one or more credit rating organizations for ities of your company that are

outstanding, or will be outstanding, and the ratinK)r\ tings continue in effect, disclose

(@) each rating received from a c@it rating organization;

(b)  for each rating disclos der paragraph (a), the name of the credit
rating organization that has assign& e rating;

(c) a definition or iption of the category in which each credit rating
organization rated the se $£s and the relative rank of each rating within the

organization’s overall C|&§'fl tion system;

(d) an ex ion of what the rating addresses and what attributes, if any, of
the securities ar addressed by the rating;

(e) éﬁactors or considerations identified by the credit rating organization as
giving ris usual risks associated with the securities;

% a statement that a credit rating or a stability rating is not a
\W endation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision or
awal at any time by the credit rating organization; and

(9) any announcement made by, or any proposed announcement known to
your company that is to be made by, a credit rating organization to the effect that the
organization is reviewing or intends to revise or withdraw a rating previously assigned
and required to be disclosed under this section.
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(2) If payments were, or reasonably will be, made to a credit rating organization that
provided a rating described in subsection (1), state that fact and state whether any
payments were made to the credit rating organization in respect of any other service
provided to your company by the credit rating organization during the last 2 years.

INSTRUCTIONS

There may be factors relating to a security that are not addressed by a it
rating organization when they give a rating. For example, in the case of cas &tled
derivative instruments, factors in addition to the creditworthiness of the issuef, jgdIich as
the continued subsistence of the underlying interest or the volatility of the prge, value or
level of the underlying interest may be reflected in the rating analysisN\Rather than
being addressed in the rating itself, these factors may be describe a credit rating
organization by way of a superscript or other notation to a ratin W such attributes
must be discussed in the disclosure under section 7.3. é

A provisional rating received before the company&g%st recently completed
financial year is not required to be disclosed under sectioﬁB.S.

Item 8 Market for Securities (19

8.1 Trading Price and Volume N °

Q) For each class of securities of 4company that is traded or quoted on a
Canadian marketplace, identify the @place and the price ranges and volume
traded or quoted on the Canadian tplace on which the greatest volume of trading
or quotation generally occurs. Q)

(2) If a class of securiti? our company is not traded or quoted on a Canadian
marketplace, but is trad r quoted on a foreign marketplace, identify the foreign
marketplace and the@g ranges and volume traded or quoted on the foreign
marketplace on wh@‘ greatest volume of trading or quotation generally occurs.

3) Provide@ginformaﬂon required under subsections (1) and (2) on a monthly
basis for e onth or, if applicable, partial months of the most recently completed
financial .

8.2 Qg)r Sales

\é For each class of securities of your company that is outstanding but not listed or
guoted on a marketplace, state the price at which securities of the class have been
issued during the most recently completed financial year by your company, the number
of securities of the class issued at that price, and the date on which the securities were
issued.
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Item 9 Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual
Restriction on Transfer

9.1 Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual Restriction on
Transfer

(1) State, in substantially the following tabular form, the number of securities of each
class of your company held, to your company’s knowledge, in escrow or that are s lgb:t

to a contractual restriction on transfer and the percentage that number represen the
outstanding securities of that class for your company’s most recently (ﬁ}l leted
financial year. (b.,
ESCROWED SECURITIES AND SECURITIES SUBJECT A
TO CONTRACTUEL RESTRICTION ON TRANSFER Ly
Designation of class Number of securities held in Perce@g‘of class

escrow or that are subject to a

contractual restriction on tranfer s 0

(2) In a note to the table disclose the name of the sitory, if any, and the date of
and conditions governing the release of the secur from escrow or the date the
contractual restriction on transfer ends, as applic,&blg.

INSTRUCTIONS 4

0] For the purposes of this item0§zw includes securities subject to a pooling

agreement. E

(i) For the purposes of tp m, securities subject to contractual restrictions on
transfer as a result of pledg de to lenders are not required to be disclosed.

Iltem 10 Directo@ Officers

10.1 Name, OcQg;tion and Security Holding

executiv er of your company and indicate their respective positions and offices
held our company and their respective principal occupations during the 5
prec&dng years.

(1) List t;g%,me, province or state, and country of residence of each director and

(}). State the period or periods during which each director has served as a director
and when his or her term of office will expire.

(3)  State the number and percentage of securities of each class of voting securities

of your company or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, or controlled or directed,
directly or indirectly, by all directors and executive officers of your company as a group.
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4) Identify the members of each committee of the board.

(5) If the principal occupation of a director or executive officer of your company is
acting as an officer of a person other than your company, disclose that fact and state
the principal business of the person.

INSTRUCTION

. § - N
For the purposes of subsection (3), securities of subsidiaries of your company (ht*are
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by dirG&s or
executive officers through ownership, or control or direction, directly or ircggctly, over
securities of your company, do not need to be included. N

10.2 Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctio ?

If a director or executive officer of your company is, a the date of the AIF, or
was within 10 years before the date of the AlF, a director, chWIexecutive officer or chief
financial officer of any company (including your companwat:

(@) was subject to an order that was iseﬂ%while the director or executive
officer was acting in the capacity as director, C'Qe.f xecutive officer or chief financial

officer,

(b)  was subject to an or rlet was issued after the director or executive
officer ceased to be a director, ¢ xecutive officer or chief financial officer and which
resulted from an event that @ed while that person was acting in the capacity as
director, chief executive offj r chief financial officer, state the fact and describe the
basis on which the ordegg ade and whether the order is still in effect.

(2.1) Forthe purp@@)f subsection (1), "order" means

(@) @gse trade order;

(b order similar to a cease trade order; or

an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under
s@it es legislation, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days.

(1.2) If a director or executive officer of your company, or a shareholder holding a
sufficient number of securities of your company to affect materially the control of your
company

@) is, as at the date of the AIF, or has been within the 10 years before the
date of the AIF, a director or executive officer of any company (including your company)
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that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person
ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings,
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or
trustee appointed to hold its assets, state the fact; or

(b) has, within the 10 years before the date of the AIF, become bankrupt,
made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or b e
subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with cred@ , Oor
had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of thébl ector,
executive officer or shareholder, state the fact. '\(b.,

(2) Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds oa‘whlch they were
imposed, or the terms of the settlement agreement and the circum s that gave rise
to the settlement agreement, if a director or executive officer ur company, or a
shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of @ur company to affect
materially the control of your company, has been subject to

(@) any penalties or sanctions imposed ég\a court relating to securities
legislation or by a securities regulatory authorit has entered into a settlement
agreement with a securities regulatory authority; &

(b)  any other penalties or sanctmf imposed by a court or regulatory body
that would likely be considered impor@ﬁ 0 a reasonable investor in making an
investment decision. ?~

(3) Despite subsection (2), gdisclosure is required of a settlement agreement
entered into before Decembe@ 000 unless the disclosure would likely be important
to a reasonable investor in r{fe w(g an investment decision.

INSTRUCTIONS O®

0] The discl%required by subsections (1), (1.2) and (2) also applies to any
personal hold% mpanies of any of the persons referred to in subsections (1), (1.2)
and (2).

(i) »Wg~ agement cease trade order which applies to directors or executive officers

of a pany is an "order" for the purposes of paragraph 10.2(1)(a) and must be

vvlggsed whether or not the director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer
named in the order.

(i) A late filing fee, such as a filing fee that applies to the late filing of an insider
report, is not a "penalty or sanction” for the purposes of section 10.2.

(iv)  The disclosure in paragraph 10.2(1)(a) only applies if the director or executive
officer was a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer when the order was
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issued against the company. You do not have to provide disclosure if the director or
executive officer became a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer after
the order was issued.

10.3 Conflicts of Interest

Disclose particulars of existing or potential material conflicts of interest between
your company or a subsidiary of your company and any director or officer of r
company or of a subsidiary of your company. (19

ltem 11 Promoters '\(b.,
11.1 Promoters ~\

For a person that has been, within the 2 most recently co@%ted financial years
or during the current financial year, a promoter of your comy or of a subsidiary of

your company, state
N

(@  the person name; Q

(b)  the number and percentage of eagh g“-lkss of voting securities and equity
securities of your company or any of its SUbSid'er s beneficially owned, or controlled or
directed, directly or indirectly; 4

(c) the nature and amount ﬁlthing of value, including money, property,
contracts, options or rights of an; ¥ received or to be received by the promoter

directly or indirectly from your c y or from a subsidiary of your company, and the
nature and amount of any a , services or other consideration received or to be
received by your company @ﬁbsidiary of your company in return; and

(d) foran a@mquired within the 3 most recently completed financial years
or during the curre cial year, or an asset to be acquired, by your company or by a
subsidiary of you pany from a promoter

| the consideration paid or to be paid for the asset and the method by
which th Ideration has been or will be determined;

%O (i) the person making the determination referred to in subparagraph (i)
a person relationship with your company, the promoter, or an associate or affiliate

o)&lljr company or of the promoter; and

(i)  the date that the asset was acquired by the promoter and the cost
of the asset to the promoter.
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Item 12 Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions
12.1 Legal Proceedings

(1) Describe any legal proceedings your company is or was a party to, or that any of
its property is or was the subject of, during your company’s financial year.

(2) Describe any such legal proceedings your company knows to be contempla){cb

3) For each proceeding described in subsections (1) and (2), include the‘}?me of
the court or agency, the date instituted, the principal parties to the prgggeding, the
nature of the claim, the amount claimed, if any, whether the proce®frg is being
contested, and the present status of the proceeding.

INSTRUCTION &

You do not need to give information with respect to any protﬁe@ng that involves a claim
for damages if the amount involved, exclusive of intere€¥and costs, does not exceed

10% of the current assets of your company. Howeya{\NT any proceeding presents in
large degree the same legal and factual issues as proceedings pending or known
to be contemplated, you must include the amoqqt ln olved in the other proceedings in
computing the percentage. N

12.2 Regulatory Actions é
Describe any ov

(@) penalties or sar@s imposed against your company by a court relating
to securities legislation or b)Q curities regulatory authority during your financial year,

(b)  any oth alties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body
against your com hat would likely be considered important to a reasonable
investor in makin Investment decision, and

(c) qs?fement agreements your company entered into before a court relating
to securit@. gislation or with a securities regulatory authority during your financial

year. O
I@JCTION

You do not need to give information with respect to any proceeding that involves a claim
for damages if the amount involved, exclusive of interest and costs, does not
exceed 10% of the current assets of your company. However, if any proceeding
presents in large degree the same legal and factual issues as other proceedings
pending or known to be contemplated, you must include the amount involved in the
other proceedings in computing the percentage.
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Item 13 Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions
13.1 Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions

Describe, and state the approximate amount of, any material interest, direct or
indirect, of any of the following persons in any transaction within the 3 most recently
completed financial years or during the current financial year that has materially aff de
or is reasonably expected to materially affect your company: (19

(@) adirector or executive officer of your company; N
N

(b)  a person that beneficially owns, or controls or directs, di-rvAQtIy or indirectly,
more than 10% of any class or series of your outstanding voting @&es; and

(© an associate or affiliate of any of the persons re@e to in paragraphs (a)

N

INSTRUCTIONS Q

or (b).

0] The materiality of the interest is to be det rm.i ed on the basis of the significance
of the information to investors in light of all the gircumstances of the particular case. The
importance of the interest to the person%ving the interest, the relationship of the

parties to the transaction with each o nd the amount involved are among the
factors to be considered in deterpfpadg the significance of the information to
securityholders. 0

(i) This Item does not ap any interest arising from the ownership of securities
of your company if the secuyj Ider receives no extra or special benefit or advantage
not shared on an equal bgsI® by all other holders of the same class of securities or all
other holders of the sa@ass of securities who are resident in Canada.

(i)  Give a bri %scription of the material transactions. Include the name of each
person whose mtewest in any transaction is described and the nature of the relationship
to your com@%

(iv) &w transaction involving the purchase of assets by or sale of assets to your

com[@u or a subsidiary of your company, state the cost of the assets to the purchaser,
cost of the assets to the seller if acquired by the seller within 3 years before the

!
tr action.

(v) You do not need to give information under this Item for a transaction if

(A) the rates or charges involved in the transaction are fixed by law or
determined by competitive bids,
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(B) the interest of a specified person in the transaction is solely that of a
director of another company that is a party to the transaction,

(C) the transaction involves services as a bank or other depository of funds, a
transfer agent, registrar, trustee under a trust indenture or other similar services, or

(D) the transaction does not involve remuneration for services and the interest
of the specified person arose from the beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, Q})s
than 10% of any class of equity securities of another company that is part the
transaction and the transaction is in the ordinary course of business of your ccﬂﬁ\y or
your company's subsidiaries. '\(b.,

(vi)  Describe all transactions not excluded above that involve remuakration (including
an issuance of securities), directly or indirectly, to any of the tffied persons for
services in any capacity unless the interest of the person &§®s solely from the
beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, of less than 10% of anQass of equity securities
of another company furnishing the services to your c ny or your company's

subsidiaries.
Si
Item 14 Transfer Agents and Registrars (1/

)

14.1 Transfer Agents and Registrars N

State the name of your compa %ansfer agent(s) and registrar(s) and the
location (by municipalities) of the regigt®u) of transfers of each class of securities.

[tem 15 Material Contra0$~
15.1 Material Contracts QQ/

Give particulartﬁy material contract

@) req@o be filed under section 12.2 of the Regulation at the time this
AIF is filed, aseqired under section 12.3 of the Regulation, or

(b Qould be required to be filed under section 12.2 of the Regulation at the
time thi is filed, as required under section 12.3 of the Regulation, but for the fact
that @ previously filed.

I@RUCTIONS

(1) You must give particulars of any material contract that was entered into within the
last financial year or before the last financial year but is still in effect, and that is required
to be filed under section 12.2 of the Regulation or would be required to be filed under
section 12.2 of the Regulation but for the fact that it was previously filed. You do not
need to give particulars of a material contract that was entered into
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before January 1, 2002 because these material contracts are not required to be filed
under section 12.2 of the Regulation.

(i) Set out a complete list of all contracts for which particulars must be given under
this item, indicating those that are disclosed elsewhere in the AlF. Particulars need only
be provided for those contracts that do not have the particulars given elsewhere in the

AlF.
&)

(i)  Particulars of contracts must include the dates of, parties to, consi@ ion
provided for in, and general nature and key terms of, the contracts.
Neh

16.1 Names of Experts §
O

Name each person

ltem 16 Interests of Experts

(@) who is named as having prepared or rtified a report, valuation,
statement or opinion described or included in a filin%"or referred to in a filing, made
under Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous‘l/ sclosure Obligations by your
company during, or relating to, your company's ;{o§ recently completed financial year;

and r\

(b)  whose profession or busi@ gives authority to the report, valuation,
statement or opinion made by the per %

16.2 Interests of Experts Q*

(1) Disclose all registerﬁg/oeneﬁcial interests, direct or indirect, in any securities
or other property of your any or of one of your associates or affiliates

(@) held Q expert named in section 16.1 and, if the expert is not an
individual, by the%ﬁnated professionals of that expert, when that expert prepared the
report, valuati%s tement or opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a);

(b)qg-éceived by an expert named in section 16.1 and, if the expert is not an
individ y the designated professionals of that expert, after the time specified in
para@ 16.2(1)(a); or

N\ (© to be received by an expert named in section 16.1 and, if the expert is not
an individual, by the designated professionals of that expert.

(1.1) For the purposes of subsection (1), a "designated professional’ means, in
relation to an expert named in section 16.1,
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(@) each partner, employee or consultant of the expert who participated in and
who was in a position to directly influence the preparation of the report, valuation,
statement or opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a); and

(b)  each partner, employee or consultant of the expert who was, at any time
during the preparation of the report, valuation, statement or opinion referred to in
paragraph 16.1(a), in a position to directly influence the outcome of the preparation of
the report, valuation, statement or opinion, including, without limitation N

(1) any person who recommends the compensation of,"@ who
provides direct supervisory, management or other oversight of, the partner oyee or
consultant in the performance of the preparation of the report, valuatior&lr?zment or
opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a), including those at all successigly senior levels
through to the expert's chief executive officer;

(i) any person who provides consultatiq garding technical or
industry-specific issues, transactions or events for the aration of the report,
valuation, statement or opinion referred to in paragraph 165(a); and

(i) any person who provides qual'q’?)ntrol for the preparation of the
report, valuation, statement or opinion referred t in\p ragraph 16.1(a).

(2) For the purposes of subsection (Qgihhe person's interest in the securities
represents less than 1% of your outsta@j,n securities of the same class, a general
statement to that effect is sufficient. v

(2.1) Despite subsection (1), itor who is independent in accordance with the
auditor's rules of professional uct in a jurisdiction of Canada or who has performed
an audit in accordance with)J /PCAOB GAAS or U.S. AICPA GAAS is not required to
provide the disclosure i bsection (1) if there is disclosure that the auditor is
independent in acco@&e with the auditor's rules of professional conduct in a

jurisdiction of Can that the auditor has complied with the SEC's rules on auditor
independence.

(1) is or ¢ pected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, officer or

(3) If aéggrfor a director, officer or employee of a person referred to in subsection
emp%@ f your company or of any associate or affiliate of your company, disclose the

fact ectation.
INOTRUCTIONS
0] (paragraph revoked);

(i) Section 16.2 does not apply to
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(A) auditors of a business acquired by your company provided they have not
been or will not be appointed as your company's auditor subsequent to the acquisition,
and

(B) your company's predecessor auditors, if any, for periods when they were
not your company's auditor.

(i)  Section 16.2 does not apply to registered or beneficial interests, direct or ing{(@t,
held through mutual funds. (19

Item 17 Additional Information (b.,
N
17.1 Additional Information ~\

Q) Disclose that additional information relating to your com@ may be found on
SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

(2) If your company is required to distribute a 51-102F5 to any of its
securityholders, include a statement that additional ir&vation, including directors' and
officers’' remuneration and indebtedness, principal rs of your company's securities
and securities authorized for issuance under eqyjty cbmpensation plans, if applicable, is
contained in your company's information circwi or its most recent annual meeting of
securityholders that involved the election oj{irec ors.

(3) Include a statement that a@ financial information is provided in your

company's financial statements a &A for its most recently completed financial
year. @

INSTRUCTION Q&

Your company may a&ﬁ required to provide additional information in its AIF as set
out in Form 52-110@~ dit Committee Information Required in an AlF.

Item 18 @%onal Disclosure for Companies Not Sending Information

Circulars C)

18.1 @onal Disclosure

& or companies that are not required to send a Form 51-102F5 to any of their
s&Qurityholders, disclose the information required under Items 6 to 10, 12 and 13 of
Form 51-102F5, as modified below, if applicable:
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Form 51-102-F5 Reference

Modification

ltem 6 -Voting Securities and Principal
Holders of Voting Securities

Include the disclosure specified in section 6.1 without
regard to the phrase "entitled to be voted at the
meeting”. Do not include the disclosure specified in
sections 6.2, 6.3 and 6.4. Include the disclosure
specified in section 6.5.

Iltem 7 - Election of Directors

Disregard the preamble of section 7.1. Include the
disclosure specified in section 7.1 without regard to
word "proposed” throughout. Do not incl
disclosure specified in section 7.3. %

Item 8 - Executive Compensation

Disregard the preamble and paragraphs (,b) and (c)
of ltem 8. A company that doe& t send a
management information circular {Q\its securityholders
must  provide the  disclogae™ required by
Form 51-102F6. ?k

ltem 9 - Securities Authorized for Issuance
under Equity Compensation Plans

Disregard subsection %{@

ltem 10 - Indebtedness of Directors and
Executive Officers

Include the disclNd specified throughout; however,
replace the p date of the informtion circular" with
"date  of AIF"  throughout. Disregard

paragrapy\lq 3(a).

Item 12 - Appointment of Auditor

N% th auditor. If the auditor was first appointed
the last 5 years state the date when the auditor

s first last 5 years, state the date when the auditor
was first appointed.

s. 7: M.O. 2008-06. s. 9 an
02, 5. 2: M.O. 2012-05,

O. 2005-25, s. 3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 39; M.O. 2007-08,
; M.O. 2008-18, s. 13; M.O. 2010-17, s. 29; M.O. 2011-
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FORM 51-102F3 MATERIAL CHANGE REPORT
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
€) Confidentiality

If this Report is filed on a confidential basis, state in block capitals
"CONFIDENTIAL" at the beginning of the Report. N

(b)  Use of "Company" (19

M)
Wherever this Form uses the word "company"” the term includes’b%)er types of
business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other unincesdprated business

entities. &

(¢) Numbering and Headings O

The numbering, headings and ordering of the it included in this Form are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response t item need not be repeated
elsewhere (1/
(d) Defined Terms N °

AForm, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
tfgations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24) and to
(chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this
ecurities statute of a local jurisdiction and in
inuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of
ntinuous Disclosure Obligations.

If a term is used but not defined i
respecting Continuous Disclosure
Regulation 14-101 respecting Defint
Form and is defined in both
Regulation 51-102 respecting
Regulation 51-102 respectl

&

(e) Plain LanguagC)@

Write the &t so that readers are able to understand it. Consider both the
level of detail groYided and the language used in the document. Refer to the plain
language pg¢ es listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
[ tinuous Disclosure Obligations (Decision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12).

If you u@ chnical terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner.
F@ CONTENT OF MATERIAL CHANGE REPORT
Item 1 Name and Address of Company

State the full name of your company and the address of its principal office in
Canada.
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Item 2Date of Material Change
State the date of the material change.
Item 3News Release

State the date and method(s) of dissemination of the news release issued under
section 7.1 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations. N

Item 4 Summary of Material Change (19

4
Provide a brief but accurate summary of the nature and substaic\(e'bt(?ie material
change.

Item 5 Full Description of Material Change &

5.1 Full Description of Material Change &

Supplement the summary required under It o')with sufficient disclosure to
enable a reader to appreciate the significance mpact of the material change

without having to refer to other material. N ment is in the best position to
determine what facts are significant and mus{ isclose those facts in a meaningful
manner. See also Item 7. 4

@aﬁng to the material change include: dates,
ibn of any assets, liabilities or capital affected,

sons for the change, and a general comment on
or its subsidiaries. Specific financial forecasts would

Some examples of significant f
parties, terms and conditions, desgy
purpose, financial or dollar valu
the probable impact on the is
not normally be required.

Other additionéj@closure may be appropriate depending on the particular
situation.

5.2 Disclo Qor Restructuring Transactions

applies to a material change report filed in respect of the closing of a

transaction under which securities are to be changed, exchanged, issued

or dl& ted. This item does not apply if, in respect of the transaction, your company

% information circular to its securityholders or filed a prospectus or a securities
ange takeover bid circular.

restruc

Include the disclosure for each entity that resulted from the restructuring
transaction, if your company has an interest in that entity, required by section 14.2 of
Form 51-102F5. You may satisfy the requirement to include this disclosure by
incorporating the information by reference to another document.

132



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM FEBRUARY 11, 2013 TO MAY 13, 2013

INSTRUCTIONS

0] If your company is engaged in oil and gas activities, the disclosure under Item 5
must also satisfy the requirements of Part 6 of Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards
of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (chapter V-1.1, r. 23).

(i) If you incorporate information by reference to another document, clearly identify
the referenced document or any excerpt from it. Unless you have already fil (be
referenced document or excerpt, you must file it with the material change re Q ou
must also disclose that the document is on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Pl,

M)
N

If this Report is being filed on a confidential basis in relianc; ubsection 7.1(2)

Item 6 Reliance on subsection 7.1(2) of Regulation 51-102

of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligat®R¥ state the reasons

for such reliance.
&O

INSTRUCTION
N

Refer to subsections 7.1(5), (6) and (7) of Regultﬁ? 51-102 respecting Continuous
Disclosure Obligations concerning continuing bILg tions in respect of reports filed
under subsection 7.1(2) of Regulation 51-)\ respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations.

ltem 7 Omitted Information Q~
0?‘

State whether any inform@has been omitted on the basis that it is confidential

information. Q/
&

In a separate lett the securities regulatory authority marked "Confidential”
provide the reasons f r company's omission of confidential significant facts in the
Report in sufficien il to permit the applicable securities regulatory authority to
determine wheth exercise its discretion to allow the omission of these significant

facts. Q/

|NSTRUC<E&QS

Inc Qcircumstances where a material change has occurred and a Report has been

@a out to be filed but subsection 7.1(2) or (5) of Regulation 51-102 respecting
tinuous Disclosure Obligations is not or will no longer be relied upon, your company

may nevertheless believe one or more significant facts otherwise required to be

disclosed in the Report should remain confidential and not be disclosed or not be
disclosed in full detail in the Report.
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[tem 8 Executive Officer

Give the name and business telephone number of an executive officer of your
company who is knowledgeable about the material change and the Report, or the name
of an officer through whom such executive officer may be contacted.

Item 9 Date of Report
N

Date the Report. Q

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 40; M.O. 2008-10, s. 8; MXQ+2008-18,
s. 13.
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FORM 51-102F4 BUSINESS ACQUISITION REPORT
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Description of Business Acquisition Report

Your company must file a Business Acquisition Report after completing a
significant acquisition. See Part 8 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Conti Lﬂ%us
Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24). The Business Acquisition 6%)0”1
describes the significant businesses acquired by your company and the effﬂp of the

acquisition on your company. N
N
(b)  Use of "Company" A

Wherever this Form uses the word "company”, the term @bdes other types of
business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and othe@incorporated business

entities.
N

(c) Focus on Relevant Information Q

When providing the disclosure required Eh S Form, focus your discussion on
information that is relevant to an investor, analyit r other reader.

(d) Incorporating Material By Refer@

You may incorporate inform 'o?r;quired by this Form, by reference to another

document. Clearly identify the nced document, or any excerpt of it, that you
incorporate into this Report. you have already filed the referenced document or
excerpt, including any do ts incorporated by reference into the document or

excerpt, you must file it wi is Report. You must also disclose that the document is on
SEDAR at www.sedar, .

U
(e)  Defined T&

If zi@j&used but not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102

respectin tinuous Disclosure Obligations and to Regulation 14-101 respecting
Definiti@ chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this Form and is defined in both the
secules statute of a local jurisdiction and in Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous
Dy ure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
rOg ecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (Decision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12)
for further guidance.

This Form also uses accounting terms that are defined or used in Canadian
GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises. For further guidance, see
subsections 1.4(7) and (8) of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations.
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® Plain Language

Write this Report so that readers are able to understand it. Consider both the
level of detail provided and the language used in the document. Refer to the plain
language principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you use technical
terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner. ,\

() Numbering and Headings (19
M)

The numbering, headings and ordering of items included in YN(? Form are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need=jot be repeated
elsewhere in the Report. §?~
PART 2 CONTENT OF BUSINESS ACQUISITION REP@'

Item 1 Identity of Company '\03
1.1 Name and Address of Company (19

State the full name of your company Q’H‘t’he address of its principal office in
Canada.

1.2 Executive Officer ?g

Give the name and busi elephone number of an executive officer of your
company who is knowledgea out the significant acquisition and the Report, or the
name of an officer through such executive officer may be contacted.

ltem 2 Details @quisition
2.1  Nature ongmess Acquired

Desc@%ﬁe nature of the business acquired.
2.2 @sition Date
% tate the acquisition date used for accounting purposes.
2.3 Consideration
Disclose the type and amount of consideration, both monetary and non-

monetary, paid or payable by your company in connection with the significant
acquisition, including contingent consideration. Identify the source of funds used by your
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company for the acquisition, including a description of any financing associated with the
acquisition.

2.4 Effect on Financial Position

Describe any plans or proposals for material changes in your business affairs or
the affairs of the acquired business which may have a significant effect on the financial
performance and financial position of your company. Examples include any prop ﬁbo
liquidate the business, to sell, lease or exchange all or a substantial part of its aeRts, to
amalgamate the business with any other business organization or to make anﬂy terial
changes to your business or the business acquired such as changes(Bporporate
structure, management or personnel. N

4

2.5  Prior Valuations ?~

Describe in sufficient detail any valuation opinion ol@wed within the last 12
months by the acquired business or your company require ecurities legislation or a
Canadian exchange or market to support the consideragn paid by your company or
any of its subsidiaries for the business, including the MNeof the author, the date of the
opinion, the business to which the opinion relates,mt/ alue attributed to the business
and the valuation methodologies used. .

2.6  Parties to Transaction 4'\
a

State whether the transaction i @ n informed person, associate or affiliate of
your company and, if so, the iden &3 d the relationship of the other parties to your
company.

2.7 Date of Report Q&
Date the Repor, @

[tem 3 FinQQal Statements and Other Information

Regulati 02 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations. If applicable, disclose
that th itors have not given their consent to include their audit report in this Report.

Inclug%!e financial statements or other information required by Part 8 of

1&2 05-03, Sch. 51-102F4; M.O. 2006-04, s. 41; M.O. 2008-18, s. 13; M.O. 2010-17,
S.
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FORM 51-102F5 INFORMATION CIRCULAR
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Timing of Information

The information required by this Form 51-102F5 must be given as of a speC|f|ed
date not more than 30 days prior to the date you first send the information cwcqK (o]
any securityholder of the company. (1/

(b) Use of "Company" N
N

Wherever this Form uses the word "company”, the term incIudAg other types of
business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other uni cv-porated business
entities. é‘

(c) Incorporating Information by Reference &O

You may incorporate information required t(ﬁ.& included in your information
circular by reference to another document. Clearly ify the referenced document or
any excerpt of it that you incorporate into your, |nf mation circular. Unless you have
already filed the referenced document or exce t cludlng any documents incorporated
by reference into the document or excerpt, ybu must file it with your information circular.
You must also disclose that the docquJ on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and that,
upon request, you will promptly prm@ opy of any such document free of charge to

a securityholder of the compan ever, you may not incorporate information
required to be included in Form%SZFG by reference into your information circular.

(d)  Defined Terms QQ/

If atermis use@mot defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Contin Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24) and to
Regulation 14-10&)ecting Definitions (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this
Form and is gefived in both the securities statute of the local jurisdiction and in
Regulation respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of
nt to Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations
06-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12) for further guidance.

% his Form also uses accounting terms that are defined or used in Canadian
AP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises. For further guidance, see
subsections 1.4(7) and (8) of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations.
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(e) Plain Language

Write this document so that readers are able to understand it. Refer to the plain
language principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you use technical
terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner.

()] Numbering and Headings ,\(b

The numbering, headings and ordering of items included in this ﬁ}% are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need notd!sz.,repeated

elsewhere.

(g) Tables and Figures ?\

Where it is practicable and appropriate, present inform@n In tabular form. State
all amounts in figures.

(h)  Omitting Information Q

You do not need to respond to any ite ‘]ﬁs Form that is inapplicable. You
may also omit information that is not kno n}\) the person on whose behalf the
solicitation is made and that is not reasonank ithin the power of the person to obtain, if
you briefly state the circumstances that r the information unavailable.

You may omit mformatlon Y:als contained in another information circular,
notice of meeting or form of sent to the same persons whose proxies were
solicited in connection wit ame meeting, as long as you clearly identify the
particular document contan‘Q&We information.

PART 2 CONTE@

Iltem 1 Da Q‘

Spec@é date of the information circular.

Item 2 O Revocability of Proxy
& tate whether the person giving the proxy has the power to revoke it. If any right
oNPevocation is limited or is subject to compliance with any formal procedure, briefly
describe the limitation or procedure.

Item 3 Persons Making the Solicitation

3.1 If a solicitation is made by or on behalf of management of the company, state
this. Name any director of the company who has informed management in writing that
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he or she intends to oppose any action intended to be taken by management at the
meeting and indicate the action that he or she intends to oppose.

3.2 If a solicitation is made other than by or on behalf of management of the
company, state this and give the name of the person by whom, or on whose behalf, it is
made.

3.3 If the solicitation is to be made other than by mail, describe the method,\
employed. If the solicitation is to be made by specially engaged employees or %
agents, state,

ing

(@) the parties to and material features of any contract or arraan'Rent for the
solicitation; and

(b)  the cost or anticipated cost thereof. &

3.4  State who has borne or will bear, directly or indirectlyﬂbgcost of soliciting.

N

Item 4 Proxy Instructions Q

4.1  The information circular or the form of Qx to which the information circular
relates must indicate in bold-face type that th urityholder has the right to appoint a
person to represent the securityholder at_the meetmg other than the person, if any,
designated in the form of proxy and musQQn ain instructions as to the manner in which
the securityholder may exercise the ri Iv

4.2  The information circular form of proxy to which the information circular
relates must state that the se S represented by the proxy will be voted or withheld
from voting in accordance @me instructions of the securityholder on any ballot that
may be called for and th the securityholder specifies a choice with respect to any
matter to be acted up @ securities will be voted accordingly.

4.3 The inforn&circular must include the following, if applicable:

registere ers or beneficial owners using notice-and-access, and if stratification will
be use? description of the types of registered holders or beneficial owners who will
recei aper copies of the information circular and, if applicable, the documents in

p$r ph 9.1.1(2)(b);

(b) a statement that the reporting issuer is sending proxy-related materials
directly to non-objecting beneficial owners under Regulation 54-101 respecting
Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer
(chapter V-1.1, r. 29);

(a{qﬂ&(atement that the reporting issuer is sending proxy-related materials to
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(c) a statement that management of the reporting issuer does not intend to
pay for intermediaries to forward to objecting beneficial owners under
Regulation 54-101 respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a
Reporting Issuer the proxy-related materials and Form 54-101F7 — Request for Voting
Instructions Made by Intermediary, and that in the case of an objecting beneficial owner,
the objecting beneficial owner will not receive the materials unless the objecting
beneficial owner’s intermediary assumes the cost of delivery. (b

N

Item 5 Interest of Certain Persons in Matters to be Acted Upon Q

Briefly describe any material interest, direct or indirect, by way @f beneficial
ownership of securities or otherwise, of each of the following persons it matter to
be acted upon other than the election of directors or the appointment uditors:

@) if the solicitation is made by or on behalf of manag@nt of the company,
each person who has been a director or executive officer of@ company at any time
since the beginning of the company's last financial year;

(b) if the solicitation is made other than by @ehaﬁ of management of the
company, each person by whom, or on whosdl/ alf, directly or indirectly, the
solicitation is made; N

C eacn proposed nominee 10r € tion as a director of t e company,; an
©) h d nominee f i di f th d

(d)  each associate or affiﬁét@;ny of the persons listed in paragraphs (a)

INSTRUCTIONS Qg)Q~

to (c).

0] The following persaqs™and companies are deemed to be persons by whom or on
whose behalf the s@ion is made (collectively, "solicitors" or individually a
"solicitor"): Q‘

(A) %ember of a committee or group that solicits proxies, and any person
whether or amed as a member who, acting alone or with one or more other
persons, y or indirectly takes the initiative or engages in organizing, directing or

financir@x y such committee or group;

% B) any person who contributes, or joins with another to contribute, more
tAM $250 to finance the solicitation of proxies; or

(C) any person who lends money, provides credit, or enters into any other
arrangements, under any contract or understanding with a solicitor, for the purpose of
financing or otherwise inducing the purchase, sale, holding or voting of securities of the
company but not including a bank or other lending institution or a dealer that, in the
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ordinary course of business, lends money or executes orders for the purchase or sale of
securities.

(i) Subject to paragraph (i), the following persons and companies are deemed not to
be solicitors:

(A) any person retained or employed by a solicitor to solicit proxies or any
person who merely transmits proxy-soliciting material or performs ministerial or cb{b&l

duties; Q

(B) any person employed or retained by a solicitor in the capadaf :}/Iawyer,
accountant, or advertising, public relations, investor relations or financi®\ dvisor and
whose activities are limited to the performance of their duties in course of the
employment or retainer;

(C) any person regularly employed as an officer or @oloyee of the company
or any of its affiliates; or

(D) any officer or director of, or any pe@?'?egularly employed by, any

solicitor. (1/

Item 6 Voting Securities and Principalrébiaers of Voting Securities

6.1 For each class of voting securiti the company entitled to be voted at the
meeting, state the number of securiti tstanding and the particulars of voting rights
for each class. 5

6.2 For each class of r%d securities, provide the information required in
subsection 10.1(1) of RegulQ 1-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

6.3 Give the recor, te as of which the securityholders entitled to vote at the
meeting will be d ed or particulars as to the closing of the security transfer
register, as the c%rﬁay be, and, if the right to vote is not limited to securityholders of
record as ofyth® specified record date, indicate the conditions under which
securityhold(%e entitled to vote.

6.4 Iggm)n is to be taken with respect to the election of directors and if the
secu% Iders or any class of securityholders have the right to elect a specified
n&e of directors or have cumulative or similar voting rights, include a statement of
S rights and state briefly the conditions precedent, if any, to the exercise thereof.

6.5 If, to the knowledge of the company’s directors or executive officers, any person
beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectly, voting securities carrying
10% or more of the voting rights attached to any class of voting securities of the
company, name each person and state
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(@) the approximate number of securities beneficially owned, or controlled or
directed, directly or indirectly, by each such person; and

(b) the percentage of the class of outstanding voting securities of the
company represented by the number of voting securities so owned, controlled or
directed, directly or indirectly.

ltem 7 Election of Directors ,\(b

7.1  If directors are to be elected, provide the following information, in tabul rm to
the extent practicable, for each person proposed to be nominated for epciion as a
director (a “"proposed director") and each other person whose term of offid®as a director
will continue after the meeting:

(a) State the name, province or state, and country @esidence, of each
director and proposed director. O

(b) State the period or periods during which h director has served as a
director and when the term of office for each director %ﬁ‘proposed director will expire.

(c) Identify the members of each comr}i\ﬂtgfof the board.

(d)  State the present principal ogtéupation, business or employment of each
director and proposed director. Give the and principal business of any company in
which any such employment is carri . Furnish similar information as to all of the
principal occupations, businesses ganeyployments of each proposed director within the
5 preceding years, unless the pr d director is now a director and was elected to the
present term of office by a vo ecurityholders at a meeting, the notice of which was
accompanied by an informay ircular.

(e) If a dire@ proposed director has held more than one position in the
company, or a pare@ ubsidiary, state only the first and last position held.

) gthe number of securities of each class of voting securities of the
company or f its subsidiaries beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly
or indirec each proposed director.

g If securities carrying 10% or more of the voting rights attached to all voting
s&it es of the company or of any of its subsidiaries are beneficially owned, or
cONrolled or directed, directly or indirectly, by any proposed director and the proposed
director’s associates or affiliates,

0] state the number of securities of each class of voting securities

beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by the associates or
affiliates; and
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(i) name each associate or affiliate whose security holdings are 10%
or more.

7.2  If a proposed director

(@) is, as at the date of the information circular, or has been, within 10 years
before the date of the information circular, a director, chief executive officer or chlef
financial officer of any company (including the company in respect of whch e
information circular is being prepared) that,

0] was subject to an order that was issued while the proposed director
was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief ﬁii \tofficer; or

(i) was subject to an order that was issued after roposed director
ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or chief finarRiQM officer and which
resulted from an event that occurred while that person was@ting in the capacity as
director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer,

state the fact and describe the basis OQWuch the order was made and
whether the order is still in effect; or (1/

(b) is, as at the date of the informaf 'n\c?rcular, or has been within 10 years
before the date of the information circular, g_gir:ector or executive officer of any company
(including the company in respect of wiy e information circular is being prepared)
that, while that person was acting i @% capacity, or within a year of that person
ceasing to act in that capacity, bec ankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation
relating to bankruptcy or insolv or was subject to or instituted any proceedings,

arrangement or compromise creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or
trustee appointed to hold it s, state the fact; or

(c) has, Wit@e 10 years before the date of the information circular,
become bankrupt, a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or
insolvency, or gﬁe subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or
compromise %: editors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to

hold the as the proposed director, state the fact.
7.2.1 ribe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which they were
imp > or the terms of the settlement agreement and the circumstances that gave rise

to%g ettlement agreement, if a proposed director has been subject to
(@) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities

legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement
agreement with a securities regulatory authority; or
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(b)  any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body
that would likely be considered important to a reasonable securityholder in deciding
whether to vote for a proposed director.

7.2.2 Despite section 7.2.1, no disclosure is required of a settlement agreement
entered into before December 31, 2000 unless the disclosure would likely be important
to a reasonable securityholder in deciding whether to vote for a proposed director.

INSTRUCTIONS Q'\

0] The disclosure required by sections 7.2 and 7.2.1 also applies to a&&,personal
holding companies of the proposed director. N

(i) A management cease trade order which applies to director xecutive officers
of a company is an "order" for the purposes of paragraph &X%)(i) and must be

disclosed, whether or not the proposed director was named in@ order.

(i) A late filing fee, such as a filing fee that applies"!s the late filing of an insider
report, is not a "penalty or sanction” for the purposes %@sction 7.2.1.

(iv)  The disclosure in paragraph 7.2(a)(i) onl)k';lg‘ les if the proposed director was a
director, chief executive officer or chief finanpgia¥ officer when the order was issued
against the company. You do not have tQ _provide disclosure if the proposed director
became a director, chief executive offic@ chief financial officer after the order was

issued. ov

7.2.3 For the purposes of subs@n 7.2(a), "order" means

(@) acease tradeQ%(;
(b) an order@r to a cease trade order; or

(c) an @hat denied the relevant company access to any exemption under

securities Iegi@ :

thanés in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days.
7.3 ny proposed director is to be elected under any arrangement or understanding
b en the proposed director and any other person, except the directors and executive
oNxers of the company acting solely in such capacity, name the other person and
describe briefly the arrangement or understanding.
Item 8 Executive Compensation

Despite section 9.3.1 of the Regulation, if you are sending this information
circular in connection with a meeting
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(@) thatis an annual general meeting,
(b) at which the company’s directors are to be elected, or

(© at which the company’s securityholders will be asked to vote on a matter
relating to executive compensation, include a completed Form 51-102F6. (b

Item 9 Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensatio@

Plans
Neh

(2) Provide the information in subsection (2) if you are se @this information
circular in connection with a meeting

9.1 Equity Compensation Plan Information

(@) thatis an annual general meeting, &O
(b)  at which the company’s directors are to %‘e?é)cted, or

(c) at which the company’s securityh(woe{ will be asked to vote on a matter
relating to executive compensation or a transaQtl n that involves the company issuing

securities. ]

set out, provide the information specified in
y's most recently completed financial year with
er which equity securities of the company are
as follows:

(2) In the tabular form under the ¢
section 9.2 as of the end of the co
respect to compensation plan
authorized for issuance, aggr
(@) all comper@w plans previously approved by securityholders; and
(b) all co Qation plans not previously approved by securityholders.

Equity Compens@igPlan Information

C.
\J Number of securitie to | Weighted-average Number of securities
Q‘ be issued upon | exercise price of | remaining available for
O exercise of outstanding | outstanding options, | future issuance under
Q options, warrants and | warrants and rights equity compensation
rights (b) plans (excluding
\% (a) securities reflected in
column (a))

(©)

Plan Category

Equity compensation plans
approved by securityholders

Equity compensation plans not
approved by securityholders

Total

146



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM FEBRUARY 11, 2013 TO MAY 13, 2013

9.2 Include in the table the following information as of the end of the company's most
recently completed financial year for each category of compensation plan described in
section 9.1:

(@) the number of securities to be issued upon the exercise of outstanding
options, warrants and rights (column (a)); (b

(b)  the weighted-average exercise price of the outstanding options, v@r nts
and rights disclosed under subsection 9.2(a) (column (b)); and

M)
(© other than securities to be issued upon the exercise of tlﬁ{{autstanding
options, warrants and rights disclosed in subsection 9.2(a), the nuser of securities
remaining available for future issuance under the plan (column (c))

9.3 For each compensation plan under which equity sec s of the company are
authorized for issuance and that was adopted without the oval of securityholders,
describe briefly, in narrative form, the material features Kfﬂbe plan.

INSTRUCTIONS (19

0] The disclosure under Item 9 relating\'tbﬁcompensation plans must include
individual compensation arrangements. 4

QaTny compensation plan of the company (or
mpany) under which equity securities of the
company are authorized for i ce to employees or non-employees (such as
directors, consultants, advisoy, ndors, customers, suppliers or lenders) in exchange
for consideration in the forn% ods or services. You do not have to provide disclosure
regarding any plan, contragt ®r arrangement for the issuance of warrants or rights to all
securityholders of theﬁeany on a pro rata basis (such as a rights offering).

(i) Provide disclosure with respe
parent, subsidiary or affiliate of t

@ii)  If more tQQ'one class of equity security is issued under the company's
compensation plahs, disclose aggregate plan information for each class of security

separately. C)

(iv) q ay aggregate information regarding individual compensation arrangements
with @ an information required under subsections 9.1(a) and (b), as applicable.

(Vx You may aggregate information regarding a compensation plan assumed in
connection with a merger, consolidation or other acquisition transaction pursuant to
which the company may make subsequent grants or awards of its equity securities with
the plan information required under subsections 9.1(a) and (b), as applicable. Disclose
on an aggregated basis in a footnote to the table the information required under
subsections 9.2(a) and (b) with respect to any individual options, warrants or rights
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outstanding under the compensation plan assumed in connection with a merger,
consolidation or other acquisition transaction.

(vij To the extent that the number of securities remaining available for future
issuance disclosed in column (c) includes securities available for future issuance under
any compensation plan other than upon the exercise of an option, warrant or right,
disclose the number of securities and type of plan separately for each such plan in a

footnote to the table. N
(vii) If the description of a compensation plan set forth in the company's fjptancial
statements contains the disclosure required by section 9.3, a cross-ref e to the
description satisfies the requirements of section 9.3. N

(viii)  If an equity compensation plan contains a formula for calcid#g the number of
securities available for issuance under the plan, including, with mitation, a formula
that automatically increases the number of securities av le for issuance by a
percentage of the number of outstanding securities of ompany, describe this

formula in a footnote to the table.

N

Item 10 Indebtedness of Directors and Exe Officers
10.1 Aggregate Indebtedness N °
=\
AGGREGATE INDEBTEDNESS (3) Po
Purpose To the Company ubsidiaries To Another Entity
(@) (b) A\ (c)
Share purchases X
Other Z,
A4

date within 30 days b he date of the information circular entered into in connection
with:

(1) Complete the @t ble for the aggregate indebtedness outstanding as at a
(@) @%ﬁ;‘e of securities; and

(b Il other indebtedness.

(2) Q?eport separately the indebtedness to

N\ (a)  the company or any of its subsidiaries (column (b)); and

(b)  another entity if the indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, support

agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding provided by
the company or any of its subsidiaries (column (c)),
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of all executive officers, directors, employees and former executive officers,
directors and employees of the company or any of its subsidiaries.

3) "Support agreement” includes, but is not limited to, an agreement to provide
assistance in the maintenance or servicing of any indebtedness and an agreement to
provide compensation for the purpose of maintaining or servicing any indebtedness of

the borrower.
,\‘b

10.2 Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers under (1) SecuritieQ
Purchase and (2) Other Programs

O~
INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS UNDER (1) '\"
SECURITIES PURCHASE AND (2) OTHER PROGRAMS .
Name and | Involvement of | Largest Amount Financially Securit_ ¥or | Amount
Principal Company  or | Amount Outstanding as | Assisted Inde ‘??ss Forgiven
Position Subsidiary Outstanding at [Date within | Securities ) During [Most
(@ (b) During [Most | 30 days] Purchases Recently
Recently ($) During [Moxo Completed
Completed (d) Recently < Financial
Financial Comple% Year]
Year] Finan ($)
() v2l) ©
;
e
NS
|
Securities Purchase Programs =\

L N

b~<
Other Programs )

Q>

PoX\S

"4

(1) Complete the above@ e for each individual who is, or at any time during the
most recently complet jnancial year was, a director or executive officer of the
company, each prop nominee for election as a director of the company, and each
associate of any s rector, executive officer or proposed nominee,

€) @ IS, or at any time since the beginning of the most recently completed
financial y @ I the company has been, indebted to the company or any of its
subsidi%§~o' ~O0r

ning of the most recently completed financial year has been, the subject of a
guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or
understanding provided by the company or any of its subsidiaries,

Qb) whose indebtedness to another entity is, or at any time since the
ug

and separately disclose the indebtedness for security purchase programs and all
other programs.

(2) Note the following:
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Column (a) - disclose the name and principal position of the borrower. If the
borrower was, during the most recently completed financial year, but no longer is a
director or executive officer, state that fact. If the borrower is a proposed nominee for
election as a director, state that fact. If the borrower is included as an associate,
describe briefly the relationship of the borrower to an individual who is or, during the
financial year, was a director or executive officer or who is a proposed nominee_for
election as a director, name that individual and provide the information required S
subparagraph for that individual. Q

Column (b) - disclose whether the company or a subsidiary of the mny is the
lender or the provider of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of c or similar
arrangement or understanding.

Column (c) - disclose the largest aggregate amounl@ the indebtedness
outstanding at any time during the most recently completed fir@:ial year.

Column (d) - disclose the aggregate amount of ind@gtedness outstanding as at a
date within 30 days before the date of the information s{®ular.

Column (e) - disclose separately for each clagl/or series of securities, the sum of
.- . 4 . .
the number of securities purchased during th st recently completed financial year
with the financial assistance (security purcb&e programs only).

Column (f) - disclose the sec rYg(;r the indebtedness, if any, provided to the
company, any of its subsidiaries or her entity (security purchase programs only).

Column (g) - disclose tal amount of indebtedness that was forgiven at any
time during the most recent pleted financial year.

(3)  Supplement the@e table with a summary discussion of

@) theéﬁial terms of each incidence of indebtedness and, if applicable, of
each guarant%( pport agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or
understandi@ cluding

sz 0] the nature of the transaction in which the indebtedness was
incurdad;

\s (i) the rate of interest;
(i)  the term to maturity;
(iv)  any understanding, agreement or intention to limit recourse; and

(v) any security for the indebtedness;
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(b) any material adjustment or amendment made during the most recently
completed financial year to the terms of the indebtedness and, if applicable, the
guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or similar arrangement or understanding.
Forgiveness of indebtedness reported in column (g) of the above table should be
explained; and

(© the class or series of the securities purchased with financial assistar'@))r
held as security for the indebtedness and, if the class or series of securitie not
publicly traded, all material terms of the securities, including the prov s for
exchange, conversion, exercise, redemption, retraction and dividends. '\(b.,

10.3 You do not need to disclose information required by this Item ~\

@) if you are not sending this information circular@connection with a
meeting O
(1) that is an annual general meeting, 03&
(i) at which the company’s directosl/% to be elected, or
(i) at which the company’s spg'u\i?yholders will be asked to vote on a

matter relating to executive compensation,{

(b)  for any indebtedness th l&een entirely repaid on or before the date of
the information circular, or 6
(© for routine indeb SS.

"Routine indebtedgxg' means indebtedness described in any of the following

clauses: O

0] If thQr’npany or its subsidiary makes loans to employees generally,

g I the loans are made on terms no more favourable than the terms on

which lo made by the company or its subsidiary to employees generally, and

go (B) the amount, at any time during the last completed financial year,
r jning unpaid under the loans to the director, executive officer or proposed
ndNinee, together with his or her associates, does not exceed $50,000.

(i) A loan to a person who is a full-time employee of the company,

(A) thatis fully secured against the residence of the borrower, and
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(B) the amount of which in total does not exceed the annual salary of
the borrower.

(i) If the company or its subsidiary makes loans in the ordinary course of
business, a loan made to a person other than a full-time employee of the company

(A)  on substantially the same terms, including those as to interest rate
and security, as are available when a loan is made to other customers of the con;(;by
or its subsidiary with comparable credit, and (19

(B)  with no more than the usual risks of collectibility. N
N

(iv) A loan arising by reason of purchases made on usuahﬁ‘gde terms or of
ordinary travel or expense advances, or for similar reason ?F the repayment
arrangements are in accord with usual commercial practice.

ltem 11 Interest of Informed Persons in Material T Qctions

material interest, direct or indirect, of any infor person of the company, any
proposed director of the company, or any assogiate or affiliate of any informed person
or proposed director, in any transaction sincpt > commencement of the company's
most recently completed financial year %\in any proposed transaction which has
materially affected or would materially aﬁQ.Lt e company or any of its subsidiaries.

INSTRUCTIONS: 0?“

(1) Briefly describe the m&l transaction. State the name and address of each
person whose interest in a% saction is described and the nature of the relationship

giving rise to the interest. ;

Describe briefly and, where practicable, sta;@g) approximate amount of any

(i) For any tran involving the purchase or sale of assets by or to the company
or any subsidiar er than in the ordinary course of business, state the cost of the
assets to the paychaser and the cost of the assets to the seller, if acquired by the seller
within 2 yeaﬁ%r to the transaction.

(i) &em does not apply to any interest arising from the ownership of securities
of t mpany where the securityholder receives no extra or special benefit or
a&wt ge not shared on a proportionate basis by all holders of the same class of
seQurities or by all holders of the same class of securities who are resident in Canada.

(iv)  Include information as to any material underwriting discounts or commissions
upon the sale of securities by the company where any of the specified persons was or is
to be an underwriter in a contractual relationship with the company with respect to
securities or is an associate or affiliate of a person that was or is to be such an
underwriter.
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(V) You do not need to disclose the information required by this Item for any
transaction or any interest in that transaction if

(A) the rates or charges involved in the transaction are fixed by law or
determined by competitive bids,

(B) the interest of the specified person in the transaction is solely tl',{tb)f
director of another company that is a party to the transaction, (19

(C) the transaction involves services as a bank or other deposigy.of funds,
transfer agent, registrar, trustee under a trust indenture or other simiIaLieN es, or

(D) the transaction does not directly or indirectly, inv emuneration for
services, and

() the interest of the specified persor&gse from the beneficial
ownership, direct or indirect, of less than 10% of anyblass of voting securities of
another company that is a party to the transaction, Q

(I the transaction is in the ordi argl.(ourse of business of the company
or its subsidiaries, and N

() the amount of the *action or series of transactions is less
than 10% of the total sales or purch s?. s the case may be, of the company and its
subsidiaries for the most recently c % ted financial year.

(vi)  Provide informa@or transactions not excluded above which involve

remuneration, directly or in% y, to any of the specified persons for services in any
capacity unless the inte@ f the person arises solely from the beneficial ownership,

direct or indirect, of le n 10% of any class of voting securities of another company
furnishing the serviQ@ the company or its subsidiaries.
Item 12 ,@%ntment of Auditor

N Qe auditor of the company. If the auditor was first appointed within the last
5 year te the date when the auditor was first appointed.

f action is to be taken to replace an auditor, provide the information required
uMNer section 4.11 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

ltem 13 Management Contracts
If management functions of the company or any of its subsidiaries are to any

substantial degree performed other than by the directors or executive officers of the
company or subsidiary,
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(@) give details of the agreement or arrangement under which the
management functions are performed, including the name and address of any person
who is a party to the agreement or arrangement or who is responsible for performing the
management functions;

(b)  give the names and provinces of residence of any person that was, during
the most recently completed financial year, an informed person of any perso h
which the company or subsidiary has any such agreement or arrangement an%i the
following information is known to the directors or executive officers of the compgpy, give
the names and provinces of residence of any person that would be an infqnQed person
of any person with which the company or subsidiary has any such eement or
arrangement if the person were an issuer;

(c) for any person named under paragraph (a) stat@ amounts paid or
payable by the company and its subsidiaries to the person sj the commencement of
the most recently completed financial year and give particulésg;-and

(d)  for any person named under paragrap%&por (b) and their associates or
affiliates, give particulars of, (1/

(1) any indebtedness of the %ﬁn, company, associate or affiliate to
the company or its subsidiaries that was ou,&an ing, and

(i) any transaction oy ngement of the person, company, associate
or affiliate with the company or subg\Jidry,

at any time sin@e start of the company's most recently completed
financial year. Q

INSTRUCTIONS: O®
0] Do not ref&ny matter that is relatively insignificant.

(i) In giyf
indebted
and of

pres

articulars of indebtedness, state the largest aggregate amount of
utstanding at any time during the period, the nature of the indebtedness
transaction in which it was incurred, the amount of the indebtedness
outstanding and the rate of interest paid or charged on the indebtedness.

(|'T?~)s Do not include as indebtedness amounts due from the particular person for
purchases subject to usual trade terms, for ordinary travel and expense advances and
for other similar transactions.
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Item 14 Particulars of Matters to be Acted Upon

14.1 If action is to be taken on any matter to be submitted to the meeting of
securityholders other than the approval of annual financial statements, briefly describe
the substance of the matter, or related groups of matters, except to the extent described
under the foregoing items, in sufficient detail to enable reasonable securityholders to
form a reasoned judgment concerning the matter. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, such matters include alterations of share capital, charter amend
property acquisitions or dispositions, reverse takeovers, amalgamations, [%Ers
arrangements or reorganizations and other similar transactions.

14.2 If the action to be taken is in respect of a significant acquisition beqaetermined
under Part 8 of Regulation 51-102 under which securities of the acqegd business are
being exchanged for the company’s securities, or in respe a restructuring
transaction under which securities are to be changed, exchangeésued or distributed,
include disclosure for

(@) the company, if the company has not file documents required under
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure \jations,

(b)  the business being acquired, if the ;{agllr is a significant acquisition,

(c) each entity, other than the co any, whose securities are being changed,
exchanged, issued or distributed, if

(1) the matter is a E@Y}urmg transaction, and

(i) the comp current securityholders will have an interest in that

entity after the restructuring action is completed, and
(d each e that would result from the significant acquisition or
restructuring trans ) if the company’s securityholders will have an interest in that

entity after the siQ ant acquisition or restructuring transaction is completed.

The gsNésure for the company, business or entity must be the disclosure
(includin cial statements) prescribed under securities legislation and described in
the for prospectus that the company, business or entity, respectively, would be
eligi use immediately prior to the sending and filing of the information circular in

r&c of the significant acquisition or restructuring transaction, for a distribution of
rities in the jurisdiction.

14.3 If the matter is one that is not required to be submitted to a vote of
securityholders, state the reasons for submitting it to securityholders and state what
action management intends to take in the event of a negative vote by the
securityholders.
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14.4 Section 14.2 does not apply to an information circular that is sent to holders of
voting securities of a reporting issuer soliciting proxies otherwise than on behalf of
management of the reporting issuer (a "dissident circular"), unless the sender of the
dissident circular is proposing a significant acquisition or restructuring transaction
involving the reporting issuer and the sender, under which securities of the sender, or
an affiliate of the sender, are to be distributed or transferred to securityholders of the
reporting issuer. However, a sender of a dissident circular shall include in the dissident
circular the disclosure required by section 14.2 if the sender of the dissident circm;{bs
proposing a significant acquisition or restructuring transaction under which se;ﬁe of

the sender or securities of an affiliate of the sender are to be changed, e nged,
issued or distributed. '\(b.,

14.5 A company satisfies section 14.2 if it prepares an informk[ion circular in
connection with a Qualifying Transaction, for a company that is a >0l in connection
with a Reverse Take-Over (as Qualifying Transaction, CPC and rse Take-Over are
defined in the TSX Venture Exchange policies) provided th@yhe company complies
with the policies and requirements of the TSX Venture ange in respect of that
Qualifying Transaction or Reverse Take-Over. '\03

INSTRUCTION (19

For the purposes of section 14.2, a security ﬁe? will not be considered to have an
interest in an entity after an acquisition or{structuring transaction is completed if the
securityholder will only hold a redeemaQn_ ecurity that is immediately redeemed for

cash. ov

ltem 15 Restricted Securi Q~

15.1 If the action to be %(involves a transaction that would have the effect of
converting or subdividi whole or in part, existing securities into restricted
securities, or creatin@ restricted securities, the information circular must also
include, as part of t imum disclosure required, a detailed description of:

(@) t %ting rights attached to the restricted securities that are the subject of
the transac'Q?dr that will result from the transaction either directly or following a
conversi change or exercise, and the voting rights, if any, attached to the
securiti& any other class of securities of the company that are the same or greater
on a security basis than those attached to the restricted securities that are the
S ct of the transaction or that will result from the transaction either directly or

fONdDwing a conversion, exchange or exercise;

(b)  the percentage of the aggregate voting rights attached to the company's
securities that are represented by the class of restricted securities;

(c) any significant provisions under applicable corporate and securities law, in
particular whether the restricted securities may or may not be tendered in any takeover
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bid for securities of the reporting issuer having voting rights superior to those attached
to the restricted securities, that do not apply to the holders of the restricted securities
that are the subject of the transaction or that will result from the transaction either
directly or following a conversion, exchange or exercise, but do apply to the holders of
another class of equity securities, and the extent of any rights provided in the constating
documents or otherwise for the protection of holders of the restricted securities; and

(d) any rights under applicable corporate law, in the constating docume fsb)r
otherwise, of holders of restricted securities that are the subject of the transactic@%her
directly or following a conversion, exchange or exercise, to attend, in per or by
proxy, meetings of holders of equity securities of the company and to at the
meetings to the same extent that holders of equity securities are entitled. N

section 15.1, the detailed description referred to in section 15.1¢ t include, in bold-

15.2 If holders of restricted securities do not have all of thegﬁ s referred to in
face type, a statement of the rights the holders do not have. O

ltem 16 Additional Information '\03
16.1 Disclose that additional information relating;l;gthe company is on SEDAR at
a

www.sedar.com. Disclose how securityholders may” contact the company to request
copies of the company's financial statements ang D&A.

16.2 Include a statement that financ@ormation is provided in the company's
comparative annual financial statem and MD&A for its most recently completed
financial year. 6

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F5'@). 2006-04, s. 42; M.O. 2007-08, s. 8; M.O. 2008-06,
s. 10 and 11; M.O. 2008-18¢5N0 and 13; M.O. 2010-17, s. 31; M.O. 2013-01, s. 7.

157


http://www.sedar.com/

REGULATION IN FORCE FROM FEBRUARY 11, 2013 TO MAY 13, 2013

FORM 51-102F6 STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION (in respect of
financial years ending before December 31, 2008)

ltem 1 General Provisions

1.1 The purpose of this Form is to provide disclosure of all compensation, whatever
the source, earned by certain executive officers and directors in connection with office
or employment by your company or a subsidiary of your company. Wherever this

uses the word "company”, the term includes other types of business organizatio% ch
as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business entities.

M)
The particular requirements in this Form should be interpreted witH{%ard to this
purpose, the definition of "executive officer" in the Regulation, and~# a manner that
gives priority to substance over form.

1.2 You should prepare the Form in the prescribed format@ou may omit a table or
column of a table if it is not applicable.
N

1.3  For the purposes of this Form Q

"Chief Executive Officer" or "CEO" mea e h individual who served as chief
executive officer of your company or acted in a§| ilar capacity during the most recently
completed financial year;

"Chief Financial Officer" or "CF9=mMeans each individual who served as chief
financial officer of your company o d in a similar capacity during the most recently
completed financial year;

"long-term incentive%%?or "LTIP" means a plan providing compensation
intended to motivate perf nce over a period greater than one financial year. LTIPs
do not include option&R plans or plans for compensation through shares or units
that are subjectto r ions on resale;

"measu gnt period" means the period beginning at the "measurement point"
ed by the market close on the last trading day before the beginning of
s fifth preceding financial year, through and including the end of your
compa@ ost recently completed financial year. If the class or series of securities has
bee icly traded for a shorter period of time, the period covered by the comparison

n{@orrespond to that time period;

"Named Executive Officers” or "NEOs" means the following individuals:

(@) each CEO;

(b)  each CFO;
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(c) each of your company's 3 most highly compensated executive officers,
other than the CEO and CFO, who were serving as executive officers at the end of the
most recently completed financial year and whose total salary and bonus exceeds
$150,000; and

(d) any additional individuals for whom disclosure would have been provided
under (c) except that the individual was not serving as an officer of your company at the
end of the most recently completed financial year-end; N

"normal retirement age" means normal retirement age as defined in nsion
plan or, if not defined, the earliest time at which a plan participant may retlreyluhout any
benefit reduction due to age;

"options" includes all options, share purchase warrants an ts granted by a
company or its subsidiaries as compensation for employmenté\/ices or office. An
extension of an option or replacement grant is a grant of g g?'v option. Also, options
includes any grants made to a NEO by a third party or a n bsidiary affiliate of your
company in respect of services to your company or a sub@jiary of your company;

"plan” includes, but is not limited to, any arra@hent whether or not set forth in
any formal document and whether or not applicgble t© only one individual, under which

cash, securities, options, SARs, phantom stoc rrants convertible securities, shares
or units that are subject to restrlctlons on sale performance units and performance
shares, or similar instruments may b ed or purchased. It excludes the Canada

reimbursement and relocation p that are available generally to all salaried
employees (for example, does n criminate in scope, terms or operation in favour of

Pension Plan, similar government plg d group life, health, hospitalization, medical
executive officers or dlrectors

"replacement gran %ans the grant of an option or SAR reasonably related to
any prior or potentlal ation of an option or SAR,;

“repricing” option or SAR means the adjustment or amendment of the
exercise or b glce of a previously awarded option or SAR. Any repricing occurring
through the ation of a formula or mechanism in, or applicable to, the previously
awarded or SAR equally affecting all holders of the class of securities underlying

the opt@ r SAR is excluded; and

% stock appreciation right" or "SAR" means a right, granted by a company or any
oN)s subsidiaries as compensation for employment services or office to receive cash or
an issue or transfer of securities based wholly or in part on changes in the trading price
of publicly traded securities.

If a term is used but not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102

respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24) and to
Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this
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Form and is defined in both the securities statute of a local jurisdiction and in
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of
Policy Statement to RegulatiOn 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations
(Decision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12).

1.4  In preparing this Form:

€) Determination of Most Highly Compensated Executive Officers,g?e
determination of your company's most highly compensated executive officers i ed
on the total annual salary and bonus of each executive officer during your CGb any's
most recently completed financial year. '\(b.,

(b) Change in Status of a NEO During the Financial A&ar. If the NEO
served in that capacity during any part of a financial year for, tch disclosure is
required, disclose all of his or her compensation for the full financ@ear.

(c) Exclusion Due to Unusual Compensati(f\Qr Compensation for
Foreign Assignment. In limited circumstances, you exclude disclosure of an
individual, other than a CEO or CFO, who is one o&e 3 most highly compensated
executive officers. Factors to consider in determiningT/ xclude an individual are

(1) a payment or accrual 'Bh" unusually large amount of cash
compensation (such as bonus or com,ﬂssion) that is not part of a recurring
arrangement and is unlikely to continue; Q.

(i) the payment Zaitional amounts of cash compensation for
increased living expenses due tq, signment outside of Canada.

(d) Al Compens@f Covered. This Form requires disclosure of all plan
and non-plan compensatt r each NEO, and each director in accordance with Item
11. Except as expresﬁvided, no amount, benefit or right reported as compensation
for a financial year Q’ e reported as compensation for any subsequent fiscal year.

(e)
include co
include i

%es of Compensation. Compensation to officers and directors must

tion from the company and its subsidiaries. Also, the company must
appropriate compensation category any compensation paid under an
tng, arrangement or agreement existing among

\%Q (i) any of

(A) the company,

(B) its subsidiaries, or

(C) an officer or director of the company or its subsidiary, and
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(i) another entity,

for the purpose of the entity compensating the officer or director for
employment services or office.

If the company’s executive management is employed or retained by an external
management company (including a subsidiary, affiliate or associate) and the company
has entered into an understanding, arrangement or agreement of any kind f (be
provision of executive management services by the external management con@n to
the company directly or indirectly, the company must disclose any compgpSation

payable y\(b N

(i) directly by the company to any persons employe& or retained by
the external management company who are acting as executive o c%'s and directors of
the company; and

(iv) by the external management compa&g such persons that is
attributable to services rendered to the company directl)‘\dbndirectly.

) Compensation Furnished to Ass@‘tl%es. Any compensation to an
associate, under an understanding or agreement Yamong any of the company, its
subsidiaries or another entity and an officer on&h&é‘tor of the company or its subsidiary
for the purpose of the company, its subsidiary or the other entity compensating the
officer or director for employment servic office, must be included in the appropriate
compensation category. v

() Allocation of Co ation — If the company’s executive management
nagement company, and the external management

is provided through an exter
company has other clients%dddition to the company, the company must disclose
either,

0] ortion of the compensation paid to the officer or director by the
external manag t company that can be attributed to services rendered to the

company; or Q/

fl) the entire compensation paid by the external management
compa the officer or director.

f the company does allocate the compensation paid to the officer or director, it
sMuld disclose the basis for the allocation.

Item 2 Summary Compensation Table
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2.1 Summary Compensation Table

Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation
Awards Payouts
NEO Year Salary | Bonus | Other Annual | Securities | Shares of | LTIP All Other
Name (b) %) ()] Compensation | Under Units Subject | Payouts | Compensation
and (c) (d) (%) Options /| to Resale | ($) (%)
Principal (e) SARs Restrictions (h) 0]
Position Granted (%) (b
@) #) ) r\
(f) O\

CEO XXX3 (V

XXX2

XXX1 Dy
CFO XXX3 N~

XXX2 4

XXX1 ~
A XXX3 \&Y‘

XXX2 N

XXX1 ra i
B XXX3 &\J

XXX2

XXX1 ;\0\
C XXX3 =

XXX2 (b

XXX1 (],

\

1. Complete this table for each of the Qs for your company's 3 most recently

completed financial years. Note the followj

- Columns (c) and (d) &nde any cash or non-cash base salary and
bonus earned by the NEO. For nggsash compensation, disclose the fair market value
of the compensation at the tim compensation is earned. Amounts deferred at the
election of a NEO must be in d in the financial year in which earned. If the amount
of salary and/or bonus ear@ n a given financial year is not calculable, that fact must
be disclosed in a footno the amount must be disclosed in the subsequent financial
year in the column for Inancial year in which earned.

- Any%%y or bonus earned in a covered year that was foregone, at the
election of under a program of your company under which non-cash
compensatiqn yay be received in lieu of a portion of annual compensation, need not be
include e salary or bonus columns. Instead, you may disclose the non-cash
comp rétlon in the appropriate column for that year (i.e. columns (f), (g) and (i)). If the
electiy was made under a LTIP and therefore is not reportable at the time of grant in
t@able, a footnote must be added to the salary or bonus column disclosing this fact
an referring to the table in section 3.1.

- Commissions can be treated as salary or bonus. You can add a footnote

to the table to indicate that such amounts are paid under a commission arrangement
and disclose details of the arrangement in the compensation committee report (Item 9).
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- Column (e) - disclose all other compensation of the NEO that is not
properly categorized as salary or bonus, including

(@) Perquisites and other personal benefits, securities or property,
unless the aggregate amount of such compensation is less than $50,000 and 10% of
the total of the annual salary and bonus of the NEO for the financial year. Generally, a
perquisite is the cost or value of a personal benefit provided to the NEO that is_not
available to all employees. Examples of things that could be perquisites are N

- Car allowance (19
(b )
N
4

- Cars &
- Corporate aircraft
<O

- Club membership 03
N

- Car lease

- Financial assistance to pﬂt@le education to children

. . . 4
- Financial counselli '\

- Parking é

- Tax ret Z;aration

The follo@re not considered perquisites and thus need not be

reported: Q

- O&ontributions to professional dues

Q Canada Pension Plan or Québec Pension Plan
C) - Dental
OQ~ - Employee relocation plans available to all employees
\%Q - Group life benefits available to all employees

- Long-term benefits available to all employees
- Medical

Each perquisite or other personal benefit exceeding 25% of the
total perquisites and other personal benefits reported for a NEO must be identified by
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type and amount in a footnote to column (e). Perquisites and other personal benefits
must be valued on the basis of the aggregate incremental cost to your company and its
subsidiaries;

(b)  The above-market portion of all interest, dividends or other
amounts paid concerning securities, options, stock appreciation rights (SARSs), loans,
deferred compensation or other obligations issued to a NEO during the financial year or
payable during that period but deferred at the election of the NEO. Above- mary\
preferential means a rate greater than the rate ordinarily paid by the compa or its
subsidiary on securities or other obligations having the same or similar featur@blssued
to third parties. Any above-market portion not reported in column (e) should)Be, reported
in column (i);

(© Earnings on LTIP compensation or dividend e lents paid during
the financial year or payable during that period but deferred at th ction of the NEO;

(d)  Amounts reimbursed during the finaneﬁlQear for the payment of

N

(e) The difference between the pri@aid by a NEO for a security of
your company or its subsidiaries that was Rurchfased from your company or its
subsidiaries and the fair market value of the sqgQu ty at the time of purchase, unless the
discount was available generally, eltheqo all securityholders or to all salaried

employees of your company; Q.

taxes;

) The imputed |
incurred on behalf of, the NEO
accordance with the Income

t benefits from loans provided to, or debts
ur company and its subsidiaries as computed in
t (R.S.C. 1985, c.1 (5" Suppl.)); and

company, its subsidiaj r third parties that were serviced or settled by the company
or its subsidiaries y# t the substitution of an obligation to repay the amount to the
company or sub les in its place

(9) The $%unts of loan or interest obligations of the NEO to your

Q/ - Column (f) - includes the number of securities under option
(with or t SARs awarded with the options) and, separately, the number of
securiti bject to freestanding SARs. The figures in this column for the most recent

fisca r should equal those reported in the table in section 4.1, column (b). These
fig@s are not cumulative.

- If at any time during the most recently completed financial
year your company repriced options or freestanding SARs previously awarded to a
NEO, disclose the repriced options or SARs as new options or SARs grants in
column (f).
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- Column (g) - includes the dollar value (net of consideration
paid by the NEO) of any shares or units that are subject to restrictions on resale
(calculated by multiplying the closing market price of your company's freely trading
shares on the date of grant by the number of stock or stock units awarded).

- In a footnote to column (g) disclose

- the number and value of the aggregate holdings of s S
and units that are subject to restrictions on resale at the end of the most @ tly
completed financial year, (1,

4

- for any shares or units that are subject to h?s?rictions on
resale that will vest, in whole or in part, in less than 3 years from th te of grant, the
total number of securities awarded and the vesting schedule; and

- whether dividends or dividend equi nts will be paid on the
shares and units that are subject to restrictions on resale diﬂo ed in the column.

- Column (h) - includes the@il?r value of all payouts under

LTIPs. (1/

- Awards of shares 'u\ni'fs that are subject to restrictions on
resale that are subject to performance-Q{sje conditions prior to vesting may be
disclosed as LTIP awards under the tabQ}n ection 3.1 instead of under column (g). If
this approach is selected, once the %Qe. r unit vests, it must be reported as an LTIP
payout in column (h).

- If Wpecified performance target, goal or condition to
payout was waived regardi amount included in LTIP payouts, disclose this fact in

a footnote to column (h).
Q'O Column (i) - must include, but is not limited to,
Q/Q (@) The amount paid, payable or accrued to a NEO for

0] the resignation, retirement or other termination
of the employment with your company or one of its subsidiaries; or

(i) a change in control of your company or one of
it\subsidiaries or a change in the NEO's responsibilities following such a change in
control.

(b)  The dollar value of the above-market portion of all
interest, dividends or other amounts earned during the financial year, or calculated with
respect to that period, excluding amounts that are paid during that period, or payable
during that period at the election of the NEO that were reported as other annual
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compensation in column (e). See the description for column (e), point (b) for an
explanation of the above market portion.

(© The dollar value of amounts earned on LTIP
compensation during the financial year, or calculated with respect to that period, and
dividend equivalents earned during that period except that amounts paid during that
period, or payable during that period at the election of the NEO must be reported_as
other annual compensation in column (e). N

(d) Annual contributions or other aIIocation!l% the
company or its subsidiaries to vested and unvested defined contribuigyg.plans or
employee savings plans. These benefits are not considered to be perdNsftes due to
their all-inclusive nature. i

(e)  The dollar value of any insura@remium paid by, or
on behalf of, your company or its subsidiaries during the fin@a year with respect to
term life insurance for the benefit of a NEO. If th S an arrangement or
understanding, whether formal or informal, that the NEOfMgs received or will receive or
be allocated an interest in any cash surrender value e insurance policy, either

0] the full doj!ﬁ value of the remainder of the
premiums paid by, or on behalf of, the companio its subsidiaries; or

(ii) @ premiums will be refunded to the
f

company or its subsidiaries on termin the policy, the dollar value of the benefit to

the NEO of the remainder of the p m paid by, or on behalf of, the company or its
subsidiaries during the financial . This benefit must be determined for the period,
projected on an actuarial basig, een payment of premium and the refund.

{ﬂ If the NEO's compensation takes the form of a
contribution to assist | NEO's purchase of shares, the amount of the contribution,
unless the contribyj as available generally, either to all securityholders or to all
salaried employeQ he company.

used for EO. If your company changes methods of reporting from one year to the

g@! - The same method of reporting under this paragraph must be
next, tl@ act and the reason for the change must be disclosed in a footnote to

colu
\% - The following need not be reported in column (i):

0] LTIP awards and amounts received on exercise of
options and SARs; and

(i) information on defined benefit and actuarial plans.
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2. The $150,000 threshold only applies to the most recent fiscal year in determining
the NEOs.

3. If, during any of the financial years covered by the table, your company or its
subsidiaries did not employ a NEO for the entire financial year, disclose this fact and the
number of months the NEO was so employed during the year in a footnote to the table.

4. If during any of the financial years covered by the table, a NEO S
compensated by a non-subsidiary affiliate of your company, disclose in a not the

table
N

(b) whether the compensation is included in the compeng@on reported in the

(@) the amount and nature of such compensation; and

table.
5. Information with respect to a financial year-end 6{9 to the most recently
completed financial year-end need not be provided if yodrbompany was not a reporting
issuer at any time during such prior financial year. Q

ltem 3 LTIP Awards Table
'\ .

3.1 LTIP Awards In Most Recently Comgleted Financial Year
=

Estimated Future Payouts Under ?)
Non-Securities-Price-Based Plans \\
NEO Name | Securities, Units | Pe. nce or | Threshold Target Manimum
() or Other Rights Period | ($ or #) ($or#) (Sor#)
#) < Maturation | (d) (e) 0)
(b) Q r Payout
N _(©)
CEO N
CFO )
A L=
B <
c &,
"4
1. C te this table for each LTIP award made to the NEOs during the most
recen mpleted financial year. Note the following:

% - Column (b) - Include the number of securities, units or other rights
a%rded under any LTIP and, if applicable, the number of securities underlying any
such unit or right.

- Columns (d) to (f) - For plans not based on stock price, the dollar value of

the estimated payout or range estimated payouts under the award (threshold, target and
maximum amount), whether such award is denominated in stock or cash.
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- Threshold is the minimum amount payable for a certain level of
performance under the plan.

- Target is the amount payable if the specified performance target(s) is
reached. You should provide a representative amount based on the previous financial
year's performance if the target award is not determinable.

- Maximum is the maximum payout possible under the plan. ,\0_)
2. Describe in a footnote to the table, the material terms of any award, ir(cl%ing a
general description of the formula or criteria applied in determining ﬂﬁ.,amounts
payable. You are not required to disclose confidential information that wbq adversely
affect your company's competitive position.

3. A grant of 2 instruments in conjunction with each othev@x;one of which is
under an LTIP, need be reported only in the table applicable t@e other instrument.

ltem 4 Options and SARs '\03

4.1  Option/SAR Grants During The Most Receﬁl@Completed Financial Year

NEO Name | Securities, | % of Total Exermce){hase Market Value of | Expiration

@ Under Options / Prlce?k Securities Date
Options /| SARs Granted | ($/ ity) Underlying Options / | (f)
SARs to Employees OQ‘ SARs on the Date of
Granted in Financial %‘ Grant
#) Year \) ($/Security)
(b) © &= (e)

CEO %

CFO N/

A i

B A\

c o

Complete g?able for individual grants of options to purchase or acquire
securltles of company or any of its subsidiaries (whether or not in conjunction with
SARs) and ndlng SARs made during the most recently completed financial year
to each . Note the following:

The information must be presented for each NEO in groups according to
e@ssuer and class or series of security underlying the options or SARs granted and
within these groups in reverse chronological order. For each grant, disclose in a
footnote the issuer and the class or series of securities underlying the options or
freestanding SARs granted.

- If more than one grant of options or freestanding SARs was made to a
NEO during the most recently completed financial year, a separate row must be used to
provide the particulars of each grant. However, multiple grants during a single financial
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year to a NEO can be aggregated if each grant was made on the same terms (eg.
exercise price, expiration date and vesting thresholds, if any).

- A single grant of options or freestanding SARs must be reported as
separate grants for each tranche with a different exercise or base price, expiration date
or performance-vesting threshold.

- Each material term of the grant, including but not limited to the d QJ)f
exercisability, the number of SARs, dividend equivalents, performance units other
instruments granted in conjunction with options, a performance-based coﬁ&n to
exercisability, a re-load feature or a tax-reimbursement feature must be d'i'fslpsed in a
footnote to the table. N

- Options or freestanding SARs granted in an option icing transaction
must be disclosed. é

- If the exercise or base price is adjustable O&Qe term of an option or
freestanding SAR in accordance with a prescribed staﬂ?xrd or formula, include in a
footnote to the table, a description of the standard or f a.

- If any provision of an option or SA&S} er than an anti-dilution provision)
could cause the exercise or base price to be Iwe d, a description of the provision and
its potential consequences must be includeQin a footnote to the table.

- In determining the grant ae market value of the securities underlying
options or freestanding SARs, use _&tNer the closing market price or any other formula

prescribed under the option or plan. For options or SARs granted prior to the
establishment of a trading m In the underlying securities, the initial offering price
may be used. Q
4.2 Aggregated O AR Exercises During The Most Recently Completed
Financial Year An ncial Year-End Option/SAR Values
&
NEO Name cOvities, Aggregate Value | Unexercised Value of Unexercised
@ s ired on | Realized Options / SARs at | in-the-Money Options /
(_,Exercice 3) | (%) FY-End SARs at FY-End
&) © ® ©®)
O Exercisable / | Exercisable /
Q Unexercisable Unexercisable

@ (d) (e)
CFO
A
B
C
1. Complete this table for each exercise of options (or SARS awarded with the

options) and freestanding SARs during the most recently completed financial year by
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each NEO and the financial year-end value of unexercised options and SARs, on an
aggregated basis. Note the following:

- Column (c) - the aggregate dollar value realized upon exercise. The dollar
value is equal to column (b) times the difference between the market value of the
securities underlying the options or SARs at exercise or financial year-end, respectively,
and the exercise or base price of the options or SARs.

- Column (d) - the total number of securities underlying unexercised '}Ons
and SARs held at the end of the most recently completed financial year, rately
identifying the exercisable and unexercisable options and SARs. '\(b.,

- Column (e) - the aggregate dollar value of in-the-mecky, unexercised
options and SARs held at the end of the financial year, sep identifying the
exercisable and unexercisable options and SARs. The dollar %e is calculated the
same way as in column (c). Options or freestanding SARs ar@-t e-money at financial
year-end if the market value of the underlying securitie that date exceeds the
exercise or base price of the option or SAR. '\03

Item 5 Option and SAR Repricings (19
. . N+
5.1 Table of Option and SAR Repricings
NEO | Date of | Securities Market 4Q@Y’cise Price | New Exercise | Length of Original
Name | Repricing | Uner Price c?Nt Time of | Price Option Term
@ (b) Options [/ Securiti%{ Repricing or | ($/Security) (f) Remaining at Date
SARS at Tj Amendment of Repricing or
Repriced R %g or | ($/Security) Amendment
or ment | (e) (9)
Amended ecurity)
#) (¢) d)
CEO
CFO (@)
A =
B N\
C A

Vv
1. Co@&e this table if at any time during the most recently completed financial
year’,é@ ompany has repriced downward any options or freestanding SARs held by
any .

2NN State the following information for all downward repricings of options or SARs
held by any NEO during the shorter of

(@) the 10 year period ending on the date of this Form; and

(b) the period during which your company has been a reporting issuer.
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3. Information about a replacement grant made during the financial year must be
disclosed even if the corresponding original grant was cancelled in a prior year. If the
replacement grant is not made at the current market value, describe this fact and the
terms of the grant in a footnote to the table.

4, The information must be presented in groups according to issuer and class or
series of security underlying options or SARs and within these groups in reverse
chronological order. N

5. In a narrative immediately before or after this table, explain in reasonﬂﬁgdetail
the basis for all downward repricings during the most recently completed ﬁ'u.:fz;lcial year
of options and SARs held by any of the NEOs. \\'\

Item 6 Defined Benefit or Actuarial Plan Disclosure §?~

6.1 Pension Plan Table &O

Remuneration Years of Service

$) 15 20 25 N~ 30 35

125,000 D

150,000 %

175,000 LN

200,000 )

250,000 ~\

300,000 <~

400,000 >

A\
[insert additional rows as approp '@r additional increments]

1. Complete this table f %ﬂined benefit or actuarial plans under which benefits are
determined primarily by figadé\compensation (or average final compensation) and years
of service. The estim nnual benefits payable upon retirement (including amounts
attributable to any d benefit supplementary or excess pension awards plan) for
the specified co sation and years of service should be disclosed .

2. Immee%y following the table disclose

;Q@z the compensation covered by the plan(s), including the relationship of the
cove

ompensation to the compensation reported in the table in section 2.1;
\s (b)  the current compensation covered by the plan for any NEO whose total
compensation differs substantially (by more than 10%) from that set out in the table in
section 2.1;

(© a statement as to the basis upon which benefits are computed (for
example; straight-life annuity amounts), and whether or not the benefits listed in the
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table are subject to any deduction for social security or other offset amounts such as
Canada Pension Plan or Québec Pension Plan amounts; and

(d) the estimated credited years of service for each NEO.

3. Compensation disclosed in the table must allow for reasonable increases in
existing compensation levels or, alternately, you may present, as the highest
compensation level in the table, an amount equal to 120% of the amount of co gbd
compensation of the most highly compensated of the NEOs. Q

4. For defined benefit or actuarial plans which are not reported inc3Qe table in
section 6.1 because the benefits are not determined primarily by final coMg&nsation (or
average final compensation) or years of service, state in narrative for

(@ the formula by which benefits are determined; and @
(b) the estimated annual benefits payable uﬂq@retirement at normal
retirement age for each of the NEOs.

N
Item 7 Termination of Employment, Clq%e in  Responsibilities and
Employment Contracts NG

7.1  Describe the terms and condition;{]cluding dollar amounts, of each of the
following contracts or arrangements leb, re in existence at the end of the most
recently completed financial year: v

(@ any employment c@a\tt between your company or its subsidiaries and a

NEO; and
a{o

(b) any compe ry plan, contract or arrangement, where a NEO is entitled
to receive more than ,000 from the issuer or its subsidiaries, including periodic
payments or instal in the event of

' Q the resignation, retirement or any other termination of the NEO's
employmen your company and its subsidiaries;

O2 (i) a change of control of your company or any of its subsidiaries; or

S

% (i)  achange in the NEO's responsibilities following a change in control.
N\
7.2

A cross reference to disclosure already made of any payments, instalments or
contributions to defined benefit pension plans under Items 2 or 6 is permitted.
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Item 8 Composition of the Compensation Committee

8.1 If any compensation is reported in Items 2 to 6 for the most recently completed
financial year, under the caption "Composition of the Compensation Committee",
identify each member of your company's compensation committee (or other board
committee performing equivalent functions or in the absence of any such committee, the
entire board of directors) during the most recently completed financial year. Also,
indicate each committee member who N

(@) was, during the most recently completed financial year, an Q%er or
employee of your company or any of its subsidiaries; N
N

(b)  was formerly an officer of your company or any of its sube\giaries;

(c) had or has any relationship that requires disclo@ by your company
under Form 51-102F5 Information Circular, Iltem 10 "Indeess of Directors and
Executive Officers" and Iltem 11 "Interest of Informed Persorﬁ\l aterial Transactions";

(d)  was an executive officer of your compa 'é‘:]? also served as a director or
member of the compensation committee (or arj? board committee performing
equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such committee, the entire board of
directors) of another issuer, one of whose exeo\i “officers served either

(1) on the compensag 4committee (or other board committee
performing equivalent functions or, iR &bsence of any such committee, the entire
board of directors) of the issuer; or

(i) as a direg the issuer.

before the report in "Report on Executive Compensation" is prepared, then
disclose the chan%~ embership as well as any of the relationships described in
section 8.1, if an)Q

Item 9 éﬁort on Executive Compensation

8.2 If the compositionnﬁghe compensation committee changed during the year or

9.1 Ié/‘compensation is reported in Items 2 to 6 for the most recently completed
finan€y ear, describe under the caption "Report on Executive Compensation” the
peldNes of the compensation committee or other board committee performing equivalent
fORetions, or in the absence of any such committee then of the entire board of directors
of your company, during the most recently completed financial year, for determining
compensation of executive officers. Boilerplate language should be avoided.
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9.2  This report should include a discussion of

(@) the relative emphasis of your company on cash compensation, options,
SARs, securities purchase programs, shares or units that are subject to restrictions on
resale and other incentive plans, and annual versus long-term compensation;

(b)  whether the amount and terms of outstanding options, SARs, shares and
units subject to restrictions on resale were taken into account when deter ﬁbg

whether and how many new option grants would be made; Q

(c) the specific relationship of your company's performance dBexecutlve
compensation, and, in particular, describing each measure of yod“~company's
performance, whether quantitative or qualitative, on which executive pensation was

based and the weight assigned to each measure, e.g. percentage @es; and

(d) the waiver or adjustment of the relevant perféMypance criteria and the
bases for the decision if an award was made to a NEO und erformance-based plan
despite failure to meet the relevant performance crit For example, you should
explain how bonuses are earned and why they were @d this period, if applicable.

9.3 The report should state the foIIowwqﬁformatlon about each CEO's

compensation:

(@) the bases for the CEO's nsatlon for the most recently completed
financial year, including the factor riteria upon which the CEO's compensation

was based and the relative welght ed to each factor;
(b) the competitive S, |f compensation of the CEO was based on
assessments of competitiv , with whom the comparison was made, the nature of,

and the basis for, selectingt group with which the comparison was made and at what
level in the group tbd mpensation was placed. Disclose if different competitive
standards were us ifferent components of the CEQO's compensation; and

(© elatlonshlp of your company's performance to the CEO's
compensati the most recently completed financial year, describing each measure
of your ¢ y's performance, whether quantitative or qualitative, on which the CEO's

compe@' n was based and the weight assigned to each measure, for example,
perc e ranges

9 Name each member of your company's compensation committee (or other board
committee performing equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such committee,
the entire board of directors). If the board of directors modified or rejected in any
material way any action or recommendation by the committee with respect to decisions
in the most recently completed financial year, the report should indicate this fact, explain
the reasons for the board's action and include the names of all of the members of the
board.
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9.5 If a compensation committee member dissents concerning the content of the
report, the report must identify the dissenting member and the reasons provided to the
committee for the dissent.

9.6 Disclosure of target levels with respect to specific quantitative or qualitative
performance-related factors considered by the committee (or board), or any factorsg or
criteria involving confidential information is not required. N

9.7 If compensation of executive officers is determined by differeﬁl,%oard
committees, a joint report may be presented indicating the separate mittee's
responsibilities and members of each committee or alternatively separaf\rports may
be prepared for each committee.

Item 10 Performance Graph &

10.1 If any compensation is reported in response to Item&QG for the most recently
completed financial year, immediately after Item 9 Q;jovide a line graph called
"Performance Graph" comparing Q’\

(@) the yearly percentage change jn :Jﬁur company's cumulative total
shareholder return on each class or series ofxq ity securities that are publicly traded,
as measured in accordance with section 1%Wi h

Z01‘ a broad equity market index assuming
reinvestment of dividends, that in issuers whose securities are traded on the
same exchange or are of co le market capitalization, provided that, if your

company is within the S&P/T omposite Index, you must use the total return index
value of the S&P/TSX Com Index.

(b)  the cumulative total reg

10.2 The yearly per ge change in your company's cumulative total shareholder
return on a class or of securities must be measured by dividing

(@) t@gm of

Qﬁ the cumulative amount of dividends for the measurement period,
assumi ividend reinvestment, and

@ (i) the difference between the price for the securities of the class or
s&es at the end and the beginning of the measurement period, by

(b) the price for the securities of the class or series at the beginning of the
measurement period.

At the measurement point, which is the beginning of the measurement period,
the closing price must be converted into a fixed investment of $100 in your company's
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securities (or in the securities represented by a given index), with cumulative returns for
each subsequent financial year measured as a change from that investment.

10.3 In preparing the required graphic comparisons,

(@) use, to the extent feasible, comparable methods of presentation and
assumptions for the total return calculations, provided that, if your company constructs
its own peer group index under section 10.5(b), the same methodology must be u in
calculating both your company's total return and that of the peer group index; Q

(b) assume the reinvestment of dividends into additional smies of the
same class or series at the frequency with which dividends are paid 0 securities
during the applicable financial year; and

(c) each financial year should be plotted with points @lng the cumulative
total return as of that point. The value of the investment as ach point plotted on a
given return line is the number of securities held at that p& multiplied by the then-

prevailing security price. '\03

10.4 You must present information for your comp last 5 most recently completed
financial years, and may choose to graph a lo erﬂkeriod but the $100 measurement
point remains the same. A period shorter than s may be used if the class or series
of securities forming the basis for the comwson has been publicly traded for a shorter

time period. Q.
u

10.5 You also may elect to incl the graph a line charting the cumulative total
return, assuming reinvestment o rdends, of

(@ a published irébfy or line-of-business index which is any index that is
prepared by a party otheqtian your company or its affiliate and is accessible to your
company's securityhg , provided that, you may use an index prepared by your
company or its affili uch index is widely recognized and used,

(b) gssuer(s) selected in good faith. If you do not select your company's
peer issuer n industry or line-of-business basis, you must disclose the basis for
your sele Jor

{49 issuer(s) with similar market capitalization(s), but only if you do not use a
pwished industry or line-of-business index and do not believe you can reasonably
idRNtify a peer group. If you use this alternative, the graph must be accompanied by a
statement of the reasons for this selection.

10.6 If you use peer issuer comparisons or comparisons with issuers with similar

market capitalizations, the identity of those issuers must be disclosed and the returns of
each component issuer of the group must be weighted according to the respective
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issuer's market capitalization at the beginning of each period for which a return is
indicated.

10.7 Any election to use an additional index under section 10.5 is considered to apply
in respect of all subsequent financial years unless abandoned by your company in
accordance with this section. To abandon the index, your company must have, in the
information circular or AIF for the financial year immediately preceding the most recently
completed financial year N

(@) stated its intention to abandon the index; (19

N

(© compared your company's total return with that o@elected additional

(b) explained the reason(s) for this change; and

index.

10.8 You may include comparisons using performance r?ﬁggjres in addition to total
return, such as return on average common sharehql®s' equity, so long as your
company's compensation committee (or other boar mittee performing equivalent
functions or in the absence of any such commi the entire board of directors)
describes the link between that measure and the;{e\.{ of executive compensation in the
report required by Item 9. r\

Item 11 Compensation of Directo@
11.1 Disclose the following under tReyCompensation of Directors" heading:

(@) any standard c%@ansation arrangements, stating amounts, earned by
directors of your company eir services as directors from your company and its
subsidiaries during the mestyecently completed financial year, including any additional
amounts payable for cﬁtee participation or special assignments;

(b) anyﬁe'r arrangements, stating the amounts paid and the name of the
director, unde \}ch directors were compensated for their services as directors from
your comp d its subsidiaries during the most recently completed financial year;

and Q_

any other arrangements, stating the amounts paid and the name of the
d@o , under which directors of your company were compensated for services as
cOsultants or experts, by your company and its subsidiaries during the most recently
completed financial year.

11.2 If information required by section 11.1 is provided in response to another item of
this Form, a cross-reference to where the information is provided satisfies section 11.1.
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Item 12 Unincorporated Issuers
12.1 Unincorporated issuers must report

(@) a description of and amount of fees or other compensation paid by the
issuer to individuals acting as directors or trustees of the issuer for the most recently

completed financial year; and N

(b) a description of and amount of expenses reimbursed by the issu such
individuals as directors or trustees during the most recently completed finamBaL year.

12.2 The information required by this Item may be disclosed in thé\issuer's annual
financial statements instead. § ?~

ltem 13 Venture Issuers &O
venture issuer must, in a narrative that accompanie able required in section 4.1,

disclose which grants of options or SARSs result from‘l/ ricing and explain in reasonable
detail the basis for the repricing.

13.1 A venture issuer may omit the disclosure requirz ltems 5, 6, 8, 9 and 10. A

Item 14 Issuers Reporting in the Unjlkd tates

14.1 Except as provided in section ZSEC issuers may satisfy the requirements of
this Form by providing the informajj quired by Item 402 "Executive Compensation”
of Regulation S-K under the 193 Qf

14.2 Section 14.1 is not?;%ﬂable to an issuer that, as a foreign private issuer,
satisfies Item 402 of Reg§laton S-K by providing the information required by Items 6.B
"Compensation” and NN 'Share Ownership” of Form 20-F under the 1934 Act.

M.O. 2005-03, F&-lOZFG; M.O. 2006-04, s. 43; M.O. 2008-18, s. 11 and 13.
&

((O%

N\
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FORM 51-102F6 STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION (in respect of
financial years ending on or after December 31, 2008)

ITEM 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
1.1  Objective

All direct and indirect compensation provided to certain executive offlcery\
directors for, or in connection with, services they have provided to the comp
subsidiary of the company must be disclosed in this form.

The objective of this disclosure is to communicate the conﬁg?sation the
company paid, made payable, awarded, granted, gave or otherwis ovided to each
NEO and director for the financial year, and the decision-makin cess relating to
compensation. This disclosure will provide insight into executive &pensation as a key
aspect of the overall stewardship and governance of th mpany and will help
investors understand how decisions about executive comp on are made.

A company’s executive compensation disclosu NXider this form must satisfy this
objective and subsections 9.3.1(1) or 11.6(1) of the R%.ﬂation.

)

1.2 Definitions N

If a term is used in this form 4is not defined in this section, refer to
subsection 1.1(1) of the Regulation Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions
(chapter V-1.1, r. 3). 0

In this form, Q~
(Sd‘o

"CEQ" means an i ual who acted as chief executive officer of the company,
or acted in a S|m|Iar c y, for any part of the most recently completed financial
year,

"CFO' gs an individual who acted as chief financial officer of the company,
or acted in acg‘éfar capacity, for any part of the most recently completed financial year;

f g’ng market price” means the price at which the company’s security was last
sold,@ e applicable date,
N\ (@) in the security’s principal marketplace in Canada, or

(b) if the security is not listed or quoted on a marketplace in Canada, in the
security’s principal marketplace;

"company" includes other types of business organizations such as partnerships,
trusts and other unincorporated business entities;

179



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM FEBRUARY 11, 2013 TO MAY 13, 2013

"equity incentive plan” means an incentive plan, or portion of an incentive plan,
under which awards are granted and that falls within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based
Payment;

"external management company" includes a subsidiary, affiliate or associate of
the external management company;

"grant date” means a date determined for financial statement reporting @ses
under IFRS 2 Share-based Payment; pl,

M)
"Incentive plan” means any plan providing compensation thal\?ﬂ'apends on
achieving certain performance goals, or similar conditions within a speeXied period;

"incentive plan award" means compensation awarded, e , paid, or payable
under an incentive plan; O

"NEQO" or "named executive officer" means each of'fbe following individuals:
(a) a CEO; (19

)

(b) aCFO; N

(© each of the 3 most highly %nsated executive officers of the company,
including any of its subsidiaries, or thg ost highly compensated individuals acting in

a similar capacity, other than the and CFO, at the end of the most recently
completed financial year who tal compensation was, individually, more than
$150,000, as determined in ance with subsection 1.3(6), for that financial year;

and Q

(d) each in@ who would be an NEO under paragraph (c) but for the fact
that the individual either an executive officer of the company or its subsidiaries,
nor acting in a si&apacity, at the end of that financial year;

"non-@ﬁ({/ incentive plan" means an incentive plan or portion of an incentive
plan thatQJ, an equity incentive plan;

% tion-based award" means an award under an equity incentive plan of options,
ig$i g, for greater certainty, share options, share appreciation rights, and similar
iNs¥uments that have option-like features;

"plan” includes any plan, contract, authorization, or arrangement, whether or not

set out in any formal document, where cash, securities, similar instruments or any other
property may be received, whether for one or more persons;
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"replacement grant” means an option that a reasonable person would consider to
be granted in relation to a prior or potential cancellation of an option;

"repricing” means, in relation to an option, adjusting or amending the exercise or
base price of the option, but excludes any adjustment or amendment that equally affects
all holders of the class of securities underlying the option and occurs through the
operation of a formula or mechanism in, or applicable to, the option;

>

"share-based award" means an award under an equity incentive plan o '\lity-
based instruments that do not have option-like features, including, for greater‘&iinty
common shares, restricted shares, restricted share units, deferred share umﬁ,,phantom
shares, phantom share units, common share equivalent units and stock.

1.3 Preparing the form §?~

(1)  All compensation to be included &O

(@) When completing this form, the company @t disclose all compensation
paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or otherwiseﬁl@nded, directly or indirectly, by
the company, or a subsidiary of the company, ch NEO and director, in any
capacity, including, for greater certainty, all plan@d on-plan compensation, direct and
indirect pay, remuneration, economic or fi il award, reward, benefit, gift or
perquisite paid, payable awarded, granted ven or otherwise provided to the NEO or
director for services provided and for send@gs'to be provided, directly or indirectly, to the
company or a subsidiary of the comp r%

(b) Despite paragrap Qﬁrm respect of the Canada Pension Plan, similar
government plans, and grou@ ealth, hospitalization, medical reimbursement and
relocation plans that do no iminate in scope, terms or operation and are generally
available to all salaried ployees, the company is not required to disclose as
compensation O§

0] % ny contributions or premiums paid or payable by the company on
behalf of an N r of a director, under these plans, and

any cash, securities, similar instruments or any other property
recelve an NEO or by a director, under these plans.

c) For greater certainty, the plans described in paragraph (b) include plans
) provide for such benefits after retirement.

(d) If an item of compensation is not specifically mentioned or described in

this form, it is to be disclosed in column (h) ("All other compensation™) of the summary
compensation table in section 3.1.
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(2) Departures from format

(@  Although the required disclosure must be made in accordance with this
form, the disclosure may

(1) omit a table, column of a table, or other prescribed information, if it
does not apply, and
N

(i) add a table, column, or other information if Q
(A)  necessary to satisfy the objective in section 1.1,@3d

(B) to a reasonable person, the table, G&Jmn, or other
information does not detract from the prescribed informati ?m the summary
compensation table in section 3.1. &

(b) Despite paragraph (a), a company must not a&@column in the summary
compensation table in section 3.1. '\03

3) Information for full financial year (19

If an NEO acted in that capacity for the &)’?ﬁﬁany during part of the financial year
for which disclosure is required in the sumyhary compensation table, provide details of
all of the compensation that the NEO re from the company for that financial year.
This includes compensation the NE g‘id in any other position with the company
during the financial year. &

Do not annualize com@tion in a table for any part of a year when an NEO
was not in the service of th pany. Annualized compensation may be disclosed in a

footnote. ;
(4) External ma@ment companies
g

(@) or more individuals acting as an NEO of the company are not
employees company, disclose the names of those individuals.

If an external management company employs or retains one or more
mdw% S acting as NEOs or directors of the company and the company has entered
@a understanding, arrangement or agreement with the external management

pany to provide executive management services to the company directly or
indirectly, disclose any compensation that:

0] the company paid directly to an individual employed, or retained by

the external management company, who is acting as an NEO or director of the
company;
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and

(i) the external management company paid to the individual that is
attributable to the services they provided to the company directly or indirectly.

(c) If an external management company provides the company’s executive
management services and also provides executive management services to another
company, disclose the entire compensation the external management company p r(bo
the individual acting as an NEO or director, or acting in a similar capacity, in coq ion
with services the external management company provided to the compa r the
parent or a subsidiary of the company. If the management company cates the
compensation paid to an NEO or director, disclose the basis or metho®ogy used to
allocate this compensation.

Commentary &

An NEO may be employed by an external manageﬁgq company and provide
services to the company under an understanding, arr ment or agreement. In this
case, references in this form to the CEO or CFO areébrences to the individuals who
performed similar functions to that of the CEO or They are generally the same
individuals who signed and filed annual an%| rim certificates to comply with
Regulation 52-109 respecting Certification of osure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim
Filings (chapter V-1.1, r. 27). 4

(5) Director and NEO compensa |?~2
Disclose any compensat&warded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to each

director and NEO, in any % with respect to the company. Compensation to
directors and NEOs musQ ude all compensation from the company and its

subsidiaries. s

Disclose an pensation awarded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to, an
NEO, or director ny capacity with respect to the company, by another person or

company Q/
(6) D@Qming if an individual is an NEO

{gg the purpose of calculating total compensation awarded to, earned by, paid to,
o@ ble to an individual under paragraph (c) of the definition of NEO,

@) use the total compensation that would be reported under column (i) of the
summary compensation table required by section 3.1 for each executive officer, as if
that executive officer were an NEO for the company’s most recently completed financial
year, and

(b) exclude from the calculation,

183



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM FEBRUARY 11, 2013 TO MAY 13, 2013

(1) any compensation that would be reported under column (g) of the
summary compensation table required by section 3.1,

(i) any incremental payments, payables, and benefits to an executive
officer that are triggered by, or result from, a scenario listed in section 6.1 that occurred
during the most recently completed financial year, and

(i)  any cash compensation that relates to foreign assignment %t is
specifically intended to offset the impact of a higher cost of living in the foreig ation,
and is not otherwise related to the duties the executive officer perfo'gw for the

company.
4

Commentary ?~
The $150,000 threshold in paragraph (c) of the defing of NEO only applies
when determining who is an NEO in a company’s most tly completed financial

year. If an individual is an NEO in the most recently comgMed financial year, disclosure
of compensation in prior years must be provided if otgﬁvlse required by this form even

if total compensation in a prior year is less than $15 in that year.
(7 Compensation to associates N °
Disclose any awards, earnings, ents, or payables to an associate of an

NEO, or of a director, as a result of ¢ ensation awarded to, earned by, paid to, or
payable to the NEO or the director, ! capacity with respect to the company.

(8) New reporting issuer%g)

(a) Disclose inf tion in the summary compensation table for the 3 most
recently completed fin@years since the company became a reporting issuer.

(b) De%ﬁaragraph (a), do not provide information for a completed financial
year if the co was not a reporting issuer for any part of that financial year, unless
the compan&me a reporting issuer as a result of a restructuring transaction.

@Q‘If the company was not a reporting issuer at any time during the most
rece ompleted financial year and the company is completing the form because it is
p rng a prospectus, discuss all significant elements of the compensation to be
awarded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to NEOs of the company once it becomes a
reporting issuer, to the extent this compensation has been determined.

Commentary

1. Unless otherwise specified, information required to be disclosed under this form
may be prepared in accordance with the accounting principles the company uses to
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prepare its financial statements, as permitted by Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, r. 25).

2. The definition of "director” under securities legislation includes an individual who
acts in a capacity similar to that of a director.

(9) Currencies

the same currency that the company uses for its financial statements. A com must
use the same currency in the tables in sections 3.1, 4.1, 4.2, 5.1, 5.2 ambz,. of this

form. '\

If compensation awarded to, earned by, paid to, or payabl ?ﬁn NEO was in a
currency other than the currency reported in the prescribed tabl his form, state the
currency in which compensation was awarded, earned, paid payable, disclose the
currency exchange rate and describe the methodol sed to translate the
compensation into Canadian dollars or the currency mjt the company uses in its
financial statements.

Companies must report amounts required by this form in Canadian dc;jl[@%r in

(10) Plain language N
Information required to be disclosed_§nder this form must be clear, concise, and

presented in such a way that it providQ_a reasonable person, applying reasonable
effort, an understanding of, ?~

(@) how decisions abo and director compensation are made; and

(b) how specificé@ and director compensation relates to the overall
stewardship and govern@e f the company.

Commentary Qp

Refer t plain language principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to
Regulation -102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations
(Decisioané-PDG-OZZ& 2006-12-12) for further guidance.

O

Z\Qs Compensation discussion and analysis

ITE COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(2) Describe and explain all significant elements of compensation awarded to,
earned by, paid to, or payable to NEOs for the most recently completed financial year.
Include the following:

(@) the objectives of any compensation program or strategy;
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(b)  what the compensation program is designed to reward,;
(© each element of compensation;
(d)  why the company chooses to pay each element;

(e) how the company determines the amount (and, where applicablg\(be
formula) for each element; and Q

() how each element of compensation and the company’s deg¥)jgns about
that element fit into the company’s overall compensation objectives and &gt decisions
about other elements.

(2) If applicable, describe any new actions, decisions or po@és that were made
after the end of the most recently completed financial (Eyr that could affect a
reasonable person’s understanding of an NEO’s compensgm for the most recently
completed financial year. '\03

3) If applicable, clearly state the benchmark arq%plain its components, including
the companies included in the benchmark group@g‘ e selection criteria.

4) If applicable, disclose performance ggglls or similar conditions that are based on
objective, identifiable measures, such company’s share price or earnings per
share. If performance goals or simi nditions are subjective, the company may
describe the performance goal or siR|ld* condition without providing specific measures.

If the company disclos rformance goals or similar conditions that are non-
GAAP financial measuresﬁn ain how the company calculates these performance
goals or similar conditions{rom its financial statements.

Exemption O

The comapaMy is not required to disclose performance goals or similar conditions
in respect %ecific quantitative or qualitative performance-related factors if a
reasonabQ_g’son would consider that disclosing them would seriously prejudice the
compa@ interests.

or the purposes of this exemption, a company’s interest’s are not considered to
1\ eriously prejudiced solely by disclosing performance goals or similar conditions if
those goals or conditions are based on broad corporate-level financial performance
metrics which include earnings per share, revenue growth, and earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization.

This exemption does not apply if it has publicly disclosed the performance goals
or similar conditions.
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If the company is relying on this exemption, state this fact and explain why
disclosing the performance goals or similar conditions would seriously prejudice the
company’s interests.

If the company does not disclose specific performance goals or similar
conditions, state what percentage of the NEO’s total compensation relates to this
undisclosed information and how difficult it could be for the NEO, or how likely it ﬂ'lbe
for the company, to achieve the undisclosed performance goal or similar conditio@

(5) Disclose whether or not the board of directors, or a committee @gjthe board,
considered the implications of the risks associated with the company’s pensation
policies and practices. If the implications were considered, disclose thelfollowing:

(@) the extent and nature of the board of directors’ ov@nmittee’ role in the
risk oversight of the company’s compensation policies and pra@es;

(b) any practices the company uses to identflyand mitigate compensation
policies and practices that could encourage an NEO Ividual at a principal business
unit or division to take inappropriate or excessive ris«t}

(c) any identified risks arising from t %o"mpany’s compensation policies and
practices that are reasonably likely to have%ma erial adverse effect on the company.

(6) Disclose whether or not an N
instruments, including, for greater
swaps, collars, or units of exc
decrease in market value of
or indirectly, by the NEO or

r director is permitted to purchase financial
inty, prepaid variable forward contracts, equity
funds, that are designed to hedge or offset a
securities granted as compensation or held, directly

Commentary O®

1. The inforr@ﬁ disclosed under section 2.1 will depend on the facts. Provide
enough analygis Mo allow a reasonable person, applying reasonable effort, to
understand isclosure elsewhere in this form. Describe the significant principles
underlyin cies and explain the decisions relating to compensation provided to an
NEO. sure that merely describes the process for determining compensation or
com@ tion already awarded, earned, paid, or payable is not adequate. The
i@m tion contained in this section should give readers a sense of how compensation
isNJed to the NEO'’s performance. Avoid boilerplate language.

2. If the company’s process for determining executive compensation is very simple,
for example, the company relies solely on board discussion without any formal
objectives, criteria and analysis, then make this clear in the discussion.
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3. If the company used any benchmarking in determining compensation or any
element of compensation, include the benchmark group and describe why the
benchmark group and selection criteria are considered by the company to be relevant.

4. The following are examples of items that will usually be significant elements of
disclosure concerning compensation:

- contractual or non-contractual arrangements, plans, process chan QJJr
any other matters that might cause the amounts disclosed for the most 9%ntly
completed financial year to be misleading if used as an indicator of ‘ﬁected
compensation levels in future periods; '\(b.,

- the process for determining perquisites and personal benAﬁts;

- policies and decisions about the adjustment or@:overy of awards,
earnings, payments, or payables if the performance goal or @ilar condition on which
they are based are restated or adjusted to reduce the , earning, payment, or

payable; '\03

- the basis for selecting events that trﬂ% payment for any arrangement
that provides for payment at, following or in coq&eg‘t n with any termination or change
of control; N

% specified performance goal or similar
ing whether the waiver or change applied to
mpensation subject to the performance goal or

- any waiver or change t
condition to payout for any amount, i
one or more specified NEOs or to
similar condition; Q)

- whether the bﬁ of directors can exercise a discretion, either to award
compensation absent att nt of the relevant performance goal or similar condition or
to reduce or increasﬁiﬁ;size of any award or payout, including if they exercised
discretion and whet@~ applied to one or more named executive officers;

- eger the company will be making any significant changes to its
compensati icies and practices in the next financial year;
Oa the role of executive officers in determining executive compensation; and

- performance goals or similar conditions in respect of specific quantitative
o) alitative performance-related factors for NEOs.

5. The following are examples of situations that could potentially encourage an
executive officer to expose the company to inappropriate or excessive risks:
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- compensation policies and practices at a principal business unit of the
company or a subsidiary of the company that are structured significantly differently than
others within the company;

- compensation policies and practices for certain executive officers that are
structured significantly differently than other executive officers within the company;

- compensation policies and practices that do not include effectivg\(dbk
management and regulatory compliance as part of the performance metrics %e
determining compensation; (1,

M)
- compensation policies and practices where the compensatbqq%xpense to
executive officers is a significant percentage of the company’s revenues

- compensation policies and practices that vary signil@x; from the overall
compensation structure of the company;

- compensation policies and practices whefb incentive plan awards are
awarded upon accomplishment of a task while the rj the company from that task
extends over a significantly longer period of time; (1/

- compensation policies and pra "&"that contain performance goals or
similar conditions that are heavily Weig&:d to short-term rather than long-term
objectives; Q.

- incentive plan award ~®Y~do not provide a maximum benefit or payout
limit to executive officers. é~
The examples abov %/not exhaustive and the situations to consider will vary

depending upon the t¢ye of the company’s business and the company’s
compensation policies@)ractices.

2.2 PerformanQq‘raph

@) /5 section does not apply to

QOE () venture issuers,
ﬁ (i) companies that have distributed only debt securities or non-
cOWVertible, non-participating preferred securities to the public, and

(i)  companies that were not reporting issuers in any jurisdiction in
Canada for at least 12 calendar months before the end of their most recently completed
financial year, other than companies that became new reporting issuers as a result of a
restructuring transaction.
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(b) Provide a line graph showing the company’s cumulative total shareholder
return over the 5 most recently completed financial years. Assume that $100 was
invested on the first day of the 5-year period. If the company has been a reporting
issuer for less than 5 years, use the period that the company has been a reporting
issuer.

market index that, to a reasonable person, would be an appropriate reference poj r
the company’s return. If the company is included in the S&P/TSX Composi% tal
Return Index, use that index. In all cases, assume that dividends are reinveste

Compare this to the cumulative total return of at least one broad ezuity

M)
Discuss how the trend shown by this graph compares to tﬁ&(?end in the
company’s compensation to executive officers reported under this f over the same

period. @v

Commentary O

For section 2.2, companies may also include othelﬂjlevant performance goals or
similar conditions.

Q
2.3  Share-based and option-based awards,\fl/

Describe the process the company%ies to grant share-based or option-based
awards to executive officers. Include le of the compensation committee and
executive officers in setting or amend'ﬂg& equity incentive plan under which a share-
based or option-based award is graQtdd. State whether previous grants are taken into
account when considering new

2.4 Compensation gov&ce

(1) Describe any ies and practices adopted by the board of directors to
determine the com ion for the company’s directors and executive officers.

(2) If the C(Qﬁ%y has established a compensation committee

(a)% sclose the name of each committee member and, in respect of each
memb te whether or not the member is independent or not independent;

b)  disclose whether or not one or more of the committee members has any
t experience that is relevant to his or her responsibilities in executive
compensation;

(c) describe the skills and experience that enable the committee to make
decisions on the suitability of the company’s compensation policies and practices; and

(d) describe the responsibilities, powers and operation of the committee.
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(3) If a compensation consultant or advisor has, at any time since the company’s
most recently completed financial year, been retained to assist the board of directors or
the compensation committee in determining compensation for any of the company’s
directors or executive officers

(a) state the name of the consultant or advisor and a summary of the
mandate the consultant or advisor has been given; N

(b) disclose when the consultant or advisor was originally retained; aﬁu,Q

M)

(© if the consultant or advisor has provided any services to théggmpany, or
to its affiliated or subsidiary entities, or to any of its directors<or members of
management, other than or in addition to compensation services Q’ded for any of the
company’s directors or executive officers, %

0] state this fact and briefly describe the mﬁq@of the work,

(i) disclose whether the board of dir@!s or compensation committee
must pre-approve other services the consultant cgﬁ dvisor, or any of its affiliates,
provides to the company at the request of mana em t, and

(d) For each of the two most receil\Iy completed financial year, disclose,

0] under the capti
aggregate fees billed by each congst
related to determining compens

officers, and Q/

(i) unde&h caption "All Other Fees", the aggregate fees billed for all

xecutive Compensation-Related Fees", the
t or advisor, or any of its affiliates, for services
or any of the company’s directors and executive

other services provide ach consultant or advisor, or any of its affiliates, that are not
reported under subq~ raph (i) and include a description of the nature of the services
comprising the f Isclosed under this category.

Commentar«')@

ection 2.4, a director is independent if he or she would be independent
withi€4M® meaning of section 1.4 of Regulation 52-110 respecting Audit Committees

(@t rv-1.1,r. 28).
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ITEM 3

3.1

Summary compensation table

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Despite paragraph 1.3(8)(a), for each NEO in the most recently completed
financial year, complete this table for each of the company’s 3 most recently completed
financial years that end on or after December 31, 2008.

AD

Name and | Year | Salary Share- Option- Non-equity incentive | Pension | All other \ad
principal (b) (%) based based plan compensation ($) | value compensation(' Qﬂpensation
position ©) awards awards (f) (%) $) L@)
() (%) (%) Annual Long- @ (h) o O
(d) (e) incentive term \(b
plans incentive
(f1) plans 4
(f2) S
CEO W
_ f\§’

CFO

&U

|
y,

Commentary 0?

Under subsection (1), any is not required to disclose comparative period
disclosure in accordance wj requirements of either Form 51-102F6, which came
into force on March 30, 200€, as amended, or this form, in respect of a financial year
ending before Decemb , 2008.

(2) In column %ﬂclude the dollar value of cash and non-cash base salary an NEO
earned during ancial year covered in the table (a covered financial year). If the
company cagﬁ,calculate the amount of salary earned in a financial year, disclose this

ong with the reason why it cannot be determined. Restate the salary

in a footn
figure t Qe‘xt time the company prepares this form, and explain what portion of the
rest ure represents an amount that the company could not previously calculate.

( In column (d), disclose the dollar amount based on the fair value of the award on
the grant date for a covered financial year.

4) In column (e), disclose the dollar amount based on the fair value of the award on

the grant date for a covered financial year. Include option-based awards both with or
without tandem share appreciation rights.
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(5) For an award disclosed in column (d) or (e), in a narrative after the table,

(@) describe the methodology used to calculate the fair value of the award on
the grant date, disclose the key assumptions and estimates used for each calculation,
and explain why the company chose that methodology, and

(b) if the fair value of the award on the grant date is different from the fair
value determined in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment (accounti ir
value), state the amount of the difference and explain the reasons for the diﬁerer@.

Commentary N
N

1. This commentary applies to subsections (3), (4) and (5). A

2. The value disclosed in columns (d) and (e) of the summ&@mmpensation table

should reflect what the company paid, made payable, a\r@ied, granted, gave or
otherwise provided as compensation on the grant date (fat ue of the award) as set
out in comment 3, below. This value might differ from thébalue reported in the issuer's
financial statements. Q

3. While compensation practices vary, there are generally 2 approaches that
boards of directors use when setting compenso A board of directors may decide the
value in securities of the company tq_\be awarded or paid as compensation.
Alternatively, a board of directors may e the portion of the potential ownership of
the company to be transferred as co ation. A fair value ascribed to the award will
normally result from these approac e%

A company may calc this value either in accordance with a valuation
methodology identified in | Share-based Payment or in accordance with another
methodology set out in @ nt 5 below.

4, In some cas @e fair value of the award disclosed in columns (d) and (e) might
differ from the a@ﬁ(ing fair value. For financial statement purposes, the accounting
fair value améc&f is amortized over the service period to obtain an accounting cost

(accounting ensation expense), adjusted at year end as required.

‘Q the most commonly used methodologies for calculating the value of most
wards are the Black-Scholes-Merton model and the binomial lattice model,
ahies may choose to use another valuation methodology if it produces a more
MK ningful and reasonable estimate of fair value.

5.
type
c

6. The summary compensation table requires disclosure of an amount even if the
accounting compensation expense is zero. The amount disclosed in the table should
reflect the fair value of the award following the principles described under comments 2
and 3, above.
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7. Column (d) includes common shares, restricted shares, restricted share units,
deferred share units, phantom shares, phantom share units, common share equivalent
units, stock, and similar instruments that do not have option-like features.

(6) In column (e), include the incremental fair value if, at any time during the covered
financial year, the company has adjusted, amended, cancelled, replaced or significantly
modified the exercise price of options previously awarded to, earned by, paid to, or
payable to, an NEO. The repricing or modification date must be determin in
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment. The methodology used to calcu{e*the
incremental fair value must be the same methodology used to calculate the ini\(ﬁant.

M)
This requirement does not apply to any repricing that equally affec[’s\gR holders of
the class of securities underlying the options and that occurs thro a pre-existing

formula or mechanism in the plan or award that results in the peri djustment of the
option exercise or base price, an antidilution provision in a h or award, or a
recapitalization or similar transaction. O

(7 Include a footnote to the table quantifying the remental fair value of any
adjusted, amended, cancelled, replaced or signifiﬁhﬂy modified options that are
included in the table. (1/

(8) In column (f), include the dollar val '\)f’ all amounts earned for services
performed during the covered financial yegr that are related to awards under non-equity
incentive plans and all earnings on any s@ utstanding awards.

&oal or similar condition was satisfied during a

r a single year in a plan with a multi-year
n), report the amounts earned for that financial year,
er date. The company is not required to report these
ry compensation table when they are actually paid to an

(@) If the relevant perfor
covered financial year (includj
performance goal or similar ¢
even if they are payable aq

amounts again in the 5@

NEO.
O

(b) Inch%Qafootnote describing and quantifying all amounts earned on non-
equity incentiv&ip n compensation, whether they were paid during the financial year,

were payab deferred at the election of an NEO, or are payable by their terms at a
later dateQ_
<< Include any discretionary cash awards, earnings, payments, or payables

t@/ere not based on predetermined performance goals or similar conditions that were
cdhmunicated to an NEO. Report any performance-based plan awards that include pre-
determined performance goals or similar conditions in column (f).

(d) In column (f1), include annual non-equity incentive plan compensation,

such as bonuses and discretionary amounts. For column (fl), annual non-equity
incentive plan compensation relates only to a single financial year. In column (f2),
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include all non-equity incentive plan compensation related to a period longer than one
year.

(9) In column (g), include all compensation relating to defined benefit or defined
contribution plans. These include service costs and other compensatory items such as
plan changes and earnings that are different from the estimated earnings for defined
benefit plans and abovemarket earnings for defined contribution plans. (b

This disclosure relates to all plans that provide for the payment of pensi lan
benefits. Use the same amounts included in column (e) of the defined benefit ﬁ@table
required by Item 5 for the covered financial year and the amounts included @Gplumn (c)
of the defined contribution plan table as required by Item 5 for thei) d financial
year.

(20) In column (h), include all other compensation not reported@&ny other column of
this table. Column (h) must include, but is not limited to: &O

(@) perquisites, including property or other peagnal benefits provided to an
NEO that are not generally available to all employee M that in aggregate are worth
$50,000 or more, or are worth 10% or more of aﬁ@)’s total salary for the financial
year. Value these items on the basis of the aggregat€ incremental cost to the company
and its subsidiaries. Describe in a footnote thg ?ethodology used for computing the

aggregate incremental cost to the company.]

State the type and
exceeds 25% of the total value of
table. Provide the footnote infor,

only; Q/

(b) other post-r gment benefits such as health insurance or life insurance
after retirement; O

t of each perquisite the value of which
isites reported for an NEO in a footnote to the
von for the most recently completed financial year

(c) all ' %—ups" or other amounts reimbursed during the covered financial
year for the p t of taxes;

(d Cﬁe incremental payments, payables, and benefits to an NEO that are
trigger or result from, a scenario listed in section 6.1 that occurred before the end
of th(e ered financial year;

\é (e) the dollar value of any insurance premiums paid or payable by, or on
behalf of, the company during the covered financial year for personal insurance for an
NEO if the estate of the NEO is the beneficiary;

)] the dollar value of any dividends or other earnings paid or payable on

share-based or option-based awards that were not factored into the fair value of the
award on the grant date required to be reported in columns (d) and (e);
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(9) any compensation cost for any security that the NEO bought from the
company or its subsidiaries at a discount from the market price of the security (through
deferral of salary, bonus or otherwise). Calculate this cost at the date of purchase and in
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment; and

(h)  above-market or preferential earnings on compensation that is deferred on
a basis that is not tax exempt other than for defined contribution plans covered §
defined contribution plan table in Item 5. Above-market or preferential applies on-
registered plans and means a rate greater than the rate ordinarily paid by the‘ﬁpany
or its subsidiary on securities or other obligations having the same or S|m)51r, eatures
issued to third parties.

(1) any company contribution to a personal savings a?ilke a registered
retirement savings plan made on behalf of the NEO.

Commentary &

triggered by, or result from, a scenario described in ion 6.1 that occurred before the
end of a covered financial year for compengatioM that has been reported in the
summary compensation table for the most re)ca Iy completed financial year or for a
financial year before the most recently com,QE financial year.

1. Generally, there will be no incremental payms%{za)yables, and benefits that are

If the vesting or payout of the Yously reported compensation is accelerated,
or a performance goal or similgeacyhdition in respect of the previously reported
compensation is waived, as %mt of a scenario described in section 6.1, the
incremental payments, pay ) and benefits should include the value of the
accelerated benefit or of th per of the performance goal or similar condition.

2. Generally, an i
performance of an
do his or her job¢j

even if it also @/

If mpany concludes that an item is not integrally and directly related to
perforn'@ the job, it may still be a perquisite if the item provides an NEO with any
dire ndirect personal benefit. If it does provide a personal benefit, the item is a
p iSite, whether or not it is provided for a business reason or for the company’s
c&Venience, unless it is generally available on a non-discriminatory basis to all
employees.

not a perquisite if it is integrally and directly related to the
tive officer's duties. If something is necessary for a person to
integrally and directly related to the job and is not a perquisite,
es some amount of personal benefit.

Companies must conduct their own analysis of whether a particular item is a
perquisite. The following are examples of things that are often considered perquisites or
personal benefits. This list is not exhaustive:
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- Cars, car lease and car allowance;

- Corporate aircraft or personal travel financed by the company;

- Jewellery;
- Clothing; 0.')
i . N
Artwork; (19
- Housekeeping services; N
N
- Club membership; A

- Theatre tickets; &

- Financial assistance to provide education to cnﬁ@n of executive officers;

S
N
(19

- Personal financial or tax advice; '\ .

- Parking;

- Security at personal residencggr during personal travel; and

- Reimbursements of tax&ved with respect to perquisites or other

personal benefit. 0
(11) In column (i), includeﬁalar value of total compensation for the covered
financial year. For each NEQWiis is the sum of the amounts reported in columns (c)

through (h).

(12) Any deferre Q@ounts must be included in the appropriate column for the
covered financial In which they are earned.

(23) If an elected to exchange any compensation awarded to, earned by, paid
to, or pa o the NEO in a covered financial year under a program that allows the
NEO tg ceive awards, earnings, payments, or payables in another form, the
com tion the NEO elected to exchange must be reported as compensation in the
&m appropriate for the form of compensation exchanged: Do not report it in the form

hich it was or will be received by the NEO. State in a footnote the form of awards,
earnings, payments, or payables substituted for the compensation the NEO elected to
exchange.
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3.2 Narrative discussion

Describe and explain any significant factors necessary to understand the
information disclosed in the summary compensation table required by section 3.1.

Commentary

The significant factors described in section 3.2 will vary depending op\(be
circumstances of each award but may include: Q

- the significant terms of each NEO’s employment agse,ment or
arrangement;

or option-based award program during the most recently comple ancial year; and
- the significant terms of any award reported inﬁgummary compensation
table, including a general description of the formulaq? criterion to be applied in
determining the amounts payable and the vesting s e. For example, if dividends
will be paid on shares, state this, the applicable di d rate and whether that rate is
preferential.

N

3.3 (Repealed) 4

3.4 Officers who also act as dir§

If an NEO is also a dig who receives compensation for services as a
director, include that compen in the summary compensation table and include a
footnote explaining which a@ts relate to the director role. Do not provide disclosure
for that NEO under Item 7

ITEM 4 INCE%@ PLAN AWARDS

4.1 Outstapdinyg share-based awards and option-based awards

- any repricing or other significant changes to the terg ny share-based

)

(2) C e this table for each NEO for all awards outstanding at the end of the
most r ly completed financial year. This includes awards granted before the most
rece ompleted financial year. For all awards in this table, disclose the awards that

h@b en transferred at other than fair market value.
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Option-based Awards Share-based Awards
Name | Number of | Option Option Value of | Number | Market or | Market or
@ securities exercice | expiration | unexercised | of payout payout
underlying price date in-the- shares value of | value of
unexercised | ($) (c) (d) money or units | share- vested
options options of based share-
#) (%) shares awards based
(b) (e) that that have | awards
have not | not not (rﬁd
vested vested ou '\ or
#) %) ' uted
(f) (9)
o )
CEO NG
CFO _\\ ]
A
B \?‘
C —_

(2) In column (b), for each award, disclose the nu 6& of securities underlying
unexercised options. ,\H_])

3) In column (c), disclose the exercise or bas@lprlce for each option under each
award reported in column (b). If the option was g@nted in a different currency than that
reported in the table, include a footnote d s&ibing the currency and the exercise or
base price. i

4) In column (d), disclose the @aﬂon date for each option under each award
reported in column (b). Q’

(5) In column (e), disclos ggregate dollar amount of in-the-money unexercised
options held at the end o@w year. Calculate this amount based on the difference
between the market val f the securities underlying the instruments at the end of the
year, and the exercis@ ase price of the option.

(6) In column 4, Yisclose the total number of shares or units that have not vested.

(7 In co@l (9), disclose the aggregate market value or payout value of share-
based a that have not vested.

Qf the share-based award provides only for a single payout on vesting, calculate
Qe lue based on that payout.

If the share-based award provides for different payouts depending on the
achievement of different performance goals or similar conditions, calculate this value
based on the minimum payout. However, if the NEO achieved a performance goal or
similar condition in a financial year covered by the share-based award that on vesting
could provide for a payout greater than the minimum payout, calculate this value based
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on the payout expected as a result of the NEO achieving this performance goal or
similar condition.

(8) In column (h), disclose the aggregate market value or payout value of vested
share-based awards that have not yet been paid out or distributed.

4.2 Incentive plan awards — value vested or earned during the year

(1) Complete this table for each NEO for the most recently completed fmanm@ar

Name Option-based  awards- | Share-based awards - Value | Non-equity i rxyve plan
@ Value vested during the | vested during the year compensatlol\h Value
year ()] earned dufing the year
(%) (c) ($)
(b) @ _NX~
CEO AN
CFO '
A \V
B O |-
C N

(2) In column (b), disclose the aggregate dollar vaue that would have been realized
if the options under the option-based award IMbeen exercised on the vesting date.
Compute the dollar value that would have Reem realized by determining the difference
between the market price of the underly; ecurities at exercise and the exercise or
base price of the options under the n-based award on the vesting date. Do not
include the value of any related p, ent or other consideration provided (or to be
provided) by the company to or o If of an NEO.

3) In column (c), disclos Qf? aggregate dollar value realized upon vesting of share-
based awards. Comput & ollar value realized by multiplying the number of shares or
units by the market val the underlying shares on the vesting date. For any amount

realized upon vestin @ hich receipt has been deferred, include a footnote that states
the amount and t@ﬂ‘ﬂs of the deferral.

Narra&%,discussion

Mbe and explain the significant terms of all plan-based awards, including
non- incentive plan awards, issued or vested, or under which options have been
exexcided, during the year, or outstanding at the year end, to the extent not already
d&s%’ssed under sections 2.1, 2.3 and 3.2. The company may aggregate information for
different awards, if separate disclosure of each award is not necessary to communicate
their significant terms.

Commentary

The items included in the narrative required by section 4.3 will vary depending on
the terms of each plan, but may include:
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- the number of securities underlying each award or received on vesting or
exercise;

- general descriptions of formula or criteria that are used to determine
amounts payable; -exercise prices and expiry dates;

- dividend rates on share-based awards; ,\0,')

- whether awards are vested or unvested; (19

M)
- performance goals or similar conditions, or other significant b?n?iitions;

- information on estimated future payouts for non- quly incentive plan
awards (performance goals or similar conditions and maximum a@nts); and

- the closing market price on the grant date, if &Q(ercise or base price is
less than the closing market price of the underlying securmbon the grant date.

ITEM 5 PENSION PLAN BENEFITS (19

)

5.1 Defined benefit plans table N

(2) Complete this table for all pensio *s that provide for payments or benefits at,
following, or in connection with retiremgaéxcluding defined contribution plans. For all
disclosure in this table, use the a@ assumptions and methods used for financial
statement reporting purposes @v the accounting principles used to prepare the

company's financial statem as permitted by Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Prih& and Auditing Standards.

Number | Annu S‘ Opening Compensatory | Non- Closing present
of years | be present change compensatory | value of defined
credited e ($) | value of | (%) change benefit
Name | service defined (e) ()] obligation
(@) #) /A At benefit Q) $)
(b) Q year |age | obligation (9)
Q_ end 65 %)
) (2 [(d)
CEQ/Z,
CRQO N
B\‘
C

(2) In columns (b) and (c), the disclosure must be as of the end of the company's
most recently completed financial year. In columns (d) through (g), the disclosure must
be as of the reporting date used in the company's audited annual financial statements
for the most recently completed financial year.
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(3) In column (b), disclose the number of years of service credited to an NEO under
the plan. If the number of years of credited service in any plan is different from the
NEO's number of actual years of service with the company, include a footnote that
states the amount of the difference and any resulting benefit augmentation, such as the
number of additional years the NEO received.

4) In column (c), disclose r\(b

Q

(@) the annual lifetime benefit payable at the end of the mos(bcently
completed financial year in column (cl) based on years of credited servigg@Jaported in
column (b) and actual pensionable earnings as at the end of the MoSt recently
completed financial year. For purposes of this calculation, the com must assume
that the NEO is eligible to receive payments or benefits at year en

(b) the annual lifetime benefit payable at age 65 olumn (c2) based on
years of credited service as of age 65 and actual pensiona arnings through the end
of the most recently completed financial year, as per columj (cl).

Commentary (19

M)
For purposes of quantifying the annu Im&%me benefit payable at the end of the
most recently completed financial year i ciumn (c1), the company may calculate the
annual lifetime benefit payable as foIIov$§ =

annual benefits payable at the pr ed X years of credited service at year end
retirement age used to c e the years of credited service at the
closing present value of defined presumed retirement age
benefit obligation @

The comp an calculate the annual lifetime benefit payable in accordance
with another forix@ila if the company reasonably believes that it produces a more
meaningful c tion of the annual lifetime benefit payable at year end.

(5) Iﬁmmn (d), disclose the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the
start most recently completed financial year.

( In column (e), disclose the compensatory change in the present value of the
detined benefit obligation for the most recently completed financial year. This includes
service cost net of employee contributions plus plan changes and differences between
actual and estimated earnings, and any additional changes that have retroactive impact,
including, for greater certainty, a change in valuation assumptions as a consequence of
an amendment to benefit terms.
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Disclose the valuation method and all significant assumptions the company
applied in quantifying the closing present value of the defined benefit obligation. The
company may satisfy all or part of this disclosure by referring to the disclosure of
assumptions in its financial statements, footnotes to the financial statements or
discussion in its management's discussion and analysis.

(7 In column (f), disclose the non-compensatory changes in the present value of the

defined benefit obligation for the company's most recently completed financial r.
Include all items that are not compensatory, such as changes in assumptions ot an
those already included in column (e) because they were made as a consequ of an

amendment to benefit terms, employee contributions and interest on the sent value
of the defined benefit obligation at the start of the most recently com@ted financial
year.

(8) In column (g), disclose the present value of the defined t@x:obligation at the
end of the most recently completed financial year. &O

5.2 Defined contribution plans table '\03

(2) Complete this table for all pension plans thatttkglide for payments or benefits at,
following or in connection with retirement, ex&lggi g defined benefit plans. For all
disclosure in this table, use the same assumptons and methods used for financial
statement reporting purposes under the _dccounting principles used to prepare the

company’s financial statements, as itted by Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and fting Standards.
AN\

Name Accumulated val Compensatory Accumulated value at year
@ start of year (%) end

© & |© ©

) < (A

RN

CEO P\
CFO A\
A P
B , S
C X,

pref | earnings credited on employer and employee contributions. Above-market
or %{e rential earnings applies to non-registered plans and means a rate greater than

\U
(2) IF;QEIumn (c), disclose the employer contribution and above-market or
t ate ordinarily paid by the company or its subsidiary on securities or other
obligations having the same or similar features issued to third parties.
3) (Paragraph repealed)

4) In column (d), disclose the accumulated value at the end of the most recently
completed financial year.
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Commentary

1. For pension plans that provide the maximum of: (i) the value of a defined benefit
pension; and (ii) the accumulated value of a defined contribution pension, companies
should disclose the global value of the pension plan in the defined benefit plans table
under section 5.1.

For pension plans that provide the sum of a defined benefit component i\e a
defined contribution component, companies should disclose the respective com nts
of the pension plan. The defined benefit component should be disclosed in tl—ﬂ%nfined
benefit plans table under section 5.1 and the defined contribution compone‘B should be

disclosed in the defined contribution plans table under section 5.2. N
2. Any contributions by the company or a subsidiary of the ¢ ny to a personal
savings plan like a registered retirement savings plan made on f of the NEO must

still be disclosed in column (h) of the summary compensa@ table, as required by

paragraph 3.1(10)(i).
5.3 Narrative discussion Q’\‘b

Describe and explain for each retirement ;{a:r:lm which an NEO participates, any
significant factors necessary to understand fRe Ynformation disclosed in the defined
benefit plan table in section 5.1 and the deﬁ&d contribution plan table in section 5.2.

Commentary ?g~

Significant factors descritagnthe narrative required by section 5.3 will vary, but

may include: Q/
nific t%

- the sig rms and conditions of payments and benefits available
under the plan, inch@the plan’s normal and early retirement payment, benefit
formula, contributi rmula, calculation of interest credited under the defined
contribution pIanQ eligibility standards;

- isions for early retirement, if applicable, including the name of the
NEO an plan, the early retirement payment and benefit formula and eligibility
standar@ Early retirement means retirement before the normal retirement age as
definQ the plan or otherwise available under the plan;

\é - the specific elements of compensation (e.g., salary, bonus) included in
applying the payment and benefit formula. If a company provides this information,
identify each element separately; and

- company policies on topics such as granting extra years of credited

service, including an explanation of who these arrangements relate to and why they are
considered appropriate.
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5.4 Deferred compensation plans

Describe the significant terms of any deferred compensation plan relating to each
NEO, including:

(@) the types of compensation that can be deferred and any limitations on_the
extent to which deferral is permitted (by percentage of compensation or otherwise)',\(b

(b) significant terms of payouts, withdrawals and other distributions; ﬁ?

4
(© measures for calculating interest or other earnings, how alﬁf.?/hen these

measures may be changed, and whether an NEO or the com chose these
measures. Quantify these measures wherever possible. ?~
ITEM 6 TERMINATION AND CHANGE OF CONTROL ?ITS

6.1 Termination and change of control benefits 03

(2) For each contract, agreement, plan or arrangﬁnt that provides for payments to
an NEO at, following or in connection withy any” termination (whether voluntary,
involuntary or constructive), resignation, retire '}t a change in control of the company
or a change in an NEO'’s responsibilitles,_gescnbe explain, and where appropriate,

quantify the following items: Q.

(@) the circumstances th er payments or the provision of other benefits,
including perquisites and pensio ém benefits;

(b) the estimatedQ%(emental payments, payables, and benefits that are
triggered by, or result frgqm» each circumstance, including timing, duration and who
provides the paymenttﬁeneﬁts;

(c) VQ payment and benefit levels are determined under the various
cwcumstances@/ trigger payments or provision of benefits;

or ben » This includes but is not limited to, non-compete, non-solicitation, non-
disp ment or confidentiality agreements. Include the term of these agreements and
pn\@i ns for waiver or breach; and

(?ﬁ_ﬂw significant conditions or obligations that apply to receiving payments

(e) any other significant factors for each written contract, agreement, plan or
arrangement.

(2) Disclose the estimated incremental payments, payables, and benefits even if it is

uncertain what amounts might be paid in given circumstances under the various plans
and arrangements, assuming that the triggering event took place on the last business
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day of the company’s most recently completed financial year. For valuing share-based
awards or option-based awards, use the closing market price of the company’s
securities on that date.

If the company is unsure about the provision or amount of payments or benefits,
make a reasonable estimate (or a reasonable estimate of the range of amounts) and
disclose the significant assumptions underlying these estimates. (b

(3) Despite subsection (1), the company is not required to disclose the followi

@) Perquisites and other personal benefits if the aggregyte, of this
compensation is less than $50,000. State the individual perquisites personal
benefits as required by paragraph 3.1(10)(a).

(b) Information about possible termination scenario@r an NEO whose
employment terminated in the past year. The compan @Jst only disclose the
consequences of the actual termination. '{

(c) Information in respect of a scenario desﬁggin subsection (1) if there will
be no incremental payments, payables, and benem[/ hat are triggered by, or result
from, that scenario. N

N

Commentary 4

1. Subsection (1) does not requi company to disclose notice of termination
without cause, or compensation NI thereof, which are implied as a term of an
employment contract under com w or civil law.

2. Item 6 applies to ch of control regardless of whether the change of control

results in termination of e yment.

triggered by, or t from, a scenario described in subsection (1) for compensation
that has bee% orted in the summary compensation table for the most recently
completed f lal year or for a financial year before the most recently completed
financial &

3. Generally, th Qill be no incremental payments, payables, and benefits that are
eg

Qe vesting or payout of the previously reported compensation is accelerated,
o@ erformance goal or similar condition in respect of the previously reported
cOhpensation is waived, as a result of a scenario described in subsection (1), the
incremental payments, payables, and benefits should include the value of the
accelerated benefit or of the waiver of the performance goal or similar condition.

4, A company may disclose estimated incremental payments, payables and

benefits that are triggered by, or result from, a scenario described in subsection (1), in a
tabular format.
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ITEM 7 DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
7.1 Director compensation table

(2) Complete this table for all amounts of compensation provided to the directors for
the company’s most recently completed financial year. (b

Name Fees Share- Option- Non-equity Pension | All other tal
(@ earned | based based incentive plan | value compensay?; (%)
($) awards awards compensation | (%) ($) y\ ()
(b) (%) ($) (%) () (9) \\
(c) (d) (e) ™~
A N
B e
C ANS
D a
E N2
»

(2)  All forms of compensation must be included iﬁ}hls table.

M)
3) Complete each column in the manner féquired for the corresponding column in
the summary compensation table in secti 1, in accordance with the requirements of
Item 3, as supplemented by the comm to Item 3, except as follows:

(@) In column (a), do n ?QUde a director who is also an NEO if his or her
compensation for service as a tor is fully reflected in the summary compensation
table and elsewhere in thi m. If an NEO is also a director who receives
compensation for his or heNgelvices as a director, reflect the director compensation in
the summary compensafi(\\» table required by section 3.1 and provide a footnote to this
table indicating that t evant disclosure has been provided under section 3.4.

(b) In QJ n (b), include all fees awarded, earned, paid, or payable in cash
for services a@iirector, including annual retainer fees, committee, chair, and meeting
fees.

@ In column (g), include all compensation paid, payable, awarded, granted,
given\or otherwise provided, directly or indirectly, by the company, or a subsidiary of
tlx mpany, to a director in any capacity, under any other arrangement. This includes,
for® greater certainty, all plan and non-plan compensation, direct and indirect pay,
remuneration, economic or financial award, reward, benefit, gift or perquisite paid,
payable awarded, granted, given, or otherwise provided to the director for services
provided, directly or indirectly, to the company or a subsidiary of the company. In a
footnote to the table, disclose these amounts and describe the nature of the services
provided by the director that are associated with these amounts.
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(d) In column (g), include programs where the company agrees to make
donations to one or more charitable institutions in a director's name, payable currently
or upon a designated event such as the retirement or death of the director. Include a
footnote to the table disclosing the total dollar amount payable under the program.

7.2 Narrative discussion

Describe and explain any factors necessary to understand the di;{&mr
compensation disclosed in section 7.1. (19

Commentary (b.,
N

Significant factors described in the narrative required by section.\Z.Z will vary, but
may include:

- disclosure for each director who served in that c@cny for any part of the
most recently completed financial year;

- standard compensation arrangemen '\?'L?ch as fees for retainer,
committee service, service as chair of the bo r a committee, and meeting
attendance; N

- any compensation arrangemgits for a director that are different from the
standard arrangements, including the rQn,e of the director and a description of the
terms of the arrangement; and ?~

- any matters discu tn the compensation discussion and analysis that
do not apply to directors in th e way that they apply to NEOs such as practices for
granting option-based awarQ

7.3  Share-based @s, option-based awards and non-equity incentive plan

compensation Q’

Provideshesame disclosure for directors that is required under Item 4 for NEOs.
ITEM 8 Q_QOMPANIES REPORTING IN THE UNITED STATES

8.1 ngpanies reporting in the United States

(Is;s SEC issuers may satisfy the requirements of this form by providing the
information required by Item 402 "Executive compensation” of Regulation S-K under
the 1934 Act.

(2)  Subsection (1) does not apply to a company that, as a foreign private issuer,

satisfies Item 402 of Regulation S-K by providing the information required by Iltems 6.B
"Compensation" and 6.E.2 "Share Ownership" of Form 20-F under the 1934 Act.
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ITEM 9 EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION
9.1 Effective date
(1) This form comes into force on December 31, 2008.

(2) This form applies to a company in respect of a financial year ending on or,\ﬁbar
December 31, 2008. (19

9.2  Transition N
N

Q) Form 51-102F6, which came into force on March 30, 2004, as a-:‘{ended,

(@) does not apply to a company in respect of a finar@ year ending on or
after December 31, 2008, and

(b) for greater certainty, applies to a company\@t is required to prepare and
file executive compensation disclosure because Q

0] the company is sending an 'nngﬁ]ation circular to a securityholder
under paragraph 9.1(2)(a) of Regulation 5 respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24), the ipkrmation circular includes the disclosure
required by Item 8 of Form 51-102F5, Qd, he information circular is in respect of a
financial year ending before Decemb r@. 2008, or

(i) the compan Qﬁ-hng an AlF that includes the disclosure required by
Item 8 of Form 51-102F5, in wame with Item 18 of Form 51-102F2, and the AIF is
in respect of a financial yeaQ ng before December 31, 2008.

(2) A company t)& required to prepare and file executive compensation
disclosure for a re set out in paragraph (1)(b) may satisfy that requirement by
preparing and fili e disclosure required by this form.

s
M.O. 2008-@?12; Erratum, 2009, G.O. 2, 55; M.O. 2010-17, s. 32; M.O. 2011-05,

s.3.Q Q_
\J
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TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS
M.O. 2010-17, 2010 G.O. 2, 3918

35. This Regulation only applies to documents required to be prepared, filed,
delivered or sent under Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations for periods relating to financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.

However, an issuer may apply the amendments set out in this Regulation thll
documents required to be prepared, filed, delivered or sent under Regulation%l- 02
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations for periods relating to a financia r that
begins before January 1, 2011 if the immediately preceding financial r,ends no
earlier than December 21, 2010 and if the issuer is relying on theNeXemption in
section 5.3 of Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable Accounti Principles and

Auditing Standards. §?~

TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS 0
M.O. 2011-05. 2011 G.O. 2, 3006 Q’\

4. This Regulation only applies to docunﬁng/required to be prepared, filed,
delivered or sent under Regulation 51- respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations for periods relating to financial wrs ending on or after October 31, 2011.

Q&
\)?“
TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS Q‘

M.O. 2012-05, 2011 G.O. 2, 1@

5. The effect of this Regtlation applies only to documents required to be prepared,
filed, delivered or se der Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations for pt@‘ lating to a financial year ending on or after April 20, 2012; for

documents requi 0 be prepared, filed, delivered or sent under that Regulation for
periods relating toMa financial year ending before April 20, 2012, the provisions of that
Regulation i&(e on April 19, 2012 apply.

('\E
Q\J
@SITIONAL PROVISIONS
M.O. 2013-01, 2013 G.O. 2, 248

8. Despite section 9.1.1 of the Regulation, as enacted by section 5, a person must
not use notice-and-access to send proxy-related materials to a registered holder of
voting securities of a reporting issuer in respect of a meeting of the reporting issuer that
takes place before March 1, 2013.
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9. A reporting issuer must not rely on section 9.1.5 of the Regulation, as enacted by
section 5, in respect of a meeting that takes place before February 15, 2013.

Decision 2005-PDG-0113, 2005-05-09

Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2005-06-03, Vol. 2 n°® 22 ,\(b
M.O. 2005-03, 2005 G.O. 2, 1507 Q
Erratum: 2005 G.O. 2, 3727

Amendments

Decision 2005-PDG-0360, 2005-11-15 \e
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2005-12-16, Vol. 2 n° 50 @
M.O. 2005-25, 2005 G.O. 2, 5221 &O
Decision 2006-PDG-0218, 2006-12-12 2

Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2007-01-05, Vol. 4 n° 1 Q’\

M.O. 2006-04, 2006 G.O. 2, 4125

Decision 2007-PDG-0208, 2007-11-30 r\'\ °
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2008-01-11, Vol. 5 n°4
M.O. 2007-08, 2007 G.O. 2, 4091 Q,

Decision 2008-PDG-0058, 2008-02:22)
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2008-03-14 *5n° 10

M.O. 2008-06, 2008 G.O. 2, 7@

Decision 2008-PDG-0158 8-06-10
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 7-04, Vol. 5 n°® 26
M.O. 2008-10, 200 .2, 2569

Decision 2008,,D&-0260, 2008-11-17
Bulletin de I ité: 2008-12-12 Vol. 5 n ° 49
M.O. 200 -2008 G.O. 2, 5482

Deci% 008-PDG-0255, 2008-11-20
Wi de I'Autorité: 2008-12-19, Vol. 5 n ° 50
. 2008-18, 2008 G.O. 2, 5493 Erratum: 2009 G.O. 2, 55

Decision 2009-PDG-0118, 2009-09-04

Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2009-09-25, Vol. 6 n ° 38
M.O. 2009-05, 2009 G.O. 2, 3362A

211



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM FEBRUARY 11, 2013 TO MAY 13, 2013

Decision 2010-PDG-0216, 2010-11-22
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2010-12-17, Vol. 7 n° 50
M.O. 2010-17, 2010 G.0O. 2, 3918

Decision 2011-PDG-0070, 2011-05-30
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2011-07-01, Vol. 8 n° 26
A.M. 2011-02, 2011 G.O. 2, 1418

Decision 2011-PDG-0145, 2011-09-20
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2011-10-28, Vol. 8 n° 43
A.M. 2011-05, 2011 G.O. 2, 3006

Decision 2012-PDG-0037 — 2012-03-01
Bulletin de I’'Autorité : 2012-04-20, Vol. 9 n° 16
M.O. 2012-05, 2012 G.0. 2, 1171

Decision 2013-PDG-0234 — 2012-12-20
Bulletin de I’'Autorité : 2013-02-07, Vol. 10 n° 5
M.O. 2013-01, 2013 G.0O. 2, 248
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